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400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 362-7800

Facsimile: (702) 362-9472

E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com
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MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice Pending
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Telephone:  (602) 553-4552

Facsimile: (602) 553-4557

E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* % %

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA CASENO, A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA

LATRENTA, individually, I

DEPTNO. XXIITI

Plaintiffs, i
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES

Vs. I
1. Abuse/Neglect of an Older

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL I Person

INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER Wrongful Death by Estate

OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE I Wrongful Death by Individual
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH Bad Faith Tort

LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO,
Administrator; CARL WAGNER,

BN

Administrator; and DOES 1-50, inclusive, Y
_ Defendants. J

Plaintiffs Estate of Mary Curtis, deceased; Laura Latrenta, as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Mary Curtis; and Laura Latrenta, individually, by and through their attorneys of

record, Kolesar & Leatham and Wilkes & McHugh, P.A., hereby submit this Complaint against
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Defendants South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC dba Life Care Center of South Las Vegas
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley; South Las Vegas Investors Limited Partnership; Life
Care Centers of America, Inc.; Bina Hribik Portello; Carl Wagner; and Does 1 to 50, inclusive,
and allege as follows:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. Decedent Mary Curtis suffered significant physical injury while a resident at Life
Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley and ultimately a
painful death. At all times relevant she resided in the city of Las Vegas in the County of Clark,
Nevada and was an “older person” under N.R.S. § 41.1395. Ms. Curtis died on March 11, 2016
in Las Vegas, Nevada.

2. At all times material Plaintiff Laura Latrenta was a natural daughter and surviving

heir of Ms. Curtis. At all relevant times she was an individual and resident of Harrington Park,

New Jersey.

3. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times
Defendant South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC dba Life Care Center of South Las Vegas
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley was a limited liability company duly authorized,
licensed, and doing business in Clark County, Nevada and was at all relevant times in the
business of providing care to residents while subject to the requirements of federal and state law,
located at 2325 E. Harmon Ave., Las Vegas, NV 89119.

4. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times
Defendants Life Care Centers of America, Inc.; South Las Vegas Investors Limited Partnership;
South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC; and Does 1 through 25, and each of them, were and
are owners, operators, and managing agents of South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC dba
Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, such that they
controlled the budget for said Defendant which impacted resident care, collected accounts
receivable, prepared audited financial statements, contracted with various vendors for services,

and provided direct oversight for said Defendants in terms of financial and patient care

responsibility.
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S. Plaintiffs are informed aﬂd believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times
Defendants Bina Hribik Portello and Carl Wagner were and are administrators of Life Care
Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley.

6. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that Defendants Does 26
through 50 are other individuals or entities that caused or contributed to injuries suffered by Ms.
Curtis as discussed below. (Hereinafter “Defendants” refers to South Las Vegas Medical
Investors, LLC dba Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley; South Las Vegas Investors Limited Partnership; Life Care Centers of America, Inc.; Bina
Hribik Portello; Carl Wagner; and Does 1 through 50.)

7. Plaintiffs will ask leave of Court to amend this Complaint to show such true
names and capacities of Doe Defendants when the names of such defendants have been
ascertained. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that each defendant
designated herein as Doe is responsible in some manner and liable herein by reason of
negligence and other actionable conduct and by such conduct proximately caused the injuries
and damages hereinafter further alleged.

8. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times
Defendants and each of them were the agents, servants, employees, and partners of their co-
Defendants and each of them; and that they were acting within the course and scope of
employment. Each Defendant when acting as principal was negligent in the selection, hiring,
training, and supervision of each other Defendant as its agent, servant, employee, and partner.

9. Every fact, act, omission, event, and circumstance herein mentioned and
described occurred in Clark County, Nevada, and each Defendant is a resident of Clark County,
has its principal place of business in Clark County, or is legally doing business in Clark County.

10. Each Defendant, whether named or designated as Doe, was the agent, servant, or
employee of each remaining Defendant. Each Defendant acted within the course and scope of
such agency, service, or employment with the permission, consent, and ratification of each co-
Defendant in performing the acts hereinafter alleged which gave rise to Ms. Curtis’s injuries.

/11
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION — ABUSE/NEGLECT OF AN OLDER PERSON

(Abuse/Neglect of an older person by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)
11.  Plaintiffs hereby incorporate the allegations in all the foregoing paragraphs as
though set forth at length herein.

12.  Mary Curtis was born on 19 December 1926 and was therefore an “older person”

under N.R.S. § 41.1395.
13. On approximately 2 March 2016 Ms. Curtis was admitted to Life Care Center of

South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, a nursing home, for care and
supervision. Defendants voluntarily assumed responsibility for her care and to provide her food,
shelter, clothing, and services necessary to maintain her physical and mental health.

14.  Upon entering Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of
Paradise Valley Ms. Curtis’s past medical history included dementia, hypertension, COPD, and
renal insufficiency. She had been hospitalized after being found on her bathroom floor on 27
February 2016; during her hospitalization it was determined that she would not be able to return
to her previous living situation and so following her hospital course she was transferred to Life
Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley for continuing

subacute and memory care.

15. During her Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of
Paradise Valley residency Ms. Curtis was dependent on staff for her basic needs and her
activities of daily living.

16. Defendants knew that Ms. Curtis relied on them for her basic needs and that

l without assistance from them she would be susceptible to injury and death.
17. Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge of Ms. Curtis’s fall risk they permitted
her to fall (causing her injuries) shortly after she entered Life Care Center of South Las Vegas

f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley.

18.  Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that Ms. Curtis was dependent on

" them for proper medication administration, they on 7 March 2016 administered to her a dose of

morphine prescribed to another resident. Ms. Curtis was not prescribed morphine.

2301862 (9770-1) Page 4 of 8
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19.  Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that they had wrongly administered
morphine to Ms. Curtis, they failed to act timely upon that discovery, instead retaining Ms.
Curtis as a resident until 8 March 2016.

20.  Defendants eventually called 911 and emergency personnel transported Ms.
Curtis to Sunrise Hospital, where she was diagnosed with anoxic brain encephalopathy. She was
later transferred to Nathan Adelson Hospice on 11 March 2016 and died shortly thereafter.

21.  Ms. Curtis’s death certificate records that her immediate cause of death was
morphine intoxication.

22. As a result of Defendants’ failures and conscious disregard of Ms. Curtis’s life,
health, and safety, she suffered unjustified pain, injury, mental anguish, and death.

23. The actions of Defendants and each of them were abuse under N.R.S. §
41.1395(4)(a) and neglect under N.R.S. § 41.1395(4)(c).

24.  Defendants’ failures were made in conscious disregard for Ms. Curtis’s health and
safety and they acted with recklessness, oppression, fraud, or malice in commission of their
neglect or abuse of Ms. Curtis.

25.  Asadirect and legal result of Ms. Curtis’s injuries and death, her estate’s personal
representative is entitled to recover double her actual damages under N.R.S, § 41.1395.

26.  Asadirect and legal result of Ms. Curtis’s injuries and death, her estate’s personal
representative is entitled to attorney fees and costs under N.R.S. § 41.1395.

27.  Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that Ms. Curtis was dependent on
them for her basic needs and safety, they willfully and deliberately ignored and failed to avoid
the substantial risk and probability that she would suffer injury and death, so that Plaintiff is
entitled to punitive damages under N.R.S. § 42.001.

28.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendants’ willful negligence and intentional
and unjustified conduct, Ms. Curtis suffered significant injuries and death. Defendants’ conduct
was a direct consequence of the motive and plans set forth herein, and Defendants are guilty of
malice, oppression, recklessness, and fraud, justifying an award of punitive and exemplary

damages.

2301862 (9770-1) Page 5 of 8
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Wrongful Death by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)

29.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the foregoing
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

30. Defendants, their staff, and employees, in caring for Ms. Curtis, had a duty to
exercise the level of knowledge, skill, and care of those in good standing in the community.

31.  Defendants had a duty to properly train and supervise their staff and employees to
act with the level of knowledge, skill, and care of nursing homes in good standing in the
community.

32.  Defendants and their agents and employees breached their duties to Ms. Curtis
and were negligent and careless in their actions and omissions as set forth above.

33.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches Ms. Curtis died on 11
March 2016 in Las Vegas, Nevada.

34. As a direct and legal result of Ms. Curtis’s death, her estate’s personal
representative is entitled to maintain all actions on her behalf and is entitled under N.R.S. §
41.085 to recover special damages, including medical expenses incurred by Ms. Curtis before her
death, as well as funeral and burial expenses according to proof at trial.

35.  Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that Ms. Curtis was dependent on
them for her basic needs and safety, they willfully and deliberately ignored and failed to avoid
the substantial risk and probability that she would suffer injury and death, so that Plaintiff is also
entitled to punitive damages under N.R.S. § 42.001.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(Wrongful Death by Laura Latrenta individually against all Defendants)
36.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the foregoing
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.
37.  Plaintiff Laura Latrenta is a surviving daughter and natural heir of Mary Curtis.
38. Defendants, their staff, and employees, in caring for Ms. Curtis, had a duty to

exercise the level of knowledge, skill, and care of those in good standing in the community.

2301862 (9770-1) Page 6 of 8
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1 “ 39.  Defendants had a duty to properly train and supervise their staff and employees to

2 || act with the level of knowledge, skill, and care of those in good standing in the community.

3 " 40.  Defendants, and their agents and employees, breached their duties to Ms. Curtis
4 1 and were negligent and careless in their actions and omissions as set forth above.

5 | 41.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches Ms. Curtis died on 11
6 || March 2016 in Las Vegas, Nevada.

7 42. Before her death, Ms. Curtis was a faithful, loving, and dutiful mother to her
8 ” daughter Laura Latrenta.

9 43.  As a further direct and proximate result of Defendants’ negligence Plaintiff Laura

10 ” Latrenta has lost the love, companionship, comfort, affection, and society of her mother, all to
11 || her general damage in a sum to be determined according to proof.

12 44,  Under N.R.S. § 41.085 Plaintiff Laura Latrenta is entitled to recover pecuniary
13 " damages for her grief, mental anguish, sorrow, physical pain, lost moral support, lost

14 {| companionship, lost society, lost comfort, and mental and physical pain and suffering.

15 “ FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
16 (Bad Faith Tort by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)
17 45, Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the foregoing

18 u paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

19 46. A contract existed between Mary Curtis and Life Care Center of South Las Vegas

20 || f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley.

21 ” 47. The contract, like every contract, had an implied covenant of good faith and fair
22 || dealing.
23 48.  Mary Curtis’s vulnerability and dependence on Defendants created a special

24 || relationship between her and Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of
25 | Paradise Valley.
26 49,  Mary Curtis’s vulnerability and dependence on Defendants meant that she had a

27 || special reliance on Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise

28 || Valley.

2301862 (9770-1) Page 7 of 8
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50.  Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley’s

betrayal of this relationship goes beyond the bounds of ordinary liability for breach of contract

and results in tortious liability for its perfidy.

51.  Defendants’ perfidy constitutes malice, oppression, recklessness, and fraud,

justifying an award of punitive and exemplary damages.

52.  Wherefore, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against all Defendants and each of them

No R . e U V) B - A VS S A

as follows:
h A. For compensatory damages in an amount in excess of $10,000;
B. For special damages in an amount in excess of $10,000;
C. For punitive damages in an amount in excess of $10,000:
D. For reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred herein;
E. For additional damages pursuant to NRS Chapter 41;
F. For pre-judgment and post judgment interest; and
G. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper in the
premises.

DATED this %y of February, 2017.

—
Il KOLESAR & LEAT‘HAM

By %//é%)

MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
“ Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

-and-

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
Pending
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.
" 15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 362-7800

Facsimile: (702) 362-9472

E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com

.and-

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. ~ Pro Hac Vice Pending
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Telephone:  (602) 553-4552

Facsimile:  (602) 553-4557

Email: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA CASE NO. A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA DEPT NO. XXIII
LATRENTA, individually,
Plaintiffs,
Vs,
SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL

INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO,
Administrator; CARL WAGNER,
Administrator; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

SUMMONS - DEFENDANT, CARL WAGNER

NOTICE! YOU HAVE BEEN SUED, THE COURT MAY DECIDE AGAINST YOU
WITHOUT YOUR BEING HEARD UNLESS YOU RESPOND WITHIN 20 DAYS.
READ THE INFORMATION BELOW.

2308823_5 (9770-1) Page 1 of 2

APPO10




Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
TEL: (702) 362-7800 / FAX: (702) 362-9472

KOLESAR & LEATHAM
400 S. Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400

(S

(S

O o0 3 O

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

|l
4

TO THE DEFENDANT: A civil Complaint has been filed by the Plaintiff against you for the

relief set forth in the Complaint.

CARL WAGNER

1. If you intend to defend this lawsuit, within 20 days after this Summons is served
on you exclusive of the day of service, you must do the following:

a. File with the Clerk of this Court, whose address is shown below, a formal
written response to the Complaint in accordance with the rules of the Court, with the
appropriate filing fee.

b. Serve a copy of your response upon the attorney whose name and address
1s shown below.

2. Unless you respond, your default will be entered upon application of the plaintiff
and this Court may enter a judgment against you for the relief demanded in the Complaint, which
could result in the taking of money or property or other relief requested in the Complaint. |

3. This action is brought against you for abuse/neglect of an older person; wrongful
death, and bad faith tort as described in the Complaint.

4, If you intend to seek the advice of an attorney in this matter, you should do so
promptly so that your response may be filed on time.

5. The State of Nevada, its political subdivisions, agencies, officers, employees, board
members, commission members and legislators, each have 45 days after service of this summons

within which to file an answer to the Complaint.

Issued at the direction of* 'LERK OF COURT

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

/ FEB 0 6 2017
By: %// By: ' [MK'(\’
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. l)ep7uty Clerk Date
Nevada Bar No. 000878 Regional Justice CentergiMAYA LADSON
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 200 Lewis Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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Electronically Filed

03/03/2017 12:23:39 PM

S. BRENT VOGEL % i‘g"“"""

Nevada Bar No. 006858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com

AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER

Nevada Bar No. 11526
Amanda.Brookhyser(@lewisbrisbois.com
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

702.893.3383

FAX: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendants South Las Vegas
Medical Investors LLC dba Life Care Center of
South Las Vegas fka Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley, South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care
Centers of America, Inc., and Carl Wagner

CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Estatc of MARY CURTIS, dececased; LAURA | CASE NO. A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of Dept. No.: XXIII

the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually, DEFENDANTS’ ANSWER TO
PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs,

VS.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE
CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS fka LIFE
CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY:;
SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE
CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; BINA
HRIBIK PORTELLO, Administrator; CARL
WAGNER, Administrator; and DOES 1-50
inclusive,

Defendants.

Defendants SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE
CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS fka LIFE CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY,
SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC., and CARL WAGNER (collectively “Defendants”), by and through their

4851-5721-1716.1
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counsel, S. Brent Vogel, Esq. and Amanda J. Brookhyser, hereby answers Plaintiffs’ Complaint as
follows:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. In answering Paragraphs 1, 2, and 4 of the section entitled General Allegations of
Plaintiffs” Complaint, Defendants are without sufficient information or knowledge to form a belief
as to the truth or falsity of the allegations contained therein and upon that basis, deny the
allegations contained there.

2. Defendants admit the allegations as set forth in Paragraph 3 of the section entitled
General Allegations of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

3. Decfendants deny cach and every allegation set forth in Paragraphs 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10
of the section entitled General Allegations of Plaintiffs” Complaint.

4. In answering Paragraph 5 of the section entitled General Allegations of Plaintiffs’
Complaint, Defendant admit that Carl Wagner was Administrator of Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley at all relevant times but deny each and every remaining allegation set forth therein.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION — ABUSE/NEGELCT OF AN OLDER PERSON

(Abuse/Neglect of an order person by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)

5. In answering Paragraph 11 of the First Cause of Action of Plaintiffs’ Complaint,
Defendants repeat and reallege as though fully set forth herein their answers to Paragraphs 1
through 10 of the section entitled General Allegations of Plaintiffs” Complaint.

6. In answering Paragraphs 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 20, and 21 of the First Cause of Action
of Plaintiffs” Complaint, Defendants are without sufficient information or knowledge to form a
belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations contained therein and upon that basis, deny the
allegations contained therein.

7. Defendants deny cach and every allegation as set forth in Paragraphs 17, 18, 19, 22,
23,24, 25, 26, 27 and 28 of the First Cause of Action of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Wrongful Death by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)

8. In answering Paragraph 29 of the Second Cause of Action of Plaintiffs’ Complaint,

4851-5721-1716.1 2
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Defendants repeat and reallege as though fully set forth herein their answers to Paragraphs 1
through 10 of the section entitled General Allegations and Paragraphs 11 through 28 of the First
Cause of Action of Plaintiffs” Complaint.

9. Defendants deny each and every allegation as set forth in Paragraphs 30, 31, 32, 33,
34, and 35 of the Second Causc of Action of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(Wrongful Death by Laura Latrenta individually against all Defendants)

10.  In answering Paragraph 36 of the Third Causc of Action of Plaintiffs’ Complaint,
Defendants repeat and reallege as though fully set forth herein their answers to Paragraphs 1
through 10 of the section entitled General Allegations, Paragraphs 11 through 28 of the First
Cause of Action, and Paragraphs 29 through 35 of the Second Cause of Action of Plaintiffs’
Complaint.

11.  In answering Paragraph 37 of the Third Cause of Action of Plaintiffs’ Complaint,
Defendants are without sufficient information or knowledge to form a belief as to the truth or
falsity of the allegations contained therein and upon that basis, deny the allegations contained
therein.

12. Defendants deny each and every allegation as set forth in Paragraphs 38, 39, 40, 41,
42,43, and 44 of the Third Cause of Action of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Bad Faith Tort by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)

13. In answering Paragraph 45 of the Fourth Cause of Action of Plaintiffs Complaint,
Defendants repeat and reallege as though fully sct forth herein their answers to Paragraphs 1
through 10 of the section entitled General Allegations, Paragraphs 11 through 28 of the First
Causc of Action, Paragraphs 29 through 35 of the Second Causc of Action, and Paragraphs 36
through 44 of the Third Cause of Action of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

14.  Defendants deny each and every allegation as set forth in Paragraphs 46, 47, 48, 49,

50, 51, and 52 of the Fourth Causc of Action of Plaintiffs” Complaint.

4851-5721-1716.1 3
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CONCLUDING ANSWER TO ALL ALLEGATIONS

15.  All allegations not specifically addressed above due to the nature of the language

and construction of the allegations, or for any other reason, are specifically denied.

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
L. Plaintiffs” Complaint on file herein fails to state a claim against Defendants upon
which relief can be granted.
2. Plaintiffs’ Complaint on file herein is barred by the applicable statute of limitations.
3. The 1juries, if any, allegedly suffered by Plaintiffs as set forth in the Complaint

were caused in whole or in part by the negligence of a third party or third parties over which
Decfendants had no control.

<3 The damages, if any, alleged by Plaintiffs were not the result of any acts of
omission, commission, or negligence, but were the result of a known risk, which was consented to
by Plaintiffs.

5. Pursuant to NRS 41A.110, Defendants are entitled to a conclusive presumption of
informed consent.

6. The incident alleged in the Complaint, and the resulting damages, if any, to
Plaintiffs, was proximately caused or contributed to by the Plaintiffs’ own negligence, and such
negligence was greater than the negligence, if any, of these Defendants.

7. The damages, if any, incurred by Plaintiffs were not attributable to any act,
conduct, or omission on the part of the Defendants. Defendants deny that they were negligent or
otherwise culpable in any matter or in any degree with respect to the matters set forth in Plaintiffs’
Complaint.

8. That it has been necessary for Defendants to employ the services of an attorney to
defend this action and a reasonable sum should be allowed Defendants for attorneys’ fees, together

with costs of suit incurred herein.

0. Pursuant NRS 41A.035 Plaintiffs’ non-economic damages, if any, may not exceed
$350,000.

10.  Defendants are not jointly liable with any other entities that may or may not be
4851-5721-1716.1 4
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named in this action, and will only be severally liable for that portion of Plaintiffs’ claims that
represent the percentage of negligence attributable to Defendants, if any.

11.  Plaintiffs’ damages, if any, were not proximately caused by Defendants.

12.  Plaintiffs’ injuries and damages, if any, are the result of forces of nature over which
Defendants had no control or responsibility.

13.  Plaintiffs are barred from asserting any claims against Defendants because the
alleged damages were the result of one or more unforeseeable intervening and superseding causes.

14.  Plaintiffs failed to mitigate damages, if any.

15. Plaintiffs failed to allege facts in support of any award of pre-judgment interest.

16.  The incident alleged in the Complaint, and the resulting damages, if any, to
Plaintiffs, were proximately caused or contributed to by the Plaintiffs’ own negligence, and such
negligence was greater than the negligence, if any, of Defendants.

17.  Pursuant to NRCP 11, as amended, all applicable Affirmative Defenses may not
have been alleged herein insofar as sufficient facts were not available after reasonable inquiry
upon the filing of Defendants’ Answer and, therefore, Defendants reserve the right to amend their
Answer to allege additional Affirmative Defenses if subsequent investigation warrants.

18. Each service rendered to Plaintiffs by these Defendants was expressly and
impliedly consented to and authorized by the Plaintiffs on the basis of full and complete
disclosure.

19.  Plaintiffs failed to substantively comply with NRS 41A.071.

20. At all times mentioned herein, Defendants acted reasonably and in good faith with
regard to the acts and transactions which are the subject of this lawsuit.

21.  To the extent Plaintiffs have been reimbursed from any source for any special
damages claimed to have been sustained as a result of the incidents alleged in Plaintiffs’
Complaint, these Answering Defendants may elect to offer those amounts into evidence and, if
these Answering Defendants so elect, Plaintiffs’ special damages shall be reduced by those
amounts pursuant to NRS 42.021.

22.  Defendants hereby mcorporate by reference those affirmative defenses enumerated

4851-5721-1716.1 5
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in NRCP 8 as if fully set forth herein. In the event further investigation or discovery reveals the
applicability of such defenses, Defendants reserve the right to seck leave of the court to amend this
Answer to assert the same. Such defenses are incorporated herein by reference for the purpose of
not waiving the same.

23.  Dcfendants avail themsclves of all affirmative defenses and limitations of action as
sct out in NRS 41.085, 41A.035, 41A.045,41A.061,41A.071,41A.097, 41A.100, 42.005, 42.021,
41.141, and all applicable subparts.

24.  NRS Chapters 41 and 41A limit damages that may be collectable against these

Answering Defendants.

25.  The facts as alleged in the Complaint do not entitle Plaintiffs to punitive damages.

26.  The facts as alleged in the Complaint do not statec a claim for punitive damages
under NRS 42.005.

27.  The facts as alleged in the Complaint do not state a claim for double damages under
NRS 41.1395.

28.  The facts as alleged in the Complaint do not adequately state a claim of injury
under NRS 41.1395.

WHEREFORE, Defendants pray for judgment as follows:
1. That Plaintiffs take nothing by way of the Complaint on file herein,;
2. For rcasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit incurred herein;
3. For trial by jury, and;
4, For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper in the
premiscs.
4851-5721-1716.1 6
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DATED this 3" day of March, 2017

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/ Amanda J. Brookhyser

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 006858

AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER

Nevada Bar No. 11526

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Attorneys for Defendants South Las Vegas
Medical Investors LLC dba Life Care Center of
South Las Vegas fka Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley, South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care
Centers of America, Inc., and Carl Wagner

4851-5721-1716.1 7
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 3™ day of March, 2017, a true and correct copy
of DEFENDANTS’ ANSWER TO PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT was served by electronically
filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Wiznet Electronic Service system and serving all

partics with an email-address on record, who have agreed to receive Electronic Service in this

action.
By /s/ Nicole Etienne
an Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
4851-5721-1716.1 8

APPO19




| Electronlcally F|Ied .
03/09/2017 04 04 54 PM

LA .State of Navada LA S Cqunty of Clark . |
T R e CLERKOF THE COURT
,_'_Case Number A—17~750520 C SESes S L

~"‘1.Pla|nt|ff B b ' | DY
' Estate of Mary Curtls, deceased, Laura Latrenta as Persana! Representatwe of
s Estate of Mary Curtls, and Laura Latmnta, indi\ndually A . :

¥ vs. ;- -

'Defendant G A B s | S
- South Las Vegas Medmal lnvesmrs. LLQ dhﬁ Life care Cmter of sguth Las Vegas L
- flkla Life Care Center of Paradise Valley; South Las Vegas Investors Limited
~ Partnership; Life Care Centers of America, In¢.; Bina Hribik PQrtelle,
2 ,‘Admimstrator Carl Wagner, Admmistrater, et al ' :

N R Rece:ved by AM PM Legal §olutlans cn the 14th day of F’ebruary, 2017 at 3 59 pm tc; be sewed on South Las Vegas | TR
~ Investors Limited Partnershlp elo G8C Services of Nevada. lnc;. as 2 Registerad Ase"t 2215 B Re"a'sﬁme Or,Las ...
g ._:Vegaa, NV 89119 BN , ; FERRAES N . | i - .

ig Stgn Mch@. bemg duly swern depese and say that 90 the 16th day of February 2017 at 12 14 Pm '

“1 |stnct Court_

'at an t|mes herem pursuant to NRCP 4(6) was aﬁd ss a gltlzen of the Umted States. over 18 years of age not a party to or i

o interested in the proceeding in which this affidavit is made and served the within named individual or entity by deliveringa

-~ true and correct copy of the Summons and Complaint for Damages on the date and hour of service endorsed thereon
by me, at the aforementioned address, to, Frances Gutierrez (Admin), as a person of suitable age and discretion atthe =

- above address, which is the address of the Registered Agent as shown on the current cemﬂcate of desugnatnon ﬁied wsth
-'the Sacretary of State to rece:ve servace of legal process pursuant to NRS 14 020 5 N _ RRERRREY

R : ,__De;scr_iptipn o_f_ ._F’ersdn Se'i\_ie_d: Age: '33+;,'$§x3::F, Rage]Skihh Q_Q»lsfﬁr: H.igpéﬂiﬁ.'ﬁeight': .:5.":4",_ Weiigh.t: 149, Hair: 'ﬁl.ﬂﬁk, Gla§$§§:_ 'f‘:-':':

Y I declare under penalty of perjury under the law ef
.~ the State of Nevada that the f@regamg l$ true and
- .,:'j'.correct sngne. \apd dated thl§ o

A dav"f Sy 20 S P Logh Soi

5208, 7th St,, Ste B

» _' .' _»(762) 355~2s7s g_ S '
i ',_Our Job Senal Numbe* AMP“ZOWOOO%O

* Copyright € 1652-2017 Databsse Servies. . - rocess Secvars Toglber 741

APP020



Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
TEL: (702) 362-7800 / FAX: (702) 362-9472

KOLESAR & LEATHAM
400 S. Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400

e

~ O

oo

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

SUMM

MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 362-7800

Facsimile: (702) 362-9472

E-Mail: mdavidson@klInevada.com

-and-

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. — Pro Hac Vice Pending
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Telephone:  (602) 553-4552

Facsimile: (602) 553-4557

Email: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA CASE NO. A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA DEPT NO. XXIII
LATRENTA, individually,
Plaintiffs,
vs. |
SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL

INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO,
Administrator, CARL WAGNER,
Administrator; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

SUMMONS — DEFENDANT, SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP

NOTICE! YOU HAVE BEEN SUED, THE COURT MAY DECIDE AGAINST YOU
WITHOUT YOUR BEING HEARD UNLESS YOU RESPOND WITHIN 20 DAYS.

READ THE INFORMATION BELOW,

2308823_2 (9770-1) Page 1 of 2
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TO THE DEFENDANT: A civil Complaint has been filed by the Plaintiff against you for the

relief set forth in the Complaint.
SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

1. If you intend to defend this lawsuit, within 20 days after this Summons is served
on you exclusive of the day of service, you must do the following:

a. File with the Clerk of this Court, whose address is shown below, a formal
written response to the Complaint in accordance with the rules of the Court, with the
appropriate filing fee.

b. Serve a copy of your response upon the attorney whose name and address
1s shown below.

2. Unless you respond, your default will be entered upon application of the plaintiff
and this Court may enter a judgment against you for the relief demanded in the Complaint, which
could result in the taking of money or property or other relief requested in the Complaint.

3. This action is brought against you for abuse/neglect of an older person; wrongful
death, and bad faith tort as described in the Complaint.

4. If you intend to seek the advice of an attorney in this matter, you should do so
promptly so that your response may be filed on time,

5.  The State of Nevada, its political subdivisions, agencies, ofﬁcers, employees, board
members, commission members and legislators, each have 45 days after service of this summons

within which to file an answer to the Complaint.

Issued at the direction of: CLERK OF COURT

KOLESAR & LEATHAM
2 poA_FEB 06 T
By: By: :
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. I)eputyxl Clerk Date
Nevada Bar No. 000878 Regional Justice Center SO
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 200 Lewis Avenue SHIMAYALAD
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

2308823_2 (9770-1) Page 2 of 2
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
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SUMM

MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 362-7800

Facsimile: (702) 362-9472

E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com

-and-

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. — Pro Hac Vice Pending
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Telephone:  (602) 553-4552

Facsimile: (602) 553-4557

Email: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA CASE NO. A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA DEPT NO. XXII
LATRENTA, individually,
Plaintiffs,
VS.
SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL

INVESTCRS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO,
Administrator, CARL WAGNER,
Administrator; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

I

powwaeem

SUMMONS — DEFENDANT, SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC d/b/a
LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a
LIFE CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY

NOTICE! YOU HAVE BEEN SUED, THE COURT MAY DECIDE AGAINST YOU
WITHOUT YOUR BEING HEARD UNLESS YOU RESPOND WITHIN 20 DAYS.
READ THE INFORMATION BELOW,

2308623_1 (9770-1) Page 1 of 2
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TO THE DEFENDANT: A civil Complaint has been filed by the Plaintiff against you for the

relief set forth in the Complaint.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC d/b/a
LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f{/k/a
LIFE CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY

1. If you intend to defend this lawsuit, within 20 days after this Summons is served
on you exclusive of the day of service, you must do the following:

a. File with the Clerk of this Court, whose address is shown below, a formal
written response to the Complaint in accordance with the rules of the Court, with the
appropriate filing fee.

b. Serve a copy of your response upon the attorney whose name and address
is shown below.

2. Unless you respond, your default will be entered upon application of the plaintiff
and this Court may enter a judgment against you for the relief demanded in the Complaint, which
could result in the taking of money or property or other relief requested in the Complaint.

3. This action is brought against you for abuse/neglect of an older person; wrongful
death, and bad faith tort as described in the Complaint.

4, If you intend to seek the advice of an attomey in this matter, you should do so
promptly so that your response may be filed on time.

5.  The State of Nevada, its political subdivisions, agencies, officers, employees, board
members, commission members and legislators, each have 45 days after service of this summons

within which to file an answer to the Complaint.

Issued at the direction of: CLERK OF COURT
KOLESAR HAM |
/ JEB 0 6 2017

By: /% By: -

MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. Deputy Clerk = Date

Nevada Bar No. 000878 Regional Justice Center

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 200 Lewis Avenue .~

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Plaintiffs SHIMAYA LADSON
2308823 (8770-1) Page 2 of 2
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Electronically Filed . -
 5/26/2017 1:54 PM
Steven D. Grierson

: _ - - CLERK OF THE COUR], -
State of Novada - County of Glark ' mﬁ

Case Number: A-17-750820-C

Plaintiff; , . o RN
Estate of Mary Curtls, deceaged; Laura Latrenta, as Parsenal Representative of
Eetate of Mary Qurtis; and Laura Latrents, individually S

v

Defandant:

South Las Vegas Madical Invastors, LLC dba Life Gare Gentar of South Las Vages

f/kla Life Gare Center of Paradise Valley; Sauth Las Vegas Investors Limitet
~ Partnership; Lifs Gare Centers of Americs, Ine.; Bina Hribik Rortello,
Administratar; Carl Wagner, Ad._mlnlstratqr;"at al.

Ressivad by AM:PM Legal Solutions on the 121h day of Fabrualy, 2017 at 3:59 pm 10 be served on Life Gare Centers of

|, Sten Mc@mé, being duly swomn, depose and say that on t_.hgj 13th day ofFébruary, 2017 at 11:38 p, I;

all times herein, pursuant to NRCR 4(c), was and is g citizen of the United States, over 18 years of age, not a party ta ar
terested in the preceeding in which this affidavit is made and served the within named individual or entity by deliveringa
trug and eorreet copy of the Summens and Complaint for Damages en the date and hour of service endersed therean

by me, at the aforamentioned address, to, Frances Guflefrez. (Adntin), as a person of suitable age and diseretion atthe
. above addreas, which Is the addrese of the Regisiered Agent as shown on the current certificate of designation filed with

the Secretary of Btate, {o receive service of legal process pursuant to NRS 14.020,

Description of Perseon Served: Age: 33+, Sex: F, Raag/ﬁkin Color: Hispanic: Hajght: 5'4", Weight: 140, Hair: Black, Glasses:

| declare under penalty of perjury under the law of
the State of Nevada that the forageing is true and
coreet, signed and dated this:

/7dﬂ¥°f 71/0“‘;7 26/7

2) d66-0078 | ;
“@ur Joh Serial Number: AMP-2017000847

Gopyright @ 18022017 Batangsn Gervicas, Inc. - Precess Senver's Toslbas VA9

Case Number: A-17-750520-C
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
TEL: (702) 362-7800 / FAX: (702) 362-9472

KOLESAR & LEATHAM
400 S. Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

SUMM

MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, EsQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 362-7800

Facsimile: (702) 362-9472

E-Mail:  mdavidson@kInevada.com

-and-

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. — Pro Hac Vice Pending
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Telephone:  (602) 553-4552

Facsimile: (602) 553-4557

Email: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA CASE NO. A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA DEPT NO. XXIII
LATRENTA, individually,

Plaintiffs,
Vs,

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS {/k/a LIFE CARE
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO,
Administrator; CARL WAGNER,
Administrator; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

SUMMONS - DEFENDANT, LIFE CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.

NOTICE! YOU HAVE BEEN SUED, THE COURT MAY DECIDE AGAINST YOU
WITHOUT YOUR BEING HEARD UNLESS YOU RESPOND WITHIN 20 DAYS.
READ THE INFORMATION BELOW.

2308823_3 (9770-1) Page 1 of 2
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
TEL: (702) 362-7800 / FAX: (702) 362-9472

KOLESAR & LEATHAM
400 S. Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400

E S I

O o N Y W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

TO THE DEFENDANT: A civil Complaint has been filed by the Plaintiff against you for the
relief set forth in the Complaint.
LIFE CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.

1. If you intend to defend this lawsuit, within 20 days after this Summons is served
on you exclusive of the day of service, you must do the following:

a. File with the Clerk of this Court, whose address is shown below, a formal
written response to the Complaint in accordance with the rules of the Court, with the
appropriate filing fee.

b. Serve a copy of your response upon the attorney whose name and address
is shown below.

2. Unless you respond, your default will be entered upon application of the plaintiff
and this Court may enter a judgment against you for the relief demanded in the Complaint, which
could result in the taking of money or property or other relief requested in the Complaint.

3. This action is brought against you for abuse/neglect of an older person; wrongful
death, and bad faith tort as described in the Complaint.

4. If you intend to seek the advice of an attorney in this matter, you should do so
promptly so that your response may be filed on time.

5. The State of Nevada, its political subdivisions, agencies, officers, employees, board
members, commission members and legislators, each have 45 days after service of this summons
within which to file an answer to the Complaint.

Issued at the direction of: CLERK OF COURT

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

~LFEB O ¢ 2017

y:
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. /‘l%puty Clerk Date

Nevada Bar No. 000878 Regional Justice Center

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 200 Lewis Avenue SHIMAYA LADBON
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

2308823_3 (9770-1) Page 2 of 2
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Electronically Filed
9/10/2018 11:59 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
S. BRENT VOGEL &ﬁu—l‘ fﬁ;“""'

Nevada Bar No. 006858
Brent.Vogel@Ilewisbrisbois.com

AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER

Nevada Bar No. 11526
Amanda.Brookhyser@lewisbrisbois.com
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

702.893.3383

FAX: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendants South Las Vegas
Medical Investors LLC dba Life Care Center of
South Las Vegas fka Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley, South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care
Centers of America, Inc., Carl Wagner,

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA | CASE NO. A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of Dept. No.: XXIlI

the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually,

Consolidated with:
Plaintiffs, CASE NO. A-17-754013-C

VS. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR
SUMMARY JUDGMENT
SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE
CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS fka LIFE
CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY:;
SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE
CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; BINA
HRIBIK PORTELLO, Administrator; CARL
WAGNER, Administrator; and DOES 1-50
inclusive,

Defendants.

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of
the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually,

Plaintiffs,

Vs.

4851-3321-5088 1
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DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR
SAMIR SAXENA , M.D., SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Defendant

COMES NOW, Defendants SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE
CARE CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS fka LIFE CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY;
SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC., and CARL WAGNER, (“Defendants™), by and through their counsel of record S.
Brent Vogel, Esq., and Amanda J. Brookhyser, Esq., of the Law Firm LEWIS BRISBOIS
BISGAARD & SMITH, and hereby file this Motion for Summary Judgment.

This Motion is based upon the papers and pleadings on file in this case, the Memorandum of
Points and Authorities submitted herewith and any argument adduced at the time of hearing on this
matter.

DATED this 10" day of September, 2018

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/ Amanda J. Brookhyser
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 006858
AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER
Nevada Bar No. 11526
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Tel. 702.893.3383
Attorneys for Defendants South Las Vegas
Medical Investors LLC dba Life Care Center of
South Las Vegas fka Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley, South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care
Centers of America, Inc., Carl Wagner,

4851-3321-5088 1 2
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NOTICE OF MOTION
TO:  All Parties and their respective attorneys of record.
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing DEFENDANTS’
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT on for hearing in Departmer?t(\xglél‘l‘ron the 17 day

of Oct. , 2018, at the hour of 8:30 @M  or as soon thereafter as counsel may be

heard.
DATED this 10" day of September, 2018

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/ Amanda J. Brookhyser
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 006858
AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER
Nevada Bar No. 11526
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Tel. 702.893.3383

Attorneys for Defendants South Las Vegas
Medical Investors LLC dba Life Care Center of
South Las Vegas fka Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley, South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care
Centers of America, Inc., Carl Wagner,

i

1111

4851-3321-5088 1 3
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
l.
INTRODUCTION

This case concerns the residency of Mary Curtis at Life Care Center of Paradise Valley
(“LCCPV™)! from March 2, 2016 through March 8, 2016. Plaintiff alleges that on March 7, 2016
Ms. Curtis was erroneously given a dose of Morphine that was meant for another patient. Plaintiff
alleges that it was this nursing error that lead to Ms. Curtis’ death. Plaintiff’s Complaint against
these Defendants was filed on February 2, 2017. See Complaint attached hereto as Exhibit A.
Plaintiff asserted causes of action for (1) abuse/neglect of an older person; (2) wrongful death; and
(3) bad faith. The gravamen of Plaintiff’s Complaint- and, indeed, the focus of the depositions
conducted by Plaintiff as well as her expert reports- is negligent nursing care. Plaintiff argues and
alleges that Ms. Curtis’ death was caused by the negligent administration of Morphine as well as
the lack of follow-up by the nurses for the next approximately twenty-four (24) hours. These
allegations are the very definition of professional negligence under 41A.015. Additionally, as the
mechanism of injury at issue in this case was the injection of Morphine- by an employee of
LCCPV for which it may be vicariously liable- LCCPV’s liability is derivative of the liability of
the nurses who cared for Ms. Curtis. In other words, if a Jury were to find that the nursing care
was not negligent, there would not be independent basis upon which to hold LCCPV liable. Thus,

the causes of action against LCCPV must be covered under the umbrella of Chapter 41A, which

includes a requirement of an affidavit of merit. Nev.Rev.Stat.841A.100. According to NRS

41A.017, if that affidavit of merit is not included with the instituting Complaint, the case must be

! Plaintiff has also named as Defendants Life Care Centers of America and Carl Wagner as the
Administrator of Life Care Center of Paradise Valley. For purposes of this Motion, “LCCPV”
shall refer to all Defendants.

4851-3321-5088 1 4
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dismissed.

Furthermore, according to the Nevada Supreme Court in Zhang v. Barnes, Dkt. No.
67219, LCCPV’s exposure cannot be higher than the potential exposure of its nursing employees
due to the fact that the only basis for liability on the part of LCCPV is the allegedly negligent acts
of its nursing personnel. As such, NRS 41A.035 specifically would apply to the claims against
LCCPV consistent with the Nevada Supreme Court’s analysis in Zhang. If 41A.035 specifically
applies, the rest of the Chapter must apply as well. Therefore, Plaintiff’s Complaint must be
dismissed as it is void ab initio and Plaintiff may not be given leave to amend. Alternatively, if the
Court is not inclined to apply the entirety of Chapter 41A to Plaintiff’s claims, 41A.035 should
still apply to limit Plaintiff’s pain and suffering damages to $350,000 consistent with the Zhang
decision and other decisions by this District Court.

1.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

The papers, pleadings, and depositions that make up the record of this case make clear that
the emphasis, goal, and focus of Plaintiff’s allegations and discovery efforts was and is to put forth
and prove that breaches of the standard of care- or nursing negligence- killed Mary Curtis. The

questioning in the over a dozen? nursing depositions in this case is demonstrative of this effort:

2 For brevity’s sake, Defendants will not quote from every deposition in this case as there have
been over two dozen. This is a sampling of the kind of questioning that is consistent across the
board in these depositions.

4851-3321-5088 1 5

APP033




© 00 ~N oo o s~ O w N

NN RN RN NN NN DN RPB P R R R R R Rl e
© N o O B~ W N B O © 0 N oo o~ W N R-», O

LEWIS
BRISBOIS

Chatman, 22:21-25, 23:1-4

Chatman, 49:24-5, 50:1-3.

Socaoco, 33:15-9.

THE WITHESS: I'm not sure.

Socaoco, 37:14-19

4851-3321-5088 1 6
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Socaoco, 69:15-19

Sansome, 22:17-20

Sansome, 25:2-8

THE WITHESS: Yes.

Sansome, 34:10-16

4851-3321-5088 1 7
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THE WITNESS: Yes.

Sansome, 55:8-13

THE WITHMESS: Yes.

Sansome, 65:10-16

Dawson, 27:8-12

Dawson, 39:6-9

4851-3321-5088 1
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THE WITHESS: I don't know what happened to

Dawson, 53:18-25, 54:1-3

Dawson, 97:5-8

Olea, 22:2-5

4851-3321-5088 1 9
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Olea, 28:14-19

THE WITHESS: It's true. It's true.

Olea, 49:16-22

15. During her Life Care Center of South Las Vegas fik/a Life Care Center of
Paradise Valley residency Ms. Curtis was dependent on staff for her basic needs and her

activities of daily living.
Complaint at 715
19.  Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that they had wrongly administered

morphine to Ms. Curtis, they failed to act timely upon that discovery, instead retaining Ms.

Curtis as a resident until 8 March 2016.
Complaint at 119

30. Defendants, their staff, and employees, in caring for Ms. Curtis, had a duty to

exercise the level of knowledge, skill, and care of those in good standing in the community.

Complaint at 130

4851-3321-5088 1 10

APP038




© o0 ~N oo o b~ O w N

[ S T N N T N N T N T N S e S S S S e I
©® N o O B W N P O © 0o N oo o b~ W N B, O

LEWIS
BRISBOIS

Il.
LEGAL ARGUMENT
A. LEGAL STANDARD FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no
genuine issue as to any disputed material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment
as a matter of law.” N.R.C.P. 56(c). In other words, a motion for summary judgment shall be
denied when the evidence, taken together, shows a genuine issue as to any material fact. In the
milestone case Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 731 (2005), the Supreme Court of Nevada
held that “[t]he substantive law controls which factual disputes are material” to preclude summary
judgment, and that “[a] factual dispute is genuine when the evidence is such that a rational trier of
fact could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.” Id.

When applying the above standard, the pleadings and other proof must be construed in a
light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Id. at 732. However, the nonmoving party, in this
case, Plaintiffs, “may not rest upon general allegations and conclusions,” but shall “by affidavit or
otherwise, set forth specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine issue for trial.” Id. at
731-32. The nonmoving party “bears the burden to ‘do more than simply show that there is some
metaphysical doubt’ as to the operative facts in order to avoid summary judgment being entered in
the moving party’s favor.” 1d. at 732. “The nonmoving party ‘is not entitled to build a case on the
gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation and conjecture.”” 1d. But, “the nonmoving party is
entitled to have the evidence and all reasonable inferences accepted as true.” LeasePartners Corp.
v. Robert L. Brooks Trust Dated Nov. 12, 1975, 113 Nev. 747, 752 (1997).

B. DEFENDAANTS ARE ENTITLED TO THE PROTECTIONS OF NRS CHAPTER

41A
These Defendants are entitled to the protections of Chapter 41A as LCCPV’s liability is
4851-3321-5088 1 11
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totally derivative of that of its nursing staff. LCCPV’s liability is based solely on the acts and
omissions of its nursing staff, as no other officer, employee or agent of LCCPV was involved in
the events in question in any way. Therefore, any claims against LCCPV are derivative claims.

First, in DeBoer v. Senior Bridges at Sparks Family Hospital, 282 P. 3d 727, 732 (Nev.
2012), the Supreme Court distinguished between medical malpractice and traditional negligence
claims, not on the basis of the plaintiff’s legal theory, but on the basis of whether the medical
provider allegedly injured the plaintiff through the provision of medical services — i.e. “medical
diagnosis, judgment, or treatment” — or nonmedical services, which would give rise to ordinary
negligence claims. Here, there can be no genuine question that LCCPV’s liability, if any, arises
from the nurses’ alleged medical malpractice. The nurses’ conduct is the only possible source of
LCCPV’s liability. In other words, had the nurse not given Ms. Curtis the dose of Morphine at
issue, there would be no injury and source of liability against LCCPV. Since plaintiff’s claim
against LCCPV is based on its nursing personnel’s provision of medical services to Ms. Curtis, it
is a medical malpractice claim and the provisions of NRS Chapter 41A apply.

A recent decision by the Nevada Supreme Court regarding the determination of whether a
claim is one for professional negligence or general negligence sheds further light on the analysis.

In Szymborski v. Spring Mountain Treatment Ctr., 403 P.3d 1280 (Nev. 2017), Appellant

Lee Szymborski's adult son, Sean Szymborski (Sean), was admitted to Spring Mountain Treatment
Center (Spring Mountain) for care and treatment due to self-inflicted wounds. Id. at 1282-83.
When it came time to discharge Sean, licensed social workers undertook the discharge planning,
but also delegated some tasks to a Masters of Arts (MA). I1d. Szymborski and Sean had a turbulent
relationship, and Sean was discharged with diagnoses of psychosis and spice abuse. 1d. A social
worker documented that Szymborski directed a case manager not to release Sean to Szymborski's

home upon discharge and that the case manager would help Sean find alternative housing. Id.

4851-3321-5088 1 12
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Spring Mountain nurses also documented that Sean did not want to live with his father, noting that
he grew agitated when talking about his father and expressed trepidation about returning to his
father's home. Id. However, on the date discharge, Sean was put into a cab and sent to his father’s
house anyway. It was alleged that Sean vandalized the house and caused significant property
damage. Id.
In his complaint, Szymborski asserted four claims against Spring Mountain, its CEO,
Daryl Dubroca, and various social workers and MAs (collectively, Spring Mountain): negligence
(count I); professional negligence (count Il); malpractice, gross negligence, negligence per se
(count I11); and negligent hiring, supervision, and training (count 1V). Id. Szymborski attached a
report to his complaint, but not an expert medical affidavit. 1d. Spring Mountain moved to dismiss
the complaint because Szymborski failed to attach an expert medical affidavit pursuant to NRS
41A.071. The district court granted Spring Mountain's motion to dismiss, finding that the claims
in the complaint were for medical malpractice and required an expert medical affidavit. 1d.
In their review of whether Szymborski had indeed asserted causes of action that required

support by an expert affidavit, the Nevada Supreme Court engaged in the following analysis:

Allegations of breach of duty involving medical judgment, diagnosis, or

treatment indicate that a claim is for medical malpractice. See Papa v.

Brunswick Gen. Hosp., 132 A.D.2d 601, 517 N.Y.S.2d 762, 763 (App.

Div. 1987) ("When the duty owing to the plaintiff by the defendant arises

from the physician-patient relationship or is substantially related to

medical treatment, the breach thereof gives rise to an action sounding in

medical malpractice as opposed to simple negligence."); Estate of French

v. Stratford House, 333 S.W.3d 546, 555 (Tenn. 2011) ("If the alleged

breach of duty of care set forth in the complaint is one that was based

upon medical art or science, training, or expertise, then it is a claim

for medical malpractice."), superseded by statute Tenn. Code. Ann. 29-

26-101 et seq. (2011), asrecognized in Ellithorpe v. Weismark, 479

S.W.3d 818, 824-26 (Tenn. 2015). By extension, if the jury can only

evaluate the plaintiff's claims after presentation of the standards of

care by a medical expert, then it is a medical malpractice claim. See

Bryant, 684 N.W.2d at 872; Humboldt Gen. Hosp. v. Sixth Judicial Dist.

Court, 132 Nev., Adv. Op. 53, 376 P.3d 167, 172 (2016) (reasoning that a
medical expert affidavit was required where the scope of a patient's

4851-3321-5088 1 13
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informed consent was at issue, because medical expert testimony would be
necessary to determine the reasonableness of the health care provider's
actions). If, on the other hand, the reasonableness of the health care
provider's actions can be evaluated by jurors on the basis of their common
knowledge and experience, then the claim is likely based in ordinary
negligence. See Bryant, 684 N.W.2d at 872.

The distinction between medical malpractice and negligence may be
subtle in some cases, and parties may incorrectly invoke language that
designates a claim as either medical malpractice or ordinary negligence,
when the opposite is in fact true. See Weiner v. Lenox Hill Hosp., 88
N.Y.2d 784, 673 N.E.2d 914, 916, 650 N.Y.S.2d 629 (N.Y.
1996) ("[M]edical malpractice is but a species of negligence and no rigid
analytical line separates the two.") (internal quotation marks omitted).
Given the subtle distinction, a single set of circumstances may sound in
both ordinary negligence and medical malpractice, and an inartful
complaint will likely use terms that invoke both causes of action,
particularly where, as here, the plaintiff is proceeding pro se in district
court. See Mayo v. United States, 785 F. Supp. 2d 692, 695 (M.D. Tenn.
2011)("The designations given to the claims by the plaintiff or defendant
are not determinative, and a single complaint may be founded upon both
ordinary negligence principles and the medical malpractice
statute."). Therefore, we must look to the gravamen or *‘substantial
point or essence' of each claim rather than its form to see whether
each individual claim is for medical malpractice or ordinary
negligence. Estate of French, 333 S.W.3d at 557 (citing Black's Law
Dictionary 770 (9th ed. 2009)); see State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v.
Wharton, 88 Nev. 183, 186, 495 P.2d 359, 361 (1972) (in determining
whether an action is for contract or tort, "it is the nature of the grievance
rather than the form of the pleadings that determines the character of the
action"); Benz-Elliott v. Barrett Enters., LP, 456 S.W.3d 140, 148-49
(Tenn. 2015) (the gravamen of the claims rather than the gravamen of the
complaint determines statute of limitations issues because “"parties may
assert alternative claims and defenses and request alternative relief in a
single complaint, regardless of the consistency of the claims and
defenses"). Such an approach is especially important at the motion to
dismiss stage, where this court draws every reasonable inference in favor
of the plaintiff, and a complaint should only be dismissed if there is no set
of facts that could state a claim for relief. Deboer, 128 Nev. at 409, 282
P.3d at 730.

Here, Szymborski's complaint alleges four claims for relief. Our case law
declares that a medical malpractice claim filed without an expert affidavit
is "void ab initio." Washoe Med. Ctr. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 122
Nev. 1298, 1304, 148 P.3d 790, 794 (2006); but cf. Szydel v. Markman,
121 Nev. 453, 458-59, 117 P.3d 200, 204 (2005) (determining that
an NRS 41A.071 medical expert affidavit is not required when the claim is
for one of the res ipsa loquitur circumstances set forth in NRS 41A.100).
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Under this precedent, the medical malpractice claims that fail to
comply with NRS 41A.071 must be severed and dismissed, while allowing
the claims for ordinary negligence to proceed. See Fierle v. Perez, 125
Nev. 728, 740, 219 P.3d 906, 914 (2009), as modified (Dec. 16,
2009), overruled on other grounds by Egan, 129 Nev. 239, 299 P.3d
364. Therefore, with the above principles in mind, we next determine
which of Szymborski's claims must be dismissed for failure to attach the
required medical expert affidavit, and which claims allege facts sounding
in ordinary negligence. Because the district court's sole basis for dismissal
was Szymborski's failure to attach a medical expert affidavit, the question
before us is not the validity, sufficiency, or merit of Szymborski's claims.
Instead, the issue is whether the claims are for medical malpractice,
requiring dismissal under NRS 41A.071, or for ordinary negligence or
other ostensible tort.

Id. at 1284-85 (emphasis added).

In this case, the Szymborski analysis makes clear that Plaintiff’s claims against LCCPV are
for professional negligence. The very root of the allegations against LCCPV is medical decision-
making. Plaintiff’s sole focus in discovery in this case- and, indeed, in the portions of the
depositions cited for the Court above- is the five rights of medication, how that process is the
standard of care in nursing, how it is the process that every nurse should understand and abide by
when administering medication, and how the nurse’s failure in this case to abide by that standard
is what injured Ms. Curtis. There can be no clearer argument of professional negligence than that.
Plaintiff will have to put on expert testimony to explain to the Jury what the five rights of
medication are, how a nurse goes about complying with them, what the “checks and balances” are,
and how that standard of care was not complied with in this case. A lay juror is not going to have
the knowledge of the five rights of medication or how to comply with them; Plaintiff will have to
put on expert testimony in order to meet her burden of proof on the duty and breach elements of
her claims. Therefore, all of Plaintiff’s claims against LCCPV must be deemed as grounded in
professional negligence and, thus, subject to the protections of NRS Chapter 41A.

In Fierle v. Perez, 219 P. 3d 906, 910-11 (2009), this Court cited, quoted and relied on

NRS 89.060 and NRS 89.220 in holding that NRS Chapter 41A provisions --- specifically, NRS

4851-3321-5088 1 15

APP043




© o0 ~N oo o b~ O w N

[ N R N N N I T N T S e e S N T ad =
©® N o o &~ W N P O © o N o o M W N B O

LEWIS
BRISBOIS

41A.071’s affidavit requirement for “medical malpractice or dental malpractice” actions — applies
to malpractice actions against a professional medical corporation and professional negligence
actions against a provider of health care alleging inter alia negligent supervision. Thus, the
argument that NRS Chapter 41A provisions do not protect LCCPV fails regardless of whether
plaintiff’s claims are characterized as being for medical malpractice or for professional
negligence. Plaintiff asserted four causes of action in her Complaint: 1) Abuse/neglect of an older
person; 2). Wrongful Death by the Estate; 3). Wrongful Death by Plaintiff; and 4) Bad Faith.
Thus, Plaintiff cannot in good faith argue that her claims against LCCPV are anything but covered
by NRS Chapter 41A as each of her claims stem from the one act by the nurse of administering
Morphine and then the subsequent follow-up by the nursing personnel. Even Plaintiff’s Bad Faith
cause of action, which will be addressed below, is a professional negligence claim masquerading
as a contract claim.

Specifically, in Fierle, Justice Pickering agreed that NRS 41A.071’s affidavit requirement
applies to malpractice actions against a medical corporation and for negligent supervision, but
dissented from the Court’s holding that it also applies to all professional negligence claims,
asserting that medical malpractice is a type of professional negligence such that the professional
negligence statutes apply to medical malpractice but the reverse is not true, i.e. the malpractice
statutes do not apply to all professional negligence actions. Fierle, 219 P. 3d at 914-16. In Egan
v. Chambers, 299 P. 3d 364 (2013) this Court essentially adopted Justice Pickering’s position in
Fierle, holding that NRS 41A. 071 does not apply to professional negligence claims against a
provider of health care not covered by the malpractice statute and overruled Fierle, but only “in
part.”

As other states have recognized, there is no common law respondeat superior liability for

entities such as LCCPV, since such entities cannot be licensed to practice medicine and thus
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cannot control professional decision making. See., e.g. Harper ex rel. Al-Harmen v. Denver
Health, 140 P. 3d 273(Colo. App. 2006); Daly v. Aspen Center for Women’s Health, 134 P. 3d
450 (Colo. App. 2006). The same rationale precludes an entity from being liable for inadequate
training or supervision. Rather, this matter is controlled by statute in each state under what has
come to be known as the “corporate practice of medicine” doctrine. Id.

The Nevada Supreme Court has never expressly addressed the “corporate practice of
medicine” doctrine, but the Nevada Attorney General has twice opined that in Nevada, the doctrine
limits medical professionals to practicing through entities and associations formed pursuant to
NRS Chapter 89 (with exceptions not relevant to our case). See Nev. AGO 2002-10 (2002). Thus,
LCCPV did not — and legally could not — do anything that injured plaintiff; LCCPV acts through
its licensed personnel and does not, itself, practice medicine. Id. Therefore, any argument that
improper care was rendered can only be based upon a nurse’s actions as LCCPV cannot, itself,
render care.

The Nevada Supreme Court recently addressed a similar issue in Zhang v. Barnes, Dkt. No.
67219. See Order attached hereto as Exhibit B. In Barnes the question was whether Nevada
Surgery & Cancer Care (NSCC), which employed the co-Defendant surgeon Dr. Zhang, was
covered under the damages cap in 41A.035 even though it did not fall under the definition of a
“provider of healthcare.” The Court held as follows:

“In cases such as this, when a negligent hiring, training, and supervision
claim is based upon the underlying negligent medical treatment, the
liability is coextensive. Negligent hiring, training, and supervision claims
cannot be used as a channel to allege professional negligence against a
provider of healthcare to avoid the statutory caps on such actions. While a
case-by-case approach is necessary because of the inherent factual
inquiry relevant to each claim, it is clear to us, in this case, that the
allegations against NSCC were rooted in Zhang’s professional
negligence. Thus, Barnes’ negligent hiring, training, and supervision
claim is subject to the statutory caps under NRS 41A.035.”
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Ex. B, at 17-18 (emphasis added).

The present case is even more straightforward than Barnes because Plaintiff did not allege
negligence hiring, supervision, or training against LCCPV; rather, Plaintiff asserted causes of
action that inherently require a finding of professional negligence on the part of a nurse if there is
to be liability on the part of LCCPV. Therefore, the claims against LCCPV are straight forward
vicarious liability claims and any liability on the part of LCCPV would be rooted in the nurses’
alleged misconduct. As such, the allegations against LCCPV are derivative of the claims against
the nurses and must fall under the protections of NRS Chapter 41A. NRS 41A.071 stands for the
proposition that a Complaint that makes allegations of professional negligence must be
accompanied by an affidavit of merit. If it is not, the Complaint must be dismissed and leave to
amend is not provided as the Complaint is void ab initio. See Fierle v. Perez, 219 P. 3d 906,
(2009). Indeed, two departments in this District have found similarly that the provisions of NRS
Chapter 41A must apply to an employer when the employer’s negligence is derivative of the
professional negligence of its employee. See Orders, attached hereto as Exhibit C.

Specifically, Judge Tao in Estate of Willard Ferhat, et al, v. TLC Long Term Care, LTd.,

Case No. A562984, addressed this very issue of applying NRS Chapter 41A’s protections to a
skilled nursing facility. The only defendant in that matter from TLC Long Term Care, a skilled
nursing facility. Judge Tao noted that “improper administration of prescription drugs and the
alleged failure to diagnose and treat a medical condition are acts that unequivocally fall within the
scope of medical malpractice.” See Order, attached hereto as Exhibit D, at 19, §61. Judge Tao
further determined that the allegations against the employees who were nurses or physicians
would indisputably require an expert affidavit for support under NRS 41A.017. Id. at 20, 163.
Therefore, given that the Plaintiff’s Complaint dis not name those individuals, but only named the

skilled nursing facility that employed them, a determination whether the provisions of NRS
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Chapter 41A applied to the cause of action against the employer was necessary. The Court
recognized that while the definition of “providers of healthcare” did not include “facilities for
skilled nursing,” there was no specific exclusion for claims brought vicariously against employers
of physicians and nurses. Id., at 20, 1166-67. This is still the case. Based upon that ambiguity, the
Court looked to the intent of NRS Chapter 41A. The Court found as follows:

“It appears logical to the Court that the fundamental legislative
purposes of NRS Chapter 41A would be defeated if a plaintiff could
circumvent the affidavit requirement by simply omitting the
physicians or nurses who actually committed the malpractice from the
complaint and yet lodge the very same allegations vicariously against
the employer of those physicians and nurses. In most cases, the
employer would likely respond by filing a third-party claim for indemnity
or contribution against those doctors or nurses, with the practical result
that those doctors and nurses would end up as defendants in the lawsuit
without any affidavit ever having been filed by the plaintiff. Such a result
would be absurd and illogical and would provide a considerable loophole
through which a plaintiff could easily circumvent both the letter and spirit
of the affidavit requirement. As the Supreme Court noted in Fierle, courts
must consider ‘the policy and spirit of the law and will seek to avoid an
interpretation that leads to an absurd result™

Id., at 21, 168 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The scenario that was presented to Judge Tao in the Ferhart case is the exact situation that
is presented to this Court at present; whether Plaintiff will be allowed to circumvent the affidavit
requirement because she did not name any of the nurses at LCCPV as defendants even though her
causes action are very clearly based upon nursing negligence and the sole basis of liability on the
part of LCCPV is the “improper administration of prescription drugs and the alleged failure to
diagnose and treat a medical condition.” Id., at 19, 161. There can be no other conclusion but that
the provisions of NRS Chapter 41A must apply to LCCPV upon that basis.

Plaintiff will attempt to argue that her fourth cause of action for Bad Faith is a contract-

based claim and, therefore, cannot be subject to NRS Chapter 41A. However, that analysis is
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mistaken. Plaintiff alleges that there was an agreement between LCCPV and Curtis that was
somehow breached when Ms. Curtis was allegedly injured. However, as was true for all of
Plaintiff’s other claims, her allegations are rooted in professional negligence.

In State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins., Co. v. Wharton, the Nevada Supreme Court held:

In determining whether an action is on the contract or in tort, we deem it
correct to say that it is the nature of the grievance rather than the form of
the pleadings that determines the character of the action. If the complaint
states a cause of action in tort, and it appears that this is the
gravamen of the complaint, the nature of the action is not changed by
allegations  in regard to the existence of or breach of a contract. In
other words, it is the object of the action, rather than the theory upon
which recovery is sought that is controlling.

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins., Co. v. Wharton, 88 Nev. 183, at 186; 495 P.2d 359, at 361

(1972)(citations omitted)(emphasis added); see also Hartford Ins. Statewide Appliances, 87 Nev.

195, 197, 484 P.2d 569, 571 (1971)(explaining that the object of the action, rather than the legal
theory under which recovery is sought, governs when determining the type of action for statute of
limitations purposes). Other jurisdictions are in accord. Specifically, California Courts have held
that:

A plaintiff may not, however, circumvent the statute of limitations merely
by pleading an action which is in substance a tort as a contract. It is settled
that an action against a doctor arising out of his negligent treatment is an
action sounding in tort and not one based upon a contract.

Christ v. Lipsitz, 99 Cal.App.3d 894, 899, 160 Cal. Rptr. 498, 501 (1979)(held that the

plaintiff’s cause of action for breach of contract arises solely from the physician’s alleged

negligent vasectomy and sounds in tort); See also Bellah v. Greenson, 81 Cal.App.3d 614, 625,

146 Cal.Rptr. 535, 542 (1978) (plaintiff’s “negligent breach of contract” claim against physician
sounded in tort not contract).
The Nevada Supreme Court more recently took up a case with a similar set of facts. In

Alvarez v. Garcia (Eighth Judicial District Court, Case No. A533914), Plaintiff alleged that the

Defendant Physician negligently and tortiously injected saline into her breasts without her consent
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during a liposuction procedure. Plaintiff’s Complaint alleged both tort-based causes of action for,
amongst other things, Negligence and Medical Malpractice, while also pleading contract-based
causes of action based upon the same tortious conduct. Defendants moved for judgment as a
matter of law on Plaintiff’s contract-based causes of action (after Plaintiff’s tort-based causes of
action were dismissed on the basis that the Statute of Limitations had expired) arguing that
Plaintiff’s “contract” claims did not sound in contract, but rather sounded in tort and, therefore,
were also barred by the applicable Statute of Limitations. The District Court denied Defendants’
Motion for Summary Judgment and, subsequently, the Defendants filed an Emergency Writ with
the Nevada Supreme Court arguing, in part, that denial of Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment, thereby erroneously extending the applicable statute of limitations, was an improper

decision warranting the issuance of a Writ. See Garcia v. Eighth Judicial District Court of the State

of Nevada In and For the County of Clark, et al. (Nevada Supreme Court, Docket N0.58686). The

Nevada Supreme Court agreed with the Defendants and issued a Writ of Mandamus on November
22, 2011, dismissing Plaintiff’s case as to all Defendants. See Writ, attached hereto as Exhibit E.

Specifically, the Nevada Supreme Court stated:

The district court also was required to grant Garcia’s motion for summary
judgment. Alvarez alleged claims for breach of contract and breach of the
implied covenant of good  faith and fair dealing; however, the basis
for her claims are the saline injections that are  also the basis for her
tort claims. Alvarez argues that the informed consent for that she signed,
but that Dr. Garcia did not sign, was a contract for her liposuction
procedure. In determining whether an action is on a contract or in tort,
this court looks at the nature of the grievance to determine the
character of the action, not the form of the pleadings. “It is settled that an
action against a doctor arising our of his negligent treatment of a patient is
an action sounding in tort and not one based upon a contract. Accordingly,
Alvarez’s breach of contract claims sound in tort, and are subject to a two-
year statute of limitation.

(emphasis added).

As such, while Plaintiff attempts to style her Bad Faith claim as one based upon a breach
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of an alleged contract, the basis for her claim is the Morphine injection and negligent nursing care.
That is the very definition of a professional negligence claim.

As Plaintiff did not file her Complaint against LCCPV with an accompanying affidavit, her
Complaint must be dismissed in its entirety. Such a determination is supported by jurisprudence
from this District Court as well as the Nevada Supreme Court, as cited herein.

V.
CONCLUSION
Based upon the foregoing, Defendants respectfully request this Honorable Court grant this

Motion for Summary Judgment and dismiss Plaintiff’s claims in their entirety without leave to

amend.
DATED this 10" day of August, 2018
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
By /sl Amanda Brookhyser
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 006858
AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER
Nevada Bar No. 11526
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Tel. 702.893.3383
Attorneys for Defendants South Las Vegas
Medical Investors LLC dba Life Care Center of
South Las Vegas fka Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley, South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care
Centers of America, Inc., Carl Wagner,
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Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA

Electronically Filed
02/02/2017 03:42:58 PM
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MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. t

Nevada Bar No. 000878

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 362-7800

Facsimile: (702) 362-9472

E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com

-and-

CLERK OF THE COURT

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice Pending
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scoitsdale, Arizona 85260

Telephone:  (602) 553-4552

Facsimile: (602) 553-4557

E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* %k

CASE NO. A-17-750520-C

LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually,

Plaintiffs,

DEPTNO. XXIII

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES

1. Abuse/Neglect of an Older
SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL Person

VS.

INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER 2. Wrongful Death by Estate
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE 3. Wrongful Death by Individual
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH 4. Bad Faith Tort

LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO,
Administrator; CARL WAGNER,
Administrator; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants,

Plaintiffs Estate of Mary Curtis, deceased; Laura Latrenta, as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Mary Curtis; and Laura Latrenta, individually, by and through their attorneys of

record, Kolesar & Leatham and Wilkes & McHugh, P.A., hereby submit this Complaint against
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Defendants South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC dba Life Care Center of South Las Vegas
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley; South Las Vegas Investors Limited Partnership; Life
Care Centers of America, Inc,; Bina Hribik Portello; Carl Wagner; and Does 1 to 50, inclusive,
and allege as follows:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. Decedent Mary Curtis suffered significant physical injury while a resident at Life
Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley and ultimately a
painful death. At all times relevant she resided in the city of Las Vegas in the County of Clark,
Nevada and was an “older person” under N.R.S. § 41.1395. Ms. Curtis died on March 11, 2016
in Las Vegas, Nevada.

2. At all times material Plaintiff Laura Latrenta was a natural daughter and surviving
heir of Ms. Curtis. At all relevant times she was an individual and resident of Harrington Park,
New Jersey.

3. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times
Defendant South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC dba Life Care Center of South Las Vegas
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley was a limited liability company duly authorized,
licensed, and doing business in Clark County, Nevada and was at all relevant times in the
business of providing care to residents while subject to the requirements of federal and state law,
located at 2325 E. Harmon Ave., Las Vegas, NV 89119.

4. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times
Defendants Life Care Centers of America, Inc.; South Las Vegas Investors Limited Partnership;
South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC; and Does 1 through 25, and each of them, were and
are owners, operators, and managing agents of South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC dba
Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, such that they
controlled the budget for said Defendant which impacted resident care, collected accounts
receivable, prepared audited financial statements, contracted with various vendors for services,
and provided direct oversight for said Defendants in terms of financial and patient care

responsibility.
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5. Plaintiffs are informed ar;d believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times
Defendants Bina Hribik Portello and Carl Wagner were and are administrators of Life Care
Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley.

6. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that Defendants Does 26
through 50 are other individuals or entities that caused or contributed to injuries suffered by Ms.
Curtis as discussed below. (Hereinafler “Defendants” refers to South Las Vegas Medical
Investors, LLC dba Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley; South Las Vegas Investors Limited Partnership; Life Care Centers of America, Inc.; Bina
Hribik Portello; Carl Wagner; and Does 1 through 50.)

7. Plaintiffs will ask leave of Court to amend this Complaint to show such true
names and capacities of Doe Defendants when the names of such defendants have been
ascertained. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that each defendant
designated herein as Doe is responsible in some manner and liable herein by reason of
negligence and other actionable conduct and by such conduct proximately caused the injuries
and damages hereinafter further alleged.

8. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times
Defendants and each of them were the agents, servants, employees, and partners of their co-
Defendants and each of them; and that they were acting within the course and scope of
employment. Each Defendant when acting as principal was negligent in the selection, hiring,
training, and supervision of each other Defendant as its agent, servant, employee, and partner.

9. Every fact, act, omission, event, and circumstance herein mentioned and
described occurred in Clark County, Nevada, and each Defendant is a resident of Clark County,
has its principal place of business in Clark County, or is legally doing business in Clark County.

10. Each Defendant, whether named or designated as Doe, was the agent, servant, or
employee of each remaining Defendant. Each Defendant acted within the course and scope of

such agency, service, or employment with the permission, consent, and ratification of each co-

Defendant in performing the acts hereinafter alleged which gave rise to Ms. Curtis’s injuries. ‘

/117 :
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION — ABUSE/NEGLECT OF AN OLDER PERSON
(Abuse/Neglect of an older person by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)

11.  Plaintiffs hereby incorporate the allegations in all the foregoing paragraphs as
though set forth at length herein.

12.  Mary Curtis was born on 19 December 1926 and was therefore an “older person”
under N.R.S. § 41.1395. R

13.  On approximately 2 March 2016 Ms. Curtis was admitted to Life Care Center of
South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, a nursing home, for care and
supervision. Defendants voluntarily assumed responsibility for her care and to provide her food,
shelter, clothing, and services necessary to maintain her physical ;md mental health.

14. Upon entering Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of
Paradise Valley Ms. Curtis’s past medical history included dementia, hypertension, COPD, and
renal insufficiency. She had been hospitalized after being found on her bathroom ﬂoor on 27
February 2016; during her hospitalization it was determined that she would not be able to return
to her previous living situation and so following her hospital course she was transferred to Life
Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley for continuing
subacute and memory care.

15. During her Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of
Paradise Vglley residency Ms. Curtis was dependent on staff for her basic needs and her
activities of daily living.

16. Defendants knew that Ms. Curtis relied on them for her basic needs and that
without assistance from them she would be susceptible to injury and death.

17. Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge of Ms. Curtis’s fall risk they permitted
her to fall (causing her injuries) shortly after she entered Life Care Center of South Las Vegas
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley.

18. Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that Ms. Curtis was de}‘Jendent on
them for proper medication administration, they on 7 March 2016 administered to her a dose of

morphine prescribed to another resident. Ms. Curtis was not prescribed morphine.
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19.  Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that they had wrongly administered
morphine to Ms. Curtis, they failed to act timely upon that discovery, instead retaining Ms.
Curtis as a resident until 8 March 2016.

20.  Defendants eventually called 911 and emergency personnel transported Ms.
Curtis to Sunrise Hospital, where she was diagnosed with anoxic brain encephalopathy. She was
later transferred to Nathan Adelson Hospice on 11 March 2016 and died shortly thereafter.

2l.  Ms. Curtis’s death certificate records that her immediate cause of death was
morphine intoxication.

22.  As aresult of Defendants’ failures and conscious disregard of Ms. Curtis’s life,
health, and safety, she suffered unjustified pain, injury, mental anguish, and death.

23.  The actions of Defendants and each of them were abuse under N.R.S. §
41.1395(4)(a) and neglect under N.R.S. § 41.1395(4)(c).

24.  Defendants’ failures were made in conscious disregard for Ms. Curtis’s health and
safety and they acted with recklessness, oppression, fraud, or malice in commission of their
neglect or abuse of Ms. Curtis.

25.  Asadirect and legal result of Ms. Curtis’s injuries and death, her estate’s personal
representative is entitled to recover double her actual damages under N.R.S. § 41.1395.

26.  Asadirect and legal result of Ms. Curtis’s injuries and death, her estate’s personal
representative is entitled to attorney fees and costs under N.R.S. §41.1395.

27. Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that Ms. Curtis was dependent on
them for her basic needs and safety, they willfully and deliberately ignored and failed to avoid
the substantial risk and probability that she would suffer injury and death, so that Plaintiff is
entitled to punitive damages under N.R.S. § 42.001.

28. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ willful negligence and intentional
and unjustified conduct, Ms. Curtis suffered significant injuries and death. Defendants’ conduct
was a direct consequence of the motive and plans set forth herein, and Defendants are guilty of
malice, oppression, recklessness, and fraud, justifying an award of punitive and exemplary

damages.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Wrongful Death by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)

29.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in the foregoing
Qaragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

30. Defendants, their staff, and employees, in caring for Ms. Curtis, had a duty to
exercise the level of knowledge, skill, and care of those in good standing in the community.

31.  Defendants had a duty to properly train and supervise their staff and employees to
act with the level of knowledge, skill, and care of nursing homes in good standing in the
community.

32. Defendants and their agents and employees breached their duties to Ms. Curtis
and were negligent and careless in their actions and omissions as set forth above.

33.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches Ms. Curtis died on 11
March 2016 in Las Vegas, Nevada. ‘ .

34. As a direct and legal result of Ms. Curtis’s death, her estate’s personal
representative is entitled to maintain all actions on her behalf and is entitled under N.R.S. §
41.08S to recover special damages, including medical expenses incurred by Ms. Curtis before her
death, as well as funeral and burial expenses according to proof at trial.

35.  Despite Defendants’ notice and knowledge that Ms. Curtis was dependent on
them for her basic needs and safety, they willfully and deliberately ignored and failed to avoid
the substantial risk and probability that she would suffer injury and death, so that Plaintiff is also
entitled to punitive damages under N.R.S. § 42.001.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Wrongful Death by Laura Latrenta individually against all Defendants)

36. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the foregoing
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

37.  Plaintiff Laura Latrenta is a surviving daughter and natural heir of Mary Curtis.

38. Defendants, their staff, and employees, in caring for Ms. Curtis, had a duty to

exercise the level of knowledge, skill, and care of those in good standing in the community.
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39.  Defendants had a duty to properly train and supervise their staff and employees to
act with the level of knowledge, skill, and care of those in good standing in the community.

40. Defendants, and their agents and employees, breached their duties to Ms. Curtis
and were negligent and careless in their actions and omissions as set forth above.

41.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breaches Ms. Curtis died on 11
March 2016 in Las Vegas, Nevada.

42, Before her death, Ms. Curtis was a faithful, loving, and dutiful mother to her
daughter Laura Latrenta.

43.  As a further direct and proximate result of Defendants’ negligence Plaintiff Laura
Latrenta has lost the love, companionship, comfort, affection, and society of her mother, all to
her general damage in a sum to be determined according to proof. ’

44.  Under N.R.S. § 41.085 Plaintiff Laura Latrenta is entitled to recover pecuniary
damages for her grief, mental anguish, sorrow, physical pain, lost moral support, lost
companionship, lost society, lost comfort, and mental and physical pain and suffering.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Bad Faith Tort by the Estate of Mary Curtis against all Defendants)

45, Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate‘ by reference the allegations in the foregoing
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

46. A contract existed between Mary Curtis and Life Care Center of South Las Vegas
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley.

47, The contract, like every contract, had an implied covenant of good faith and fair
dealing. _

48. Mary Curtis’s vulnerability and dependence on Defendants created a special
relationship between her and Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of
Paradise Valley.

49, Mary Curtis’s vulnerability and dependence on Defendants meant that she had a
special reliance on Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise
Valley.
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50.  Life Care Center of South Las Vegas f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley’s
betrayal of this relationship goes beyond the bounds of ordinary liability for breach of contract
and results in tortious liability for its perfidy.

51.  Defendants’ perfidy constitutes malice, oppression, recklessness, and fraud,

justifying an award of punitive and exemplary damages.

52.  Wherefore, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against ail Defendants and each of them

as follows:

o mmuy oW »

premises.

For compensatory damages in an amount in excess of $10,000;
For special damages in an amount in excess of $10,000;

For punitive damages in an amount in excess of $10,000:

For reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred herein;

For additional damages pursuant to NRS Chapter 41;

For pre-judgment and post judgment interest; and

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper in the

DATED this ¥ day of February, 2017,
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. MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, EsQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

-and-

MELANIE L. BossIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
Pending

WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

REN YU ZHANG, M.D.; AND NEVADA No. 67219
SURGERY AND CANCER CARE, LLP,

ANEVADA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, FILED
Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

vs. SEP 12 2016
DILLON MATHEW BARNES,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant. CLERK GF SUPRENE COURT

DEPUTY CLERK

ORDER AFFIRMING IN PART, REVERSING IN PART, AND
REMANDING
This is an appeal and cross-appeal from an amended judgment
on a jury verdict in a medical malpractice action and from an order
denying a motion for judgment as a matter of law or a new trial. Eighth
Judicial District Court, Clark County; James M. Bixler, Judge.
| I
In May 2012, respondent/cross-appellant Dillon Barnes sued
appellant/cross-respondent Dr. Ren Yu Zhang and his employer,
appellant/cross-respondent Nevada Surgery and Cancer Care, LLP
(NSCC), for medical malpractice and negligent hiring, training, and
supervision, after a surgery left Barnes with severe burns. A jury found in
favor of Barnes, awarding him $2,243,988 in damages, of which
$2,000,000 consisted of noneconomic damages for past and future pain and
suffering. Barnes sued others, including the hospital at which the surgery
took place, but settled with them before trial.
A series of post-judgment motions followed entry of judgment

on the jury verdict. Through a post-trial juror interview, defense counsel
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discovered that an insurance declaration page showing Zhang’s
$1,000,000/$3,000,000 policy limits was inadvertently included as part of
an exhibit the jury reviewed. Zhang and NSCC moved for a new trial on
this basis. |

In addition to moving for a new trial, Zhang and NSCC moved
for judgment as a matter of law (JMOL) under NRCP 50(b) and to conform
the verdict to the law pursuant to NRCP 59(e). The motion for JMOL
disputed the imposition of liability on NSCC, while the motion to conform
sought to apply the $350,000 cap on noneconomic damages to both Zhang
and NSCC and to offset sums Barnes received from settlements. The
district court denied the motions for new trial and JMOL. It applied the
$350,000 statutory noneconomic damages cap to Zhang but not NSCC and
applied settlement and collateral source offsets. As a result of these
rulings, the district court entered an amended judgment awarding Barnes
$411,579.09 from Zhang and $1,243,988.00 from NSCC.

11

Zhang and NSCC appeal several substantive issues, including
whether the prejudicial insurance information the jury accidentally
received warrants a new trial, whether a professional medical association
such as NSCC can claim the benefit of the $350,000 cap on noneconomic
damages provided in NRS 41A.035, and whether appellants/cross-
respondents are entitled to settlement offsets. In his answering brief and
cross-appeal, Barnes raises two procedural challenges that must be
addressed first because, if we credit either challenge; it may eliminate in

whole or in part the substantive issues presented on appeal.
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A

Barnes challenges the timeliness of Zhang and NSCC’s post-
trial motions, arguing that EDCR 8.06(c) prohibits parties from extending
service by three days for mail or electronic means when filing a motion for
a new trial. The language in EDCR 8.06(c) is more restrictive than its
counterpart, NRCP 6(e). There is no restrictive language in NRCP 6(e)
that would exclude certain types of motions from adding three days for
electronic service. Cf. Winston Prods. Co. v. DeBoer, 122 Nev. 517, 524,
134 P.3d 726, 731 (2006) (“[W]e hold that the 10-day time period for filing
motions for judgment as a matter of law and for a new trial should be
calculated first under NRCP 6(a), excluding intermediate Saturdays,
Sundays and nonjudicial days. If service was made by mail or electronic
means, 3 days should thereafter be added pursuant to NRCP 6(e).”).
Under NRCP 83, local rules may “not [be] inconsistent with these rules.”
Thus, NRCP 6(e) controls. See W. Mercury, Inc. v. Rix Co., 84 Nev. 218,
222-23, 438 P.2d 792, 795 (1968) (“The district courts have rule-making
power, but the rules they adopt must not be in conflict with the Nevada
Rules of Civil Procedure.” (footnote omitted)). Accordingly, Zhang and
NSCC’s post-trial motions were timely.

B.

Barnes also challenges as procedurally defective NSCC’s
argument that the district court erred in denying its NRCP 50(b) renewed
motion for JMOL on Barnes’ claim of negligent hiring, training, and
supervision. This court reviews an order under either NRCP 50(a) or 50(b)
de novo. Nelson v. Heer, 123 Nev. 217, 223, 163 P.3d 420, 425 (2007).
Before trial, NSCC moved for summary judgment under NRCP 56 on

Barnes’ claim of negligent hiring, training, and supervision, which the
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district court denied. At the close of Barnes’ case-in-chief, NSCC moved
for JMOL under NRCP 50(a) as to punitive damages, but did not mention
the negligent hiring, training, and supervision claim. Post-trial, NSCC
filed an NRCP 50(b) motion for JMOL on the neéligent hiring, training,
and supervision claim, which Barnes challenged as procedurally deficient
in that NSCC did not move for JMOL under NRCP 50(a) as to that claim.
The district court did not address the procedural issue and denied the
NRCP 50(b) motion on the merits. On appeal, Barnes contends that,
despite NSCC’s motion for summary judgment, NSCC’s failure to move for
JMOL during trial under NRCP 50(a) on the issue of negligent hiring,
training, and supervision precluded its post-trial NRCP 50(b) motion on
that issue.

Under NRCP 50(b), a party “may renew its request for
judgment as a matter of law by filing a motion no later than 10 days after
service of written notice of entry of judgment.” A party must make the
same arguments in its pre-verdict NRCP 50(a) motion as it does in its
post-verdict NRCP 50(b) motion. See Price v. Sinnoit, 85 Nev. 600, 607,
460 P.2d 837, 841 (1969) (“It is solidly established that when there is no
request for a directed verdict, the question of the sufficiency of the
evidence to sustain the verdict is not reviewable. A party may not gamble
on the jury's verdict and then later, when displeased with the verdict,
challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support it.” (citations omitted)).
A pretrial motion for summary judgment is not a substitute for the NRCP
50(a) motion needed to preserve issues for review in a NRCP 50(b)
renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law. See, e.g., Jones ex rel.
United States v. Mass. Gen. Hosp., 780 F.3d 479, 488-89 (1st Cir. 2015)
(rejecting the argument that “a party satisfies Rule 50(b) by raising the

4
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same.grounds in his pretrial motion for summary judgment under Rule 56,
and consequently, no separate Rule 50(a) motion is required’ (internal
quotations and alterations omitted)); Sykes v. Anderson, 625 F.3d 294, 304
(6th Cir. 2010) (“[E]ven if a defendant raises .qualiﬁed immunity at
summary judgment, the issue is waived on appeal if not pressed in a Rule
50(a) motion.” (alteration in original) (quoting Parker v. Gerrish, 547 F.3d
1, 12 (1st Cir. 2008)); Sharp Structural, Inc. v. Franklin Mfg., Inc., 283 F.
App’x 585, 588 (9th Cir. 2008) (‘[R]aising an issue in a motion for
summary judgment is not sufficient to preserve it for review in a Rule
50(b) motion unless the argument is reiterated in a Rule 50(a) motion.”).
Though some courts have recognized an exception to the rule
that motions for summary judgment do not serve as a basis for a Rule
50(b) motion, the exception is limited to motions for summary judgment
that present pure issues of law. See, e.g., Frank C. Pollara Grp., LLC v.
Ocean View Inv. Holding, LLC, 784 F.3d 177, 185 (3d Cir. 2015) (“There is
an exception to this general rule, however, for an order denying summary
judgment on a ‘purely legal issue’ capable of resolution ‘with reference only
to undisputed facts.” (quoting Ortiz v. Jordan, 562 U.S. 180, 190 (2011)));
Varghese v. Honeywell Int’l], Inc., 424 F.3d 411, 423 (4th Cir. 2005)
(recognizing that some courts have allowed an exception for “appeals from
a denial of summary judgment after a trial where the summary judgment
motion raised a legal issue and did not question the sufficiency of the
evidence”). Both in its motion for summary judgment and in its NRCP
50(b) motion, NSCC challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to establish
Barnes’ claim of negligent hiring, training, and supervision. Thus,
because these issues are fact-based, even applying the exception for pure

questions of law that some federal courts have made, NSCC's pretrial
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motion for summary judgment does not excuse its failure to move for
JMOL under NRCP 650(a). Though the district court should have denied
the NRCP 50(b) motion for its procedural defect instead of addressing it on
the merits, the district court reached the correct résult in denying JMOL,
so we affirm its decision in that respect. See Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-
Mart Stores, Inc., 126 Nev. 592, 599, 245 P.3d 1198, 1202 (2010).

C.

Zhang and NSCC argue that a new trial is warranted based on
testimony mentioning Zhang had malpractice insurance and the
inadvertent submission to the jury of Zhang’s insurance declaration page.
“This court reviews a district court’s decision to grant or deny a motion for
a new trial for an abuse of discretion.” Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc.,
130 Nev., Adv. Op. 9, 319 P.3d 606, 611 (2014). A district court may, in its
discretion, order a new trial if there has been “plain error or manifest
injustice,” which exists “where ‘the verdict or decision strikes the mind, at
first blush, as manifestly and palpably contrary to the evidence.” Kroeger
Props. & Dev., Inc. v. Silver State Title Co., 102 Nev. 112, 114, 715 P.2d
1328, 1330 (1986) (quoting Price, 85 Nev, at 608, 460 P.2d at 842).

In this case, the first two references to insurance occurred
with NSCC’s own witness, Dr. Stephanie Wishnev, who mentioned
insurance twice in a general way while discussing how physicians become
qualified for employment at NSCC. The third reference to insurance
occurred with Barnes’ expert, Dr. Stephen McBride. During direct
examination, . Barnes’ counsel asked McBride to list everything he
reviewed in forming his opinion. McBride listed over 60 documents,
including “Dr. Zhang’s insurance policy.” Although Zhang and NSCC
immediately approached the bench, asking for a mistrial, which the

6
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district court ultimately denied, both parties and the district court
recognized that a limiting instruction may draw more attention to the fact
that Zhang had malpractice insurance and, thus, decided against the
instruction. However, the district court admorﬁshed counsel and the
witness to omit all references to insurance.

Also, pre-trial, the parties stipulated to admit a number of
exhibits, some of which were voluminous. Among those exhibits was
Zhang's hospital credentialing file, which apparently included as an
attachment an insurance declaration page showing Zhang had malpractice
insurance. This exhibit was submitted to the jury and, by inadvertence,
neither party noticed the insurance declaration page. After Zhang's
counsel discovered the existence of the insurance declaration page in a
post-trial interview with jurors, she supplemented her motion for a new
trial with a declaration from a juror that, during deliberations, the juror
saw the insurance information with the policy limits. When ruling on
Zhang’s motion for a new trial, the district court made a specific finding of
fact that the insurance declaration page was admitted into evidence and it
showed that Zhang had a policy limit of $1,000,000. Nevertheless, the
district court denied Zhang’s motion for a new trial, concluding in part
that Zhang and NSCC had relied on the credentialing file during trial,
they received a fair trial, and “[t]here was no accident or surprise which
ordinary prudence could not have guarded against. Both parties were
given the opportunity to review the evidence binders that were given to
the jury.”

We conclude that the few references to insurance—two of
them to the concept of insurance generally and one specific to Zhang—do

not rise to the level of prejudice necessary to warrant a new trial. Cf.
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Silver State Disposal Co. v. Shelley, 105 Nev. 309, 313, 774 P.2d 1044,
1047 (1989) (allowing mention of insurance in voir dire because, “in an age
of mandatory automobile insurance, we recognize that even
unsophisticated jurors are often aware of the fact that insurance coverage
may exist and thus, some preiudice may be unavoidable” (footnote
omitted)); Stackiewicz v. Nissan Motor Corp. 100 Nev. 443, 453, 686 P.2d
925, 931 (1984) (citing Holden v. Porter, 405 F.2d 878 (10th Cir. 1969), for
the proposition that “mention of insurance coverage [is] not misconduct”).
The inadvertent submission to the jury of Zhang’s insurance
declaration page, on the other hand, had the potential to prejudice the
trial. As challengers to the district court’s decision, Zhang and NSCC
carried the burden to show that the district court abused its discretion in
denying their motion for a new trial. See Gunderson, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 9,
319 P.3d at 611. On appeal, Zhang and NSCC failed to include exhibit 32,
Zhang's credentialing file, which contained the insurance declaration
page(s) the jury received. NRAP 30(d) provides, “Copies of relevant and
necessary exhibits shall be clearly identified, and shall be included in the
appendix as far as practicable.” Clearly, it was error for this exhibit to go
to the jury, but without the exhibit in the record on appeal, this court is
deprived of the opportunity to fully assess prejudice and, so, whether the
district court abused its discretion in denying a new trial on this basis.
Without the exhibit, this court cannot understand precisely what the jury
saw and how that information appeared in the context of the exhibit as a
whole. We therefore affirm the district court’s denial of Zhang and
NSCC’s motion for a new trial. See Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of
Nev., 123 Nev. 598, 603, 172 P.3d 131, 135 (2007) (“When an appellant
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fails to include necessary documentation in the record, we necessarily
presume that the missing portion supports the district court’s decision.”).
D.

Of the $2,243,988 the jury awarded Barnes in damages,
$2,000,000 was for pain and suffering, which NRS 41A.011 denominates
“noneconomic damages.” NRS 41A.035 limits the noneconomic damages
recoverable in a professional negligence action to $350,000. The district
court applied the $350,000 cap to Zhang but not to NSCC, a ruling NSCC
appeals. Whether NRS 41A.035 limits NSCC'’s liability for noneconomic
damages to $350,000 as it does Zhang’s presents a question of law and
statutory interpretation that we review de novo. See Zohar v. Zbiegien,
130 Nev., Adv. Op. 74, 334 P.3d 402, 405 (2014).

As written before its amendment in 2015, NRS 41A.035
(2004) read as follows:

In an action for injury or death against a
provider of health care based upon professional
negligence, the injured plaintiff may ' recover
noneconomic damages, but the amount of
noneconomic damages awarded in such an action
must not exceed $350,000.

“Provider of health care” and “professional negligence” are both defined
terms. As written before their 2015 amendment, NRS 41A.017 (2011)

defined “provider of health care” to mean “a physician licensed under

'The 2015 amendments to NRS 41A.035 added the phrase
“regardless of the number of plaintiffs, defendants or theories upon which
liability may be based,” to the end of the sentence. 2015 Nev. Stat., ch.
439, § 3, at 2526. This amendment did not change NRS 41A.035; it
clarified it. See Tam v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 80,
358 P.3d 234, 240 (2015).
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chapter 630 or 633 of NRS, dentist, licensed nurse, dispensing optician,
optometrist, registered physical therapist, podiatric physician, licensed
psychologist, chiropractor, doctor of Oriental medicine, medical laboratory
director or technician, licensed dietitian or a liéensed hospital and its
employees,” while NRS 41A.015 (2004) defined “[p]rofessional negligence”
to mean “a negligent act or omission to act by a provider of health care in
the rendering of professional services, which act or omission is the
proximate cause of a personal injury or wrongful death. The term does not
include services that are outside the scope of services for which the

provider of health care is licensed or services for which any restriction has

{been imposed by the applicable regulatory board or-health care facility.”

NSCC argues that, as a professional medical association, its
liability is derivative from Zhang’s and, therefore, its liability should not
exceed his. Barnes counters that NSCC does not fit into the statutory
definition of “provider of health care” and that liability for negligent
hiring, training, and supervision is not “based upon professional
negligence.” As the claims in this case were for professional negligence
arising out of Zhang’s services, we agree with NSCC.

1.

On the question of applying NRS 41A.035 to a defendant-
doctor's professional medical association, this court confronted an
analogous issue in Flierle v. Perez, 125 Nev. 728, 219 P.3d 906 (2009),
overruled on other grounds in Egan v. Chambers, 129 Nev., Adv. Op. 25,
299 P.3d 364, 365, 367 (2013). Fierle addressed the expert affidavit
requirement in NRS 41A.071, rather than the cap on noneconomic
damages imposed by NRS 41A.035. Id. at 734-35, 219 P.3d at 910. Asin
this case, though, the plaintiff in Fierle argued that, while NRS Chapter
41A protected the defendant-doctor by requiring an expert affidavit, the
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statutes did not by their terms extend the protection to the doctor’s
professional medical corporation, whom the plaintiff had also sued. See id.
at 734, 219 P.3d at 910 (“Appellants argue that under these statutes an
affidavit from a medical expert is not requiréd in suits against a
professional medical corporation.”). At the time, NRS Chapter 41A
required an expert affidavit to support “an action for medical malpractice,”
see NRS 41A.071 (2002), while NRS 41A.009 (1985) defined “medical
malpractice” as “the failure of a physician, hospital or employee of a
hospital, in rendering services, to use the reasonable care, skill or
knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances.” 1985 Nev. Stat.,
ch. 620, § 4, at 2006 (emphasis added).? Recognizing that professional
medical entities were not mentioned in NRS 41A.009'’s list of persons who
could commit medical malpractice protected by NRS 41A.071’s affidavit
requirement, Fierle, 125 Nev. at 734, 219 P.3d at 910, we nonetheless
looked to NRS Chapter 89, addressing professional business associations,
and extended NRS Chapter 41A’s affidavit requirement to the doctor’s
professional medical corporation, equally with the doctor himself. Id. at
735, 219 P.3d at 910-11; see also id. at 741, 744, 219 P.3d at 914, 916
(Pickering, J., concurring and dissenting) (noting cases supporting the
extension of medical malpractice protections to a physician’s corporate
entity as well as the physician where the claim arises out of medical
treatment of a patient). In doing so, we stated “NRS Chapters 41A and 89

must be read in harmony” and that, so read, “the provisions of NRS

2The 2015 Legislature amended NRS 41A.071 to substitute
“professional negligence” for “medical malpractice” and repealed NRS
41A.009. See 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 439, §§ 6, 12, at 2527, 2529.
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Chapter 41A must be read to include professional medical corporations.”
Id. at 735, 219 P.3d at 910-11.

At the time Fierle was decided, NRS 41A.071's affidavit
requirement only applied to “medical malpractice’ rather than
“professional negligence” actions. See supra note 2. In addition to
requiring an affidavit to bring suit against a professional medical
corporation, Fierle equated “medical malpractice” with “professional
negligence,” using this logic to extend NRS 41A.071's affidavit
requirement to nurses and nurse practitioners. Id. at 736-38, 219 P.3d at
911-12. In Egan, 129 Nev., Adv. Op. 25, 299 P.3d 364, this court overruled
Fierle to the extent it deemed “medical malpractice” and “professional
negligence” to be one and the same. The Egan court therefore reversed an
order dismissing a suit against a podiatrist and the medical group that
employed him for want of an NRS 41A.071 affidavit. Egan held that,
because a podiatrist was not a “physician” as defined in NRS 41A.013, the
action was for “professional negligence,” not for “medical malpractice,” and
NRS 41A.071 did not apply. Id. at 366-67.

Barnes urges us to disregard Fierle because it was overruled
in Egan. But Egan did not address Fierle’s holding with respect to
professional medical associations and the need to read NRS Chapters 41A
and 89 together. While Egan reversed the order of dismissal against both
the podiatrist and the medical group that employed him, it did so on the
basis the claim asserted was for professional negligence, not medical
malpractice, so NRS- 41A.071 did not apply. This case, by contrast,
presents no issue as to the distinction between “medical malpractice” and

“professional negligence.” The cap in NRS 41A.035 applies to all actions
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for “professional negligence,” not just the subset of actions for medical
malpractice.

Under NRS 89.060 and NRS 89.220, as interpreted in Fierle, a
physician’s professional corporation, equally with the physician himself,
can be a “provider of healthcare” for purposes of the cap NRS 41A.035
imposes on noneconomic damages in professional negligence actions.® In
2015, in fact, the Legislature amended the definition of “provider of
healthcare” in NRS 41A.017 to expressly so state.? This amendment did
not change but clarified the law, stating in express statutory terms the
result reached on the issue of the interplay between NRS Chapters 40 and
89 in Fierle. Much as in Tam, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 80, 358 P.3d at 240, we
view the 2015 amendments to NRS 41A.017 and NRS 41A.035 as
confirming our reading of the applicable statutory scheme. We therefore

SWe reject Barnes’ argument that a professional medical corporation .
is not a “person” for purposes of NRS Chapter 89. See NRS 0.039 (defining
“person” to encompass “any form of business or social
organization . . . including; but not limited to, a corporation, partnership,
association, trust or unincorporated organization”).

“The 2015 amendments to NRS 41A.017 (2011) are shown in italics:

“Provider of healthcare’ means a physician
licensed funder} pursuant to chapter 630 or 633 of
NRS, physician assistant, dentist, licensed nurse,
dispensing optician, optometrist, registered
physical therapist, podiatric physician, licensed
psychologist, chiropractor, doctor of Oriental
medicine, medical laboratory director or
technician, licensed dietitian or a = licensed
hospital, clinic, surgery center, physicians’
professional corporation or group practice that
employs any such person and its employees.

2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 439, § 2, at 2526.

13
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reject Barnes’ argument that the 2015 amendment to NRS 41A.017
signified the Legislature’s view that, before its amendment, NRS 41A.017
implicitly excluded professional medical corporations from NRS Chapter
41A.

2.

There remains the question whether Barnes’ claims against
NSCC were for “professional negligence,” a requirement that also must be
met before NRS 41A.035 can apply. This court has interpreted the term
“professional negligence” broadly, concluding that it encompasses the term
“medical malpractice.” Tam, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 80, 358 P.3d at 242.
Given this broad definition, a case-by-case approach is appropriate to
determine whether a professional negligence statute applies to claims
grounded on legal theories besides malpractice. See Smith v. Ben Bennett,
Inc., 35 Cal. Rptr. 3d 612, 615 (Ct. App. 2005) (“|W]hen a cause of action is
asserted against a health care provider on a legal theory other than
medical malpractice, the courts must determine whether it is nevertheless
based on the ‘professional negligence’ of the health care provider so as to
trigger [the Medical Injury Compensation Reform Act (MICRA)]. The
answer is sometimes yes and sometimes no, depending on the particular
cause of action and the particular MICRA provision at issue.”).

In declining to apply NRS 41A.085 to cap NSCC'’s Liability, the
district court relied on our unpublished decision in McQuade v. Ghazal
Mountain Dental Group, P.C., Docket Nos. 61347, 61846 (Order of
Reversal and Remand, September 24, 2014), for the proposition that
“McQuade did not have to comply with NRS 41A.071[s affidavit
requirement] because the action was based on respondeat superior and

negligent hiring, not medical or dental malpractice.” While this assertion
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is correct, McQuade interpreted NRS 41A.071, which, as noted above, only
applied to “an action for medical malpractice or dental malpractice,” not
professional negligence, prior to 2015. See 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 439, § 6, at
2527. Here, on the other hand, NRS 41A.035 (2004) applied to actions
“based upon professional negligence,” which, as articulated in Tam, 131
Nev., Adv. Op. 80, 358 P.3d at 242, is broader than and encompasses
medical malpractice.

Based ‘on the complex factual inquiry in each case-by-case
claim of whether negligent hiring, training, and supervision amounts to
professional negligence, it is no surprise that courts have split on whether
such claims are independent of medical malpractice or professional
negligence. Compare James v. Kelly Trucking Co., 661 S.E.2d 329, 331
(8.C. 2008) (noting that an “employer’s liability under [a negligent hiring, -
training, and supervision] theory does not rest on the negligence of
another, but on the employer's own negligence”), with Blackwell v.
Goodwin, 513 S.E.2d 542, 545-46 (Ga. Ct. App. 1999) (determining that
the statute of repose for medical malpractice claims applies to plaintiff's
claims against the nurse’s employer for negligent hiring, retention,
supervision, and entrustment because the claims arose out of the nurse’s
administration of an injection, which involved the exercise of her
professional skill and judgment).

A case-by-case analysis of whether claims asserted by a
plaintiff are grounded in professional negligence will avoid a rule of
pleading and ensure a rule of substance. Thus, the threshold issue is
whether Barnes’ negligent hiring, training, and supervision claim is truly
an independent tort or whether it is related and interdependent on the

underlying negligence of Zhang.
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Although in the context of an insurance coverage dispute,
some courts have held that claims of negligent hiring, training, and
supervision that are inherently interdependent on and an intricate part of
the negligent rendering of professional medical treatment are subject to
the “professional services exclusion,” just like medical malpractice. See
Duncanville Diagnostic Ctr., Inc. v. Atl. Lloyd’s Ins. Co. of Tex., 875 S.W.2d
788, 791 (Tex. Ct. App. 1994). For example, in Duncanville, an insurance
company for a professional medical corporation sought a declaratory
judgment that it did not have a duty to defend under its policy after the
medical corporation’s radiological technicians administered too much
sedative to a 4-year old girl, leading to her ultimate death. Id. at 790.
The insurance policy contained what is known as a “professional services
exclusion,” “providing that coverage does not apply to bodily injury ‘due to
the rendering or failure to render any professional service.” Id. The
plaintiffs argued that the professional services exclusion did not apply to
their claim of negligent hiring, training, and supervision. Id. at 791. The
Texas Court of Appeals rejected that argument:

There would have been no injury in this case and
no basis for the [plaintiffs’] lawsuit without the
negligent rendering of professional medical
treatment. Stated more specifically, Erica’s death
could not have resulted from the negligent hiring,
training, and supervision or from the negligent
failure to institute adequate policies and
procedures without the negligent rendering of
professional medical services. The negligent acts
and omissions were not independent and mutually
exclusive; rather, they were related and
interdependent. Therefore, the professional
services exclusion operated to exclude coverage
not only for the claims of negligence in rendering
the professional services but also for the related
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allegations of negligent hiring, training, and
supervision. . ..

Id. at 791-92.

When negligent hiring claims are inextricably linked to the
underlying professional negligence, courts have held that the negligent
hiring claim is more akin to vicarious liability than an independent tort.
See Am. Registry of Pathology v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 461 F. Supp. 2d 61, 70
(D.D.C. 2006) (“Even though the complaints allege that [the American
Registry of Pathology] was negligent in hiring Ms. Stevens, [a
cytotechnologist,] the injuries in question were caused by—i.e. ‘arose out
of —Ms. Steven’s failure to perform the cytopathology tests properly. In
that sense, the negligent hiring claims are similar to the vicarious liability
claims because they seek to hold the employer responsible for the
negligent acts of the employee.”); Holmes Reg’l Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Dumigan,
151 So. 3d 1282, 1285 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2014) (citing Martinez v.
Lifemark Hosp. of Fla., Inc., 608 So. 2d 855, 856-57 (Flé. Dist. Ct. App.
1992) for the proposition that “the case should be handled under the
[Florida Medical Malpractice Act] because plaintiffs asserted claims of
negligent hiring and retention, fraud and misrepresentation, and
intentional tort were necessarily and inextricably connected to negligent
medical treatment”).

In cases such as this, when a negligent hiring, training, and
supervision claim is based upon the underlying negligent medical
treatment, the liability is coextensive. Negligent hiring, training, and
supervision claims cannot be used as a channel to allege professional
negligence against a provider of health care to avoid the statutory caps on
such actions. While a case-by-case approach is necessary because of the

inherent factual inquiry relevant to each claim, it is clear to us, in this
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case, that the allegations against NSCC were rooted in Zhang’s
professional negligence. Thus, Barnes’' negligent hiring, training, and
supervision claim is subject to the statutory caps under NRS 41A.035.
And, in light of this court’s holding in Tam, under NRS 41A.035 (2004),
Barnes is only entitled to receive a total of $350,000 for noneconomic
damages “per incident, regardless of how many plaintiffs, defendants, or
claims are involved.” 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 80, 358 P.3d at 240.

E.
Our holding that NSCC is a provider of health care and

therefore entitled to have its liability for noneconomic damages capped at
$360,000 requires remand to the district court for recalculation of the
judgment as to NSCC. To the extent that, as a provider of health care
being held liable for professional negligence, NSCC is severally liable, it
does not appear to be entitled to a settlement offset. See NRS 41A.045
(stating that providers of health care will only be liable severally, not
jointly); Piroozi v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 100, 363
P.3d 1168, 1172 n.4 (2015) (“[Blecause the petitioners are only severally
liable for their portion of the apportioned negligence damages, they are not
entitled to-an offset.”); see also Appellants’ Opening Brief, p. 36, note 4
(“Defendants recognize that the District Court’s failure to offset the
settlement against Dr. Zhang’s liability is harmless error so long as his
liability is capped under NRS 41A.035....). As between Zhang and
NSCC, the apportionment of liability is unclear. The verdict form refers
“Dr. Zhang” and “All Others,” without specifically apportioning NSCC’s
liability, yet, as a defendant held liable on a theory of negligent hiring for
the same injury Zhang caused, including the capped $350,000 in

noneconomic damages, NSCC’s liability appears vicarious. As this issue

18

(0) 1947A €

s T
s AR
PRI AT D LN

APPO79




Nevaoa

was not adequately briefed or developed, it is inappropriate to address it
for the first time on appeal.

In remanding, we decline to disturb the district court’s
collateral source offset for the portion of Barnes’ medical bills forgiven by
Southern Hills Hospital. See NRS 42.021(1). Barnes’ challenge on cross-
appeal to the district court’s offset of $84,813.80 under NRS 42.021 was
limited to the sufficiency of evidence presented. Barnes argued that the
district court erred by relying solely on an interrogatory answer. This was
not the only evidence presented to the district court, however, as Zhang
and NSCC attached to their NRCP 59(e) motion a hospital bill showing
the amount the distriet court credited. Accordingly, we

| ORDER the judgment of the district cowrt AFFIRMED IN
PART AND REVERSED IN PART AND REMAND this matter to the

district court for proceedings consistent with this order.

/JWM .

ngdesty C
& . ] v r»/) J.
Do 3 J Cherry I/
2 86"\'3 . “ieku d.
Gibbons Pickering J

5The Honorable Ron Parraguirre, Chief Justice, did not participate
in the decision of this matter.
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Hon. James M. Bixler, District Judge

Lansford W. Levitt, Settlement Judge

Maupin Naylor Braster

Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith, LLP/Las Vegas
David N. Frederick

Kravitz, Schnitzer & Johnson, Chtd.

Eighth District Court Clerk
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HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC
1160 NORTH TOWN CENTER DRIVE

SuiTE 200
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89144

702-889-6400

FACSIMILE: 702-384-6025

TELEPHONE:

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

NEO

KENNETH M. WEBSTER, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 7205

JONQUIL L. WHITEHEAD, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10783 |
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC
1160 North Town Center Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89144

(702) 889-6400 — Office

(702) 384-6025 — Facsimile
kwebster@hpslaw.com
iwhitehead@hpslaw.com

Electronically Filed

10/15/2015 10:48:07 AM

IR

CLERK OF THE COURT

Attorneys for Defendant
El Jen Medical Hospital, Inc.
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
SCOTT RULAND, individually, and as Special | CASE NO. A695709
Administrator for the estate of the decedent, DEPT NO. XXXI
ELEANOR SUSAN RULAND,
Plaintiff,
Vs.
EL JEN MEDICAL HOSPITAL, INC., and

DOES I'through X, and ROE CORPORATIONS
I through X, inclusive;

Defendants.

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER

Page 1 of 2
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HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC
1160 NORTH TOWN CENTER DRIVE

SUITE 200
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89144

TELEPHONE: 702-889-6400

702-384-6025

FACSIMILE:

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend the
Complaiﬁt and Plaintiff’s Motion for Declaratory Relief Under NRS 30.040 was entered in the
above-entitled Court on the 13" day of October, 2015, a copy of which is attached hereto.

DATED this 15" day of October, 2015.

HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC

By: __/s/: Jonquil Whitehead
KENNETH M. WEBSTER, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 7205
JONQUIL L. WHITEHEAD, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10783
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC
1160 North Town Center Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89144
Attorneys for Defendant
El Jen Medical Hospital, Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD),
LLC; that on the 15t day of October, 2015, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER via E-Service on Wiznet pursuant to mandatory NEFCR|
4(b) to the following parties:

Clay R. Treese, Esq.

THE LAW OFFICE OF CLAY R TREESE
2272-1 South Nellis Boulevard

Las Vegas, NV 89142

-and-

James J. Ream, Esq.

333 North Rancho, Suite 530

Las Vegas, NV 89106

Attorney for Plaintiff

/s/: Diana Cox
An employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC

4810-8067-4857, v. 1

Page 2 of 2
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HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC

F160 NorTs TownN CENTER DRIVE

RUrvE 260

LAS VEGAS, NEVaDa 83133

TELEPBONE: 702-8R9-6400

FacsiviLe: 702-384-6023

6

37

I8

19

- ELEANOR SUSAN RULAND, ..

Electronically Filed

10/13/2015 03:11:28 PM

ORDR % i'ke"‘:’“'"

KENNETH M. WEBSTER, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 7205

JONQUIL L. WHITEHEAD, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10783

HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC
1160 North Town Center Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89144

(702} 889-6400 — Office

(702) 384-6025 ~ Facsimile
kwebsteri@hpslaw.com
iwhitehead@hpslaw.com

Asrorneys for Defendarnt

El Jen Medical Hospital, Inc.

- DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
SCOTT RULAND, individually, and as Special | CASE NO, A695709
Administrator for the estate of the decedent, DEPT NO. XXX1
Plaintift,
Vs,
EL JEN MEDICAL HOSPITAL, INC,, and

DOES I through X, and ROE CORPORATIONS
I through X, inclusive;

Defendants.

ORDER BENYING
PLAINTIFF’'S MOTION TO AMEND THE COMPLAINT AND

?LAiNTIFF’S MOTION FOR BECLARATORY RELIEF UNDER NRS 30.040

CLERK OF THE COURT

PLAINTIFF filed a Motion for Leave to Amend the Complaint on August 10, 2015 and 4
Motion for Declaratory Reliel Under NRS 30.040 on August 27, 201S. DEFENDANT filed
Opposiﬁons to both motions on August 27, 2015 and September 14, 2015, respectively.
PLAINTIFF filed his replies o DEFENDANT’s oppositions on September 15, 2015 and

September 23, 2015, respectively. This matter having come on for hearing on September 29,

RN [ o M :‘
DL ML vt
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HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC

F160 NORTI TOWN Centrs DRyvy

Sty ve 2460
LASYRUAS, NEvapa 89544

TELYPHONE: TH2-889-6340

Farsiar g 7023846025

o

k¥

16 |

(7 !

{8

14

“

2013, before Honorable Judge Joanna . Kishner. Jonquil Whitehead, Esq., of the law offices oij'
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC, appeared for Defendant. James J. Ream, Esq., and
Clay R..'I'rccse, Esq., appeared for Plaintiff,

The Court having reviewed the papers and pleadings on file, argument by all counsel and
being fully advised in the premises, and other good cause appearing, hereby renders the
following:

[T IS HEREBY ORDERED that PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR J.’)E-C.LARATORY
RELIEF UNDER NRS 30,040 is DENIED.

TP AS PURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that the claim of “Professional Negligence™
against DEFUNDANT, a skifled nursing facility, in this case is governed by NRS 41A. The
Court finds this based on the nature of the claim of “Professional Neghgence” pled as a failure to
meel the standard of care by a professional covered by NRS 41A (“a licensed n urse™), there 15 no
case law or statute that exempts a skilled nursing facility fromr NRS 41A, and this matter has
been part of three medical malpractice status checks and treated as a medical malpractice case

since its filing on February 6, 2014,

Page 2 0f 3

APP086



HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC

H68 NorTs TOWN CENTER DRIVE

Suirre 294 ‘
LAS VEGAS, NEVABA §97144

702-889-6464

TELEPIIONE?

l’A(‘SleiLE: 742-384-5023

26

27

28
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[T 1S FURTHER HEREBY QRDERED that PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO
AMEND THE COMPLAINT is DENIED pursvant to Nutton v. Sunset Station, 131 Nev,
Advanced Opinion 34 (June 2015) as PLAINTIFF failed to demonstrate good cause for this
untimely request to amend the Complaint afier the deadline.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
DATED this 8 day of October, 2015,

FeN

OURT JUDGE JOANNA S. KISHNER

Approved as to form and content:

Respecifully Submitted by:

A

/80 James Ream, Esq.

KENNETH M. WEBSTER, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 72035

Clay R. Treese, Esq.

THE LAW OFFICE OF CLAY R TREESE
JONQUIL L. WHITEHEAD, ESQ. 2272-1 South Nellis Boulevard

Nevada Bar No, 10783 Las Vegas, NV 89142

HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC -and-

1160 North Town Center Drive, Suite 200 James J. Ream, Bsq.

Las Vegas, NV 89144 333 North Rancho, Suite 530

Attorneys for Defendant Las Vegas, NV 89106

El Jen Medical Hospiial, Inc. Attorney for Plaintiff

A830-1822-3913. v, |
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Electronically Filed
3/22/2018 2:08 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
S. BRENT VOGEL &“} 'QL“‘"‘"‘

Nevada Bar No, 006858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com
AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER

Nevada Bar No. 11526

Amanda. Brookhyser@lewisbrisbois.com
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD. & SMITH LLp
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevatd, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

702.893.3383

FAX: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendants

Stanley M. Kidiavayi, RN

and Staffing Specialist, Inc.

—t

DISTRICT COURT
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CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

[y
(]

SAMANTHA HULME aka SAMANTHA CASE NO. A-15-724332-C
MARSHALL, Dept. No.: VI

Plaintiff, NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER

ok ek e
W N =

V8.

SUNRISE HOSPITAL AND MEDICAL
CENTER, LLC d/b/a SUNRISE HOSPITAL,
STANLEY M. KIDIAVAYI, RN; STAFFING
SPECIALISTS, INC.; DOES I through X,
inclusive, and ROE CORPORATIONS I
through X, inclusive, ROE Limited Liability
Company I through X, inclusive, ,

— et ek ok et
(=} ~3 (=) n o

Defendant.

19
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendant
20

21
22 || Amend Complaint was entered on the 21% day of March 2018. A copy of which is attached hereto.

Staffing Specialists” Motion for Summary Judgment and Granting Plaintiff’s Countermotion to

23
24
25
26
27

LEwis 28
BRISBOIS
BISGAARD

&SMIHUP 4818-7610-3005.1

ATIORMMEYS AT LAW

Case Number: A-15-724332C
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DATED this 22" day of March 2018.

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/ Amanda J. Brookhyser

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 006858

AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER

Nevada Bar No. 11526

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH rLp
6383 S. Rainbow Bouilevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Atrorneys for Defendants Stanley Kidiavayi, RN

and Staffing Specialist, Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 22™ day of March 2018, a true and correct copy of NOTICE
OF ENTRY OF ORDER to be served via the Court’s electronic filing and service system

(wiznet) to all parties on the current service list:

Michael Paul Wood, Esq. _
MICHAEL PAUL WOODS LAW OFFICE
601 S. 10™ Street, Suite 103

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Attorney for Plaintiff

Ken Webster, Esq.
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD
1160 North Town Center Drive, Suite 200

Las Vegas, NV 89144

/s/ Nicole Etierine
By: .
Employee of Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith, LLP

4818-7610-3005.1 2
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Electronically Filed
3/21/2018 4:02 PM
Steven D. Grierson

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 006858

AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER

Nevada Bar No. 11526

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLp
6385 8. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 85118

702.893,3383

FAX: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Stanley Kidiavayi, RN,
and Staffing Specialists, Inc,

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
SAMANTHA HULME aka SAMANTHA CASE NO. A-15-724332-C
MARSHALL, Dept. No.: VI
Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND
DENYING 1IN PART DEFENDANT
VS, STAFFING SPECIALIST'S MOTION
o ) 3 FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT
SUNRISE HOSPITAL AND MEDICAL AND GRANTING PLAINTIFF’S
CENTER, LLC dba SUNRISE HOSPITAL; COUNTERMOTION TO AMEND
STANLEY KIDIAVAYI, RN; STAFFING COMPLAINT
SPECIALISTS, INC.; DOES [ through X,
inclusive, and ROE CORPORATIONS I
through X, inclusive, ROE Limited Liability
Company I through X inclusive,
Deféndants.

THIS MATTER. having come on for hearing on the 23" day of January, 2018, Arhanda T.
Brookhyser, Esq.; of the Law Firm LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH, appearing on
behalf of Defendants Stanley Kidiavayi, RN, and Staffing Specialists; William Brenske, Esq.. of
the Law Firm BRENSKE & ANDREVSKI, appearing on behalf of Plaintiff; and James Fox, Esq.,
of the Law Firm HALL PRANGLE SCHOONVELD, appearing on behalf of Defendant Sunrise
Hospital and Medical Center, and the court having reviewed all applicable pleadings and having

heard and considered oral afgument; does order and find as follows:

M tri
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IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Defendant's Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment is DENIED in part and GRANTED in part. To the extent thai the
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment sought to have the pain and suffering damages cap in NRS
41A:035 apply to Staffing Specialists should it be found that the claims against Stariley Kidiavayi,
RN, are for professional negligence, the Motion is GRANTED. To the extent that the Motion
sought to have the court find that the claims against Stanley Kidiavayi, RN are for professional
negligence, the Motion is DENIED without prejudice as the court camnot make a determination at
this peint whether or not, as a matter of law, the claims against Stanley Kidiavayi, RN are for
protessional negligence or if they are for general negligence.
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IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Plaintiff’s Countermotion
to Amend Complaint is hereby GRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED.

Submitted by:

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH

| S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 006858
AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER

| Nevada Bar No. 11526

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Tel. 702.893.3383

Attorneys for Pefendants Stanley Kidiavayi, RN,
and Staffing Speciulists.

Approved as to Form and Content by:

HALL GLE SCHEOONVELD
2 P HoyeE
-

JOHN F. BEMIS, HSQ.
Nevada Bar No. 9509

SARAH SILVERMAN. ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13624

Attorneys for Sunrise Hospitad and
Medical Center

BRENSKE & ANDREVSKI

WILLIAM R. BRENSKE, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 1806

RYAN D, KRAMETBAULR, ESQ.
Nevada 3ar No. 12800

Attornevs for Plaintiff

4852-6873-7371.1 3
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that PlaintiiT's Countermotion

ogjo—

to Amend Complaint is hereby GRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED.

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
Submitted by:

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH

Y 0 2 & ;A W N

By
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No, 006858
AMANDA J. BROOKHYSER
| Nevada Bar No. 11526
6385 8. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
13 Tel. 702.893.3383
Attorneys for Defendants Stanley Kidiavayi. RN,
14 || and Siaffing Specialists.

10
11
12

15 || Approved as to Form and Content by:
16 || HALL PRANGLE SCHOONVELD KE & ANDREVSKI

17 //Z/ g =

18 JOHN F. BEMIS, ESQ. WILLIAM R. BRENSKE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 9509 Nevada Bar No. 1806
19 || SARAH SILVERMAN, ESQ. RYAN D. KRAMETBAUER. ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 13624 Nevada Bar No. 12800
20 || Aroraeys for Sunrive Hospital and Attorneys for Plaintiff

Medical Center

21
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24
25
26
27
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S.BRENT VOGEL.
Nevada Bar No. (06858
BRIANNA SMITH
Nevada Bar No. 11795

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH vip

6383 8. Rainbow: Blvd., Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
702.893.3383 - Main
702;89§.3789 - Facsimile
buogel@ibbslaw.com
besmith@ibbslaw.com o
Attorneys for TLC Holdings, LIC

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE ESTATE OF WILLARD FERHAT,

{ IOSEPHINE FERHAT, SPECIAL.

ADMINISTRATOR,
Plaintify,

V.

TLC HOLDINGS, LLC d/b/a TLC LONG
TERM CARE CENTER. and JOHN DOES |
through X, inclusive,

Defendant.

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an Otder Granting TLC Holdings, LLC d¢/b/a TLC Long

Term Care Center’s Motion to Dismiss was entered on the 19 day of December 2011, &.copy of

which is attached hereto:

RS IR0 1

oz S T

Electronically Filed
12/21/2011 09:05:22 AM

R

CLERK OF THE COURT

R

CASE NO. AS62984
DEPTNO.: XX

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER

DR062712090 .
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i DATED this_|]_day of December, 2011,

2 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & ’S:SE'{!TI'I LLP

3 4

43 4
SR/
4 d '
BY: el ff /
5 STBRENTOGEL /
" Nevada Bar No, 006838
BRIANNA SMITH
7 Nevada Bar No, 111795
’ 6385 8, Rainbow Blvid,, Suite 600

8 Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

s Atorneys for Pefendant TLC Haldings, L1C
18
{1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
12 ' Pursoant to NRCP 5(b), | certify that  am an employse of LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD &
3 SMITH LLe and that on i’his@}" day of Decensber, 2011, I did cause a true copy-of NOTICE OF
14 || ENTRY OF ORDER be placed in the United States Mail, with first class postage prepaid thereon,
- and addressed as follows:

o 1} Victor Lee Miller, Bsg.

16§ Law Office of Vietar Lee Miller

935 8. Decanur Biwd,

171 Las Vegas, NV 89107 o

i

o |[ATtorneyy for Plaintiff ) ;
18 o ,\“‘; ey \; f& { » A1
10 By S/ u,&;x%f ?}u}x,&,f
An Employee oft .~ S
7 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH wup
22
23
24
25
26
A7
ewis 2P
BRISBOIS
YSCARRG
SSMATH (P
NI A HRIASEIRTG, | 2
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'CLERK OF THE COURT
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3

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
ESTATE OF WILLARD FERHAT, etal,

}
1
i
i

Plaintiff(s), CASE NO.: A562984
V. DEPT. XX
TLC LONG TERM CARE, LTD.,, ’
Defendant(s). ‘
/i
 ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S

This'matter-having come ont for hearing on Decernber 14,2011, Victor Le¢
Miller, Esq., appearing for and on behalf of’Plainﬁﬁ"s;Brem S. Vogel, Esq., appearing
for and on behalf of Defendant, and the Court having heard arguments of counsel, and
being fuily advised in the premises, finds: :

(1} This matter comes before the Court on a Motion to Dismiss fifed by the
Defendant, TLC Holdings LLC, pursuant io Rule 32(b)(5)_‘0fﬁi€ Nevada Ridles of Civil
Procedure (NRCP),, The Defendant alleges t_hai_th:.e Complaint must be dismissed
because it-alleges a cause of action sounding in médical malpracticé pursuant to NRS
41A017 yet fails to include an affidavit of a medical expert as required by NRS
$1A071 :

) Summary judgment was previously granted by the Court (via Judge
Togliatt), but on appeal the Nevada Supreme Court reversed and remanded, finding that

additional discovery was necessary pursuant to NRCP 56(f). See Order of Reversal and
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Remand, No. 55347, issued August 3, 2011, However, in its Order, the Suprense Conn

avareschy left nees the atisetion now hefiwe this Crniet. In footnate 2 of its Order, the

expressly left open the question now before this Court. In footnote 2 of its Order, the

Supreme Court stated as follows:

“[Plaintiff] also contends that TLC improperly argues for the first time on
appeal that this case Talls within, the purview of NRS Chapter 41A's-gxpert
affidavit requirement, We conclude that TLC waived the issue by failing to
raise it below,,.. While TLC correctly. argues that [the Plaintiff] was required
o provide expert testimony concerning causation, we conclude that
[Plamufﬂ % not barred from dmng so because summiry judgment was
improperly granted at an early stage in the proceedings. See NRS 41A.100;
see also &omeke v. Hutherford, 120 Ney, 230, 235 n. .9 {2004) ("The
recent version of NRS 41A.100(1) wmmucs tc) require expert medical
testimony to prove medical negligence.™)."

(3} The parties driginally supplied briefing on this Motion to this Court for a
bearing scheduled on Noveraber 9, 2011, ARer reviewing the originel briefing, this
Couwrt issued an Order dated November 8, 2011, requesting additional bricfing by the

parties reparding certain Jegal issues. This Court heard oral argument-on the additional

briefing'on Decenber 14, 2011,

(4 Plaintff Josephine Perhat is the Special Administrator of the Estaté of
Willard Ferhat, the co-Plaintiff. The Defendant operdtes a residential cars facility
known as the TLC Long Term Care Ceter,

(3} The Plaintifls’ Complaint was filed on May 13, 2008, The Court notes that
the allegations of the Compluint arc pled generally. The Plaintiffs allege that the

decedent was lawfully on the Defendant's premises when he develaped muitiphe

3{ decabitis ulcers while wnsupervised or tarned (Paragraph V1); the Defendant, through its

officers, agents, servants and employees coramitted certain acts of negligence, namely
Faragraph VH; which glleges that the Defendant:
A, Failed to keep [decedent] safe while in their care;

B.  Failed to properly supervise [decedent] during his stay;
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€. TFailed fo properly inspect [decedent] so-a to.provide a proper sleeping
curface and clin eare

surface and skin care;

D.  Failed to wara Plaintiffs of a dangerous condition;

E. Permitted {decedent] to remain in a defestive and onsate condition when
Defendant knew of said condition or reasondbly should have known of the unsafe
condition

Finally, the Complaint alleges that the Plaintiffs were perrmanently injured as a

| proximate cause of the Defendant's negligence (Paragraphs VIIT and IX).

(6)  The general allegations of the Complaint have been supplemented by the
parties during discovery and during the briefing of this Mution. Accurding to the
Plaintifls' Brief, Willard Ferhat resided in the Deferidant's fagitity in convestion with
rehabilitation following a stroke. According to the Plaintiffs, the Defendant was
supposed to provide & clean and safe Jiving environment for Mr. Ferhat and to care for
his personal needs, including his personal hygierie. Allegedly, the Defendant was
negligent {through its officers, agents, servants and employees) in providing those
services and left M. Ferbt sitting in dirty diapets; failed to properly opevate  Special
matiress designed 1o prevent pressure sores from developing, and failed to regularly
repisition him in‘order to prevent bedsores from forming, all of which caused hiin to
develop decubitus ulcers and eventually sepsis (a blood infection) which hustened his
death.

(73 Additienally, in its Supplemental Brief, the Defendant has supplied
medieal records-and copics of Responses 1o Inferrogatories which they asser add detail
to'the alfegations of the Complaint and demonstrate that the acts/omissions {isted in the
Complaint actually fall within the scope of NRS 41A.017,

(8)  For example, Defendant's Interrogatory No. 13 requests: “deseribe in detail

the injuries, complaints and symptoms which you claim [the decedent] suffered as a

2
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result of the incident out of which this action arese." The Plaintiffs' Response to this
Yotaunmabam: afion s uarisryg of incidanto aad allpnatims  jnsinding wsh thines ac fhiking

{mcrrogatoty cites a variety of incidents and allegations, including such things as failing
to use clean gloves while handling the decedent, failing to regularly tuen the decedent so
that he developed bed sores, and allowing him to sit in soiled diapers for long periods of
time. As the Plaintiffs note, soine of these aliegations are, at Jeast arguably, not
activities normally performed by g licensed frse or physician or which involve the
exercise of professional medical judgment. |

(8)  However, "ché same Response: to this Interrogatory also includes the
following statements which appear to recite instances of alleged professional nsgligence

committed by nurses and phivsicians:

“[the decedent] didn't have his axygen. Traci..callfed] the doctor about the
oxygen.... The charge murse-came in about 15 minutes Jater.and put oxygen on my
husband and he did calm down."

"The staff also would not turn my busbsnd. They would say that he was too
heavy. He ended up with a stage U1 olcér on his léft heel. My son spoke to Dt
Jotgensen regarding this issue. Fe also spoke to hiny regardmg these medications
my husband was taking, specifically the Remeren and Neurontin, My husband
was s sedated he could aot go to physical therapy. Dr. Jorgensen said they gave
it 10 {the decedent] because he was depressed. We asked if he covld be off of it
bat they would not take hini off)®

“We brought up the medications and did not receive an answer...,As for the
medications, [the decedent] had nor been en those miedications at St. Rose
or before the stroke. He was so sleepy during the day that when he would
be-in the wheel cliair he would just sit with his head on his chest and not be
able 1o wheel himself fike he could at St. Rose. He was able o wheel
himself up and down the hall and now hie couldn't move at all. Because he
was 50 sedated he began 10 deteriorate and fose all of the function he had
gained back at 8t Rose....ARer being on these medications, he was unable
to complete any of these tasks. He began having trouble swallowing, he
was tow sedated to wheel himself, he had to be fod, he became a complete
trgnsfer and e bad to have help grooming. Also because of the sedation he
began to silently aspirate his own secretions.”

(10} By this Motion, the Defendant alleges that the aflegations of the
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1 Defendant averred that it operates a Heensed skilled nursing facility which is legally

| Defendant's employees performed profiessional medical services in a negligent marmer,

not govern their Complaint. First, the Plaintiffs note that NRS 41 A.013 expressly states

if Histed in the'Cmnplaim were conwnitted by lleensed nurses at the Defendant's facility,

Complaint, while pled in terms of general negligence, acatly constitute  cause of

netinm Far avselinal vivnfnedatio o doe ebnndrir AL & nFthe NRRN  To fie nriginal Mafians tha

action for medical malpractice under chapter 41A of the NRS. In its original Motion, the |

licensed to provide "continnous skilled oursing and refated care as prescribed by a
physician® (NRS 449.0039) and therefore that its employees are “providers of health
care® pursnant to NRS 41A.017. Accordingly, becatise the Complaint allepes that the

the Defendant assens that the Complaint ust be dismissed hecause its allegations are
not supported by an affidavit as required by NRS 41A.071.
(1) In Opposition, the Plaintiffs aver that the pravisions of NRS 41A.071 do

that the requirements of Chéapter 41A are limited o acts or omissions by “providers. of
health care.” The Plaintiffs assert that NKS 41A.017 does not define “provider of bealth
care” to inelude facilities such ag that operated by the Defendant, Therefore, the
Plaintiffs conclude that no expert affidavit is reguired because NRS 41A.071 simply
doss not apply to the'cause of action alleged ju the present Compluint.

{12}  In s November 8, 2011 Order, this Court requested additional briefing on |
the following additional questions: (a) whether the allegations contained in the Plaintiffy

Complaine fall within the scopé of NRS41A.017 to the extent that the acts or vmissions

and (b) if so; then whether the allegations of vicarious liability against the facility are
ulso void o the extent that they arise from undertying allegations thit would have been
void ab dnitlo had they heen asserted individually.

(13)  1In its Supplemental Brief, the Plaintiffs aver that, since this motion was

originally brought pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), and since the matter now involves the
consideration of facts and evidence which lie outside of the pleadings, the Defendant’s

§
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maotion must be congiderad a motion for summary judgment under NRCP 56, The
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Plaintiffs assert that summary judgment cannot be granted because genuine issues of

3 _
) material fagt €xist, and furthermore, additional discovery is required under NRCP 56(f). ‘
. (14} Therefore, the first question before the Coust is the precise procedural

posture of this Maotion, [f1his Motion has indeed became a motion for summary
judgment pursuant to NRCP 56, then the Supreme Coust’s Order of Reversal and

3| Remand would remain in effect and surmmary judgment cannet be granted since

gi| discoviry is still at a refatively early stage.

10 (15) "The Defendant's Motion is.styled as 8 motic brought pursoant 1o NRCP
I2B)(S). Itis well-Settted that, in considering a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRCP

12 FAb)(S), the Courl must accept all allegations of the Complaint 1o be true and view thoss

i3} alfegations in the light most favarable o the non-moving party. In reviewing the
i _suﬁicic'ncy of a Complaint under NRCP 12(b)(3), thie Court's analysis would normally
1 be Kimited to the'atlegations contained within the four corners of the Complaiat.
Normally, the Court’s role would be to determine whether those allegations, by
themselves, without supplementation, meet the notice pleading requirements of NRCY :
12 and other refevant rules. 1the Count considers evidence outside of the pieadings, ‘
then pursuant 0 the express provisions of NRCP. 12, the motion should be automatically: ;
converteid to g motion for summary judgment and reviewed under the standards of
NRCP $6. The Plaintitfs sssert that this is-what has happened here.

(16) However, in this case, the Defendant does not allege tharthe Plaintiffs
have failed to adequately plead all of the eloments setting forth a cause of action for
which relief can he granted, Ruither, the Defendant appears 10 concede that the basic

3%

24| Slements of a catise bf-action lying in negligenie are sufficiently pled within the

7| Complaint 10 satisfy the notice pleading requirements of NRCP 12, Instead, the

28|} Defendant's Motion avers that the Plaintiffs' cause of action is actually a veiled cause of
ALRINE TN
DITOICT REGE

LAY ARDIENT KX 3
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action for medical malpractice because af the neture of the Delendant's facHity and the

Hran b s thot 3 astisaliv sendemd tn 1ha dusradant: 10 nrthes wiede the fannenf the

type of eare that il actually vendered to the decedent. 1n other words, the focus of the
Motion is not upon the technical sufficiency of the allegétions contained within the
Complaini, but rather upon the nature of the Defendant's conduct which the Defendant
asserts brings the Complaint within the scope of NRS Chapter 41A.

{17 Thus. in substance, it appears thiat NRCP 12(6)(5) does not actually govemn
this Motion. By this Motion, the Defendant is actually challenging whether the Plaintiff
has comphied with certain specific requirements regarding expert affidavits imposed by a
separate statute that exists outside of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure.

{18) The Court notes that, even inder the express tenns of NRCP 12, only
NRCP 12(h)(5) motions aretieated as NRCP 56 motions if evidence omside of the
pleadings is considered. Other types of NRCP 12(b) miotions may be based upon. faets
and evidence ontside of the plesdings without becoming NRCP 36 motions, For
example, in resolving NRCP [2{b}(2) motions alleging tack of persenal jurisdiction,
courts necessarily look outside of the pleadings to determine such things as whether a
party has demonstrated sufficiens minimum contacts with the forurm state; indeed the
Nevada Sepreme Courd has required that cousts hold evidentiary hearings to resolve stch
motions. See, #,g., Tramp v, Eighth Judicial District Cowrt, 109 Nev. 687, 69294

(1993). The Court.also notes that NRCP 12 s not the sole or exclasive basis for

{ibringing 4 shotion requ esting dismisssl of a complaint; by way of cxample, motions

seeking dismissal may also be brought pursuant to NRCP 11 or NRCP 37, to hame only
Two exampics.

(1%)  Thus, the Defendant’s Motion should be treated as a NRCP 36 motion only
if itcan be fairly said that it was originally brought.as a NRCP 12(b)(S) motion. As
goted, it appears quite clear that it was not. The Defendant's Motion usserts & failore fo
comply with a séparate statuiory requirement that exists outside of the rules of

2
4
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procedure. "Thus, i appears o the Court that the Detendant's Motion was not ortginglly
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brought pursuant to NRCP {2(b}(%) (even though it was originally styled as such), and

MR

4

therefore it need not be (reated s & NRCP 56 motion merely because its disposition
reqeires consideration of facts end evidence that lie outside of the four corners of the
Conplaint.

y (20 Therefore, the Coury deems that this Mation is ripe for consideration

g|| notwithstanding the Plaintiffs assertion that additional discovery is needed. Althongh
of| the Plaintiffs have wxserted that additional discovery is necessary pursuant to NRCP
1o} S6(£), such an assertion would only be relevaut if the Defendant’s Motion can fairdy be

11}] labeled & motion secking summary judgment under NRCP 56, Here, the Deéfendants

12 Motion is notsuch a motion. A tesponse seeking a contingance based upon NRCP 36{)
1311 is inapposite to a motion that seeks dismissal based upon the failure to comply with the.

4l affidavit requirement of a statute.

13 {21} 'The Court also intidentally notes that, even if this were a NRCP 36
mation, the Plaintiffs have not technically vomplied with the requirements of NRCP
6(£) beeause they failed to supply the Court with the required affidavit. See, Chopy.
Aimeristar Casinos, 127 Nev; Adv, Op. 78 (Noveniber 23, 20113 (NRCP S6(D) relie!

cannot be-granted if résponident failed fo comply with it Sxpress teems by supplying an
aftidaviy).

{22)  Tuming t the merits of the Defendant’s argument, the Defeadant first
avers that an affidavit is required becanse its facility must be considered 2 Yhogpital™
within the meaning-of NRS 41A.01 7 and 41A.071.

(23) NRS 41A.071 srates as follows:

24
23

26 NRS 41A.071 Dismissal of action MMed withowtr sffidavit of medical
Lxpert supporting anégmons If an sction for medica! malpractice or
dental malpractice is filed in the district cowt, the district eourt shall
dismiss “the actien, withoui prejudice, if the action {8 filed without an

nil
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affidavit. supporting the allegations contained in the action, submited by
medical expert who practices or has practiced o an aveu that is substantially
similar © the type of practice engaged in At the time of the alleged
similar to [hc type of practice engaged in af the time of the alleged
malpractice,

(24} To the present case, the partics do not dispute tha! the allegations of the

i Complaint are not supported by any affidavit that meets the requirements of NRS

41A071. The question before the Court is whether the PlainGfis' Complaint asserts a

il cause oF action for "professional nepligence” witich requires such an affidavit pursuant

o NRS 41A.071.

{25) 'NRS 41A.013 defines "professiona! negligence” as follows:

NRS 41A.05  “Professional negligence” defined. Professional
negligence™ means u negligent act or omission t act by a pmwder of health
care in the tendering of proféssional services, which. act or amission is the
proximate causé of 4 personal injury or wrongtil death. The ter does not
include sorvices that are oulside the scope of services for which the
provider of health care is licensed or services. for which any restriction bas
béen imposed by the applicablé regulatory board ov health care facility.

{26) 'The Nevada Supreme Court has expressiy held that a cause of action for
"professional negligence” ugainst n physician or nurse is fegally identical (at teast for
puarposes of the attidavit réyuirement of NRS 41A671) 10 a cause of action for “medical
malpractice,” See. Flerle v. Peres, 125 Nev, Adv, Op. 54 (2009).

(273 NRS 414017 defines "provider of hiealth care™ s follows:

NRS 41A.017 “Provider of health cave™ defined. “Provider of health

care™ means u physician licensed uader chapter 630 or 633 o NRS, dentist,

licensed nurse, dispensing  optician, optometdst, registered physical
therapist, podiatric physician, Heensed psychologist, chiropractor, doctor of

Origutal medicine, medical laboratory director or technician, or o licensed
bospital and its employees.

(28)  Thus. under Nevada's statutory scheme, to constitute a cause of action for |
medical malpractics or professional uegligence that falls within the scope 0f NRS

i} Chapter 41A and requires the submission of an expert affidavit, the Complaint must

allege: {a) a negligent act or omission Was committed (b) by a "provider of health care”

9

APP105




{Page 10 of 24)

>N

HERDAK YAty
RSRRT KDCH

| SEE AR A%
AARVGES, MTVALS B2

a8 defined in NR$41A017, (¢} “n the rendering of professional services," (d) which act

o amiscinn i< fhe aroximate saise of the ininrv or death, See: Fierle v, Perez. 125 Nev.
or omission is the praximate canse of the injory-of death. See, Fierle v. Perez, 125 Nev.

Adv. Qp. 54 (2009). In the present case, the parfics appear 10 agree that the Complaint
adequately alleges mast of these elements; but disagree with respect 1o whether the

Defendane's facility is a "provider of health care” us defined in NRS 414071

(28)  In connection with their Motion, the Defendant has supplied the Court witk

a copy of a license fssucd by the State of Nevada Department of Health and Human
Services, Division of Health, Bureau of Liconsure and Closoredattached 1o the
Dofendant's Reply Brief). In its November 8 Order; the Court noted that the license has
not been properly authenticated by any affidavit, and it does not appear to be a certified

copy of'a public record but rather merély an informal photacapy. Howéver, the Court

i accepted the authenticity of the license for purposes of resolving the present Motion, In

their Supplemental briefing following the November 8 Order, the Plaintiffs make no

aitempt to challenge the suthenticity of this document. Therefore, the Court finds that

the Flaintiffs have waived dny challénge to the document anid deeins i adimissible for the

Court’s consideration for the limited plrposes of resolving the present Motion.
{30) The document indicaies that the Defendant's facility has been licensed by
the State of Nevada gs a "tacility for skilled nursing” pursoant to Chapters 439 and 449

of the Nevatla Revised Statntes and the Nevada Administrtive Cade, The Difendant's

argument exsentially is that. as a leensed “fagility Tor skilled nursing,” its facifity is

tepally analogous 1o 3 “licorised haspital” as defined in NRS 41A.017 and therefore
should be considered 1o full within the scope of KRS Chapter 414, Thus, the question
before the Court is one of statutory interpretation, namely, whetlier NRS 41A,017 should
be read to encompuss o lieensed “Tacility for skilled nursing.”

31) in intcrp_rctiu_g the scope.and meaning of a statute, the Court looks first to

! the words of the statute. If the Legislature has independenily defined any word or phrase

0
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contained within a statute, the Court must apply the definition ereated by the Legislature,
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I, and anly if, the Count determines that the words of the statute are- ambiguous when
given theiv ordinary and plain meaning, then reference may be made to other sonrces
such as the Jegistative history of the statute in order to-clatify the ambiguity.

(32)  Inthis case, several statutes are relevant to the Court's analysis. NRS
SEADYT defines “provider of healih care® for purposes of Chapter 414, including

{among other things not relevant here) licensed physivians, licensed nutses; or a licensed

hospital and its employees. NRS 449.0039 defines a "facility for skilled nursing.” NRS

449.012 defines a "hospital.”

(33) The Defendant asseits Shat the phtase “lcensed hospital” as defined in

1| INRS 41A.017 should be read broadly to encompass a “facility for skilled nursing.”

However, the Court notes that this imerpretation appesrs to bave been expressly rcjcqed

by the Nevada Legistature, The Nevada Legislature bas defined a "hospital* as follows:

NRS 449.012 “Hospital” defined. “Hospital™ ineans an establishment for
the diagnosis, care and treatment of human iliness, including care available
24 hours cach day from poracns. licensed 1o pracme professionsl nursing
wha are under the direction of a physician, services of a medical laboratory
and medical, radiological, dictary and pliarmeceutival services,

(34} Onits face, NRS 449.012 appears 1o exclude the Defendant's facility,
which does not, amohg other things; pperate ynder the dirsction of a physiciun and dods
not include the services of a medical faboratory. The Coust particularly notes that NRS
41A.017 expressly vefers nov merely to & hospital,” but to.a "licensed hospital.” There
is no dispute that the Defendant’s facility s not “Heensed" as a "hospital” pursuant to
NRS Chapter 449 ar any other provision of the NRS.

(3%} Funhermore, NRS 449.0039 expressly states that a facility for skitled

nursing "does not include a fucility which meers {he requirements of a general or any

other special hospital™
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N RS 449.0039 “Facility for skilled nursing” defined.
“Facility for skilled nursing” means an establishment which provides
ommunus skilled nursing and rddted care a3 preseribed by a physician 0 3
coRtinuous skilled aursing and related care ag presciibed by a physician 1o a
patient in the facility who is not in an acute episode of fllness and whose
primary need is the availability of such care on 3 continuous basis.
2 “Eacility for skilled nursing” dogs not include 2 facility which meets
the requirements of @'general or any.other special hosplial.

(36)  As a matier of Jaw, the Court must, whenever possible, interpret statutes in

@ manner such that they are meaning{ul and consistent with other statutes. Therefore, the

: Court eoncluddess that NRS 41A.017 must be interpreted so thiat it expressly does not

eneompass ¥ facility for skilléd musing as defified in NRS 449.0039.

{37} "The Court nates that it is possible that the Legisiature intended section 2 of
NRE 2490039 to draw o distinction betiveen ahaspital” and & "facility for skilted
nursing” oely for licensing purposcs. and not for purposes of tort lability, However,
while this is an srgument that perbaps can be made, the Court nates the absenee of any
specific language supporting it either in the tixt of the statutes or within their legistative
history, Theréfore, the Court conchudes that the Legistatare intended that the term
“licensed hospital” as used in NRS41A.017 cannot be read 10 inchude a facility loensed
only for skilled nursing pursuaiit to NRS 449.0039.

(383 [nits brief, the Defendant argues that Chapter 41A must be read broadiy to

give meaning to the intended purpose of the Lepislature. In particular, the Defendant

relies upon braad language contained in the case Frerle v Perez, 125 Nev. Adv. Op. 54
{2009). Howevcr, the Court notes thit, under wetl-settted principles of statutory
intetpretation, a statule's _3eg§‘§lativc history iy only relevant if the text of the statute itself
is unclear or ambiguous. Tn such cases, the legislative history of an cnactment may be
referenced in-order to respfve the arabiguity. There does 1m0t appear fo be any ambigoity
between NRS 414,107, NRS 449,021, and NRS 439.0038.

(39)  Adduionally, it is another well-settled principle of statutory construction
that express statutory fanguage cannol be read out of existence hased upon general

12
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| staternents of legistative intent, See generally, Union General Life Iny. Co. v. Wernick,

TFTHEOIE 499 (Qth Cir 1985 €"1 35 » Bmdamertal rule of statwtory construction that
777 P24 499 (9th Che, 1985101t is a Amdamental cule of statutory congteuction that

speeitic statutory language provails over gensra] provisions™). Thus, the fact that the
Legislawre may have intended to act broadly cannot justify ignoring the specific
language that it sctually chose to enact {or not 16 enact).

(40)  Moreover, the Court has reviewed the legislative history of NRS Chapter

HA, Chapter 1A was-enacted as Assembly Bill 1 in 2002 during a special gession of

the Legislature in order to dddress skyrocketing medicsl raalpractice insurgnee premivms

that were effectively forcing physicians to Jeave Nevada for other states, During

consideration of the bill, rumerous witnesses testitied that the puspose of the bill wds to
ansure that Nevada citizens wauld contisue tohave atfordable avess fo physicians and
hospitals by Joweting the insurance preniiums that physicians.and hospitats wounld have
fo pay. See, for exeonple, Assembly Hearivig on Medical Malpractice Issues, July 29,
2002 and July 30, 2002: Remarks made during session of the Senate Committee of the
Whole, July 39, 2002,

(41} The Courynates that the legislative bistory specitic to the affidavit

provision is sparse. During e consideration of this provision, the foeus of the

+Legistalure was upon ensuring that the affidavit be provided by -an expeit ina field that

wats sufficiently closely related 10 the alleged inalpractice. There was also some debate

regarding whether-deatists were included within the affidavit requirement, as well a3

upon possible. revisions to the statute of limirations period. See, Assembly Hearing on
Medical Malpractice Issues, Juby 36, 2007

{42)  During the Jogislative debate, there was no indication that the Legislature
intended (o expand the delinition of "hospital” as defined In the NRS. There was alsono
indication that the Legislature intended Assembly Bill { to-apply to.non-hospital
factlities which do not employ physicians, such a5 “facifities for skilled nursing” wnder

i¥
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NRS 449.0039, which only employ nurses and other stafl, Indeed, to.the extent that the

gil rnnse nf the hill was 1o ensure cantinued and affordable access 10 phvsicians and
purpase of the bill was to ensure continued and atfordable access to physicians and.

hospitals by reducing the insurance premriums paid by physicians and hospitals, the bill

logically should not apply 1o non-hospital facilities which do not employ physicians and

in which physicians danot provide care.

(43} Subscquent teils 2002 initial enactment, ¢ertain provisions of Chapter
41A were amended through an initiative petision cnacted in 2004, As deseribed by the

Nevada Suprenie Cowrt, the 2004 amendinents operated as follows: In duplicating the

| definition of medioal malpractice and expanding it © incliide nurses-and sther non-

hospital employees. & s fuir to assume that the people...wanted Lo extend the legistative

shield that protects doctors from frivolos lawsuits-and keep doetors practiving medicine

in this state.” Frerfe, 125 Nev, Adv. Op. at -, Relying upon this broad language, the

Defendant asserts that it nuust have been the intent of the 2004 ayvendments to expand

the scope of §1A.017 so broudly as to include its non-hospital facility,

(44} However. there i$ 4 considerable diffetence between expanding a Statute 1o

inctade rog-hospifal employees o the one hand, and expanding it to include non~
hospital facitities on the ather. One dees not necessitate the other. More important,
while it appears clear that the infent of the 2004 amendments was (o achieve the former,
there is no indication that the voiors intended the latter. The 2004 amendments simply
did not chumge the actual language afeither NRS 41A.107; NRS 449,021, or NRS
4490039 In any manner that would make this interpretation tenable.

{45) NRS41A 017 was expressly antonded in 2004 to include nurses and other
pragtitioners such as ehiropractors, Dactors of Oriental Medicine, physical therapists;
and the'like. Notably. the definition of “licebsed Bospital” was-not winended or expanded

inany way. Inreviswing a statutory amendmeat, the- Cowrt must consider not only what

1 waychanged, but also what the volers chose nol. fo change. [Fthe Legisiature {or the

t4
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voters) chose to leave:a portivn of a stanite alone while changing other portions, that

2 >

choice mmist e doemed to have been intentiongl. Theréfore. the 2004 amendiments must
choice must he deemed to hisve been intentionst, Therefore, the 2004 arsendmens must

be interpreted such that the voters specifically chose not o expand the definition of
"Heensed hosgital.” Fuithermore, the express words of a statute cannot be read in 4
manner fiiconsistent with their plain meaning simply because one party assens that the
it Legislatare or the'voters may bave subjectively intended something else, Where the
i words of the statute arc cloar, as they are here, the logistative history is of liitle

ol} Importance.

0 (46)  Therelore, the Court tinds that, based both upon the plain fanguage of the

M statite ds well as the Jegiskative history (o the exfent relevant), NRS-41A.017 doks not
21 encompasis a “facility for skilled nursing™ as defined in NRS 449.0039,
\ {(#7}  Hovbever, the Court notes that the analysis does not end there. In its
“i November 8 Order, the Churt requested additional briefing regarding two issues. The
P} Court noted that an expert affidavit might neverthaless be required if (d) the aots or
omissions at issue were commitied by licensed nutses or physicians, who are expressly
included within the scope of NRS 41A017, and (b) if the affidavit requirement also
applics, as a matter of law, ta claims asserted against the facility that smployed those
nurses or physicians under principles of vicarious Hability.

(48)  Although neither party ariginally raised this issue, the Court notes that
NRS 4JA017 expressly defines "provider of health care™ 1o inciude "Heensed nurses.”
As iofed above, NRS 449.0039 defines “facifity for skilled nursing” ag'a fucility which

provides continuous "skitled nursing and related care as preseribed by a physician toa

patient in the faeility...." Thus, NRS 449.0039 cxpressly confemplates that &' facility

261! for skifled norsing” may eoiploy both muvses and hon-mirses and may offer dare rendered

27)] by nurses and well as servicus that are not required 1 be rendered by a licensed murse

i (Crelated care™).

X\
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{49)  Therefore, in this case, it is possibli that the Plaintiffs’ Complaint is based
e sare fhat Wak rnanived 1o he renderad 1o the decedent in the Defendant’s facility by
ttpon care that wais required 10 be rendered to the decedent in the Defendant's facility by

underlying vause of action agaivs a *provider of hiealth cdre” expressly recognized in
NRS4IAMY.

{50} The Court nutes (hat a potential ambigaity exista in that NR$-449.0039

j Incorporates the term "skifled nurse” while NRS-41A 017 applies to "licensed nufses.”

The Court notes that NRS Chapter 449 contains a definition of "registered nurse” but

does wot independently define the term "skilled nurse.” lodeed, the phrase "skilfed

Hjmurse® appears nowhere else within NRS Chapter 449, Hawever, because nurses must

be licensed in order 1o ronder patint care (whether they are skilled of not); the Court
{inds thai this potential difemma is easily resolved since-a “skilled nurse” under NRS
449.003% must also be a purse that is licensed by the approprinte state boaxds and
agencies, Therclore, for purpases of this Motion; the phrase "skitled nurse” and
“Heensed nuese” are fegally squivalent and fay he used interchangeably.

(513 Inany event,as thie Court has huted, to the extent that Hability in this case
is premised Upon any act or cimisgion by » licensed nurse, then those allegations would
arguably fall within the scope of NRS41A.017 and.an expert affidavit would be
required.

{32} "The Court notey that the Piaintiify' Complaint does not assert canses of

zetion dgainst the individeal emplovees who were responsibite for rendering care 1o the

decedent, Rather, only the facifity itself is namied as o defendant, under & theory of
vicarious lizhitity. However, ifthe Complaint hud asserted individual causes of action

aguinst individuad licensed nurses, then the Complaint would have been void ab initie

1 pursuant i NRS Chapter 414 arleast with respect to those individual tortfeasors. I the

underlying allegations of negligence are void pb infrio, then a question exists regarding

&
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whether the allceatinns of vivurious liability against a third.-pasty defenddnt could

Heaallv stand v thair own

legally stand o their oven.
€83} Thérciore. the next guestion before the Court is whether the acs or
omissions at issue. were actually comminted by (icensed nirses or physicians. 1Fse, then

the analysis turns 1o wheihier NRS 41A.071 applies to claims asserted vicar‘iously‘agaiusi

Hhe facility but not agaimst those nurses,

{34}  Asnoted hereinabove, the Complaint in this case is pled yg,y.genemﬂy.
The Compliting ot hand does not incorporate the words "malpractice” or “professional
negligence,” and it does. not expressly assert any claims against individugl nurses or
physicians. Instead, it generally avers that the Deferidant was liable because it employed
people who acted negligently (paragraph Vi, Detendanits "were negligent through their
officers, agents, servants and emplovees™ and because the decedent's injuries oceurred
on the premises owned by the Defendant (paragraph V1, decedent “was lawfully on the
afurementioned properiy®y,

£55)  NRS 41A was drafied in résponsé ta.what was perceived as g Jegislative
emergency. FTherefore, the Court deeins that i provisions are difected toward practival
reality rather than legal technicalifics. Accordingly, even if a Complaint does not
expressly contuin the exact words “medical malpractice” or “professional negligence,®
the provisions of NRS 41A.017 and 41A 071 would sl apply if, as & matter of practical

reality rathier thai sl pleading, it usserty a cuuse of action that in actuality is premised

on medical malpractice. In other woids, if a Complaint asserts a negligent act or
omission that involves the exercise of professional medicad judgment by 2 eensed nurse

 or physician (or snother medicat professional [isted in the statute), then NRS 41A would |

apply regardless of whatever wards are actually stated in the Complainl. Thug, the
Court's inquiry iy nof limited to the words wsed in the Complaint, but rather looks to the
substantive reafity behind the-allegations asserted therein.

17
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(36)  Inthe present case. the Defendant has supplied medical records and copies

nf Resnonses 1o Toterrapatories which they assert add detail to the allesations of the

jof Responses to Interrogatories which they assert-add detai} to the allégations of the

Complaint and demonstiate that the actsiomissions listed.in the Complaint actuafly fall
within the scope of NRS 414017,
(57} For example. Defendant’s Interrogatory No. 13 asked the Plaimiff o

deseribe in detail the injories; coimplaints and symptoms which the decedent suffered as

& result of the incident out ol which this action arose. The Plaintifly Response 10

Interrogatory No. [3-recites instances of alleged professional negligence committed by

ueses and physiciang. Some of these allegations are quoted verbatim herainabove at

paragraph 9. supra. Included were such allégations as the improper or exeessive

adminisation of preéseription drags (such as Remeron and Nearontin), the failure 0
diagnose or treata stage 11 decubitis picer, and the fatlure to administer oxygen.

(58} Moreover, these asscriions closely match allegations specifically contained

jiin the Complaint, For example, the Complaint afleges a fatlure “to properly inspect” the

decedent and “to warn Plaintiffs of 2 dangerous condition,” which apgear 16 allege that -
the physieians dnd murses failed to apprise the decedent of the development of the stage
11 decubitis wloer that eventually Jed to his death, Simitarly, the Complaint also alleges
that the Defendant permitted the decedent to remain in a dangeraus and unsafe condition,
which appears to alfege that the Defendant [ailed to diagnose and treat that stage (1]
decubitis wléer before it became infectéd and killed him.

{59} These allegations unguéstionably involve the exercise of professional
Judgment by nurses and phssicians, [ndesd. the persons alloged to have committed those
acts are specitically identified as {r, Craig Jorgensen {a physician) and the “charge
mrse,”

{60} The Court notes that the Plaintiffs' discovery responses appear to allege o
variety of different kinds of negligence, some of which appear to fall within the scope of

{8
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medical malprastice and some of which do.noi. For example, the discovery responses

wmednde.aliroarions of neoliornes In the ferformance of relatively menial activities. such |
inchude allegations of negligence in the performance of selatively menial activities, such

|as the failure o.use clean gloves, ta lurn the decedent regularly. orto clean his diapers

appropriately. As the Plaintiffs note; af Jeast some nf these allegations relate to relatively

menial or mechanical acts which at feast arguably do not involve the exercise of

professional medival judgment by physiciansor nurses.

(61} However, the Complaint asserts only one cause of action, for general
negligencs, and anly one defendant is named. Furthermore, in.reviewing the discovery

responses and the descripdon of the case contuined in the: Plantifs” hriefing, itapprars

ithat these relatively menial ertors are not alleged to be the proximite cause of the

decedant’s death, According to the Plaintif(s" own assertions, while the tailure 1o use
clean gloves, to turn the decedent jwoperly, or elean his diapers regularly eventually
caused him to develop uleers. there was no assertion that those agts were, in and of
theraselves, ftal. Rather, they appear 1o have bees fir less proximate along the chain of
causation than {ar they are at léast équ_a’! with) the alleged over-tise of sedutives and the
subsequest failure Lo diagnose or trent those ulcers before they became infected. The
Cours notes that improper administiation of preseription drugs and the afleged failure to
diagnose and treat a medical condition are acts that uneguivocally fall within the scope
of medical malpractice. “Thus, in this case. the acts/omissions that might not have been
compmitted by medical professionals aré inextricably interfwined in'the chain of

causation with-acts/omissions that were nocessarily perforined by physicians and nurses
: Y

which necessarily constitutes professional negligence.

(62)  Because the various alfegations of negligence are factually intertwined and
furthermore are vot separated into different counts or against different defendants, the
Court can see no logival way 1o separate the sllegations of malpractice from the

allegations that are pon-professional in natare. Becaase ondy one cause of action has

i

APP115




(Pags 2 of 24

24
23
36
27

8
JEROME IO
WRTRET IRGE

BERITIRYE X%
LA EURE MY ADS ik

been asserted, it appears to the Court that all 0f the allegitions must be ireated as one for
surraene Af datsnwining whsthar the Ciamniaing eenjies the sunnnet afan sffidavis

purposes of determining whether the Complaint requires the support of an affidavit
pursuant to NRS41A071.

(63} T short, the Court tinds that the Plaintitls’ Complaintaileges instagices of |
medical.malpractice against physicians and nurses who indisputably fall within the

latutory definition of "peoviders of bealth care,” These allegations would normaily

reguire the support.of ar expert affidaviy pursuant to NRS 41AN71 il the claims had
been asserted individaally against thuse physicians snd nurses.

{64)  However, as-hoted. the instant Complaint dogs ndt actually assert elaims

against auy individual mirses or physicians,. Ruthet, it emly agserts & cause af action in

(megligence against the facility which employed those physicianis and nurses and where

the actsfomissiony oceurred. Thus, the next question i whether the provisions of NR§
41A would apply to such a cause of action against the emplover instead of the individusl
adlors.

(651 Asnotéd, NRS Chapter 41A was enacted in response to.a public policy
crisis in an atlerapt to keep phiysicians practicing in Nevada by reducing their medical
malpractice insurance premivms anid Timiting frivolous lovwsuits against them. The
Defendant arguss that NRX 414 should be canstrued generoesly inorder t effectyate
that broad legislative purpase.

{66)  As nuted hereingbovi, this Court foutnd that NRS 41A did not encoinpass
"Facilities for skifled nursing” bécase such facilities sppeared o be expressly excladed

by statute, Statements of general legistative purpose or intenf cannot supersede thé

Lexpress Japguage enacted within the stabste.

(67)  Howcver, the Court can find 1o such specitic exciusion for claims brought

vicariously against employers of physicians and nurses. [n the absence of such express

language, then an ambiguity exists regarding the scope of the statute, When such an
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| amshiguity exists, then the legisiative intent plays a larger vole in determining the scope

al'the wiatitary fanonnas

of the Slattory language.

{08) Trappenrs logical to the Coun that the fundamental legistative purposes of
NRE Chapter 41A would be defeated it a plaintif could circumvent the affidavit
requirement by simply omitting the phiysicians or nirses who actually comenitted the
i - | malpractice from the complatit and vet lodge the very same allegations vicariously
: o1 against the employer of those physicians and norses. In most cases, the employer would
o|; likely respond by filing u third-party claim for indemnity-or contribution against those
to{| doctars or nurses, with the practical result that those dactors and nogses would end upus
1} defendans i the Iawsuit witheutan v affidavit ever having been filed by the plaintiff
12{] Such a resolt would be absurd and logicat and would provide a céns'idéraﬁié{eo?holc
131 through whick a plainii fF could easity circumyent both the fetter and spirit of the
¥ affidavit sequirement, As the Supreme Court nofed in Flerle, courts must consider "the
" palicy and spirit of the law and will seek to.aviid an iterpretation that leads to an
absurd result.” 125 Nev, Adv. Qp. at ---.

(69)  Furthiermore. this situation dppesrs fo be akin to that considered by the
Nevada Supreme Court o Frerle v. Pereg, 125 Nev, Adv. Op. 34 (2009). In that case,
{the Court hieid that NRS 41A applied 1o professional medics! corporations even though
such professipnal medical corporations were not named anywhere within the statute.
The Court found that omitting such corporations would ¢reate an illogical resudt that

would allow plaintitss to circamvent the dffidavit requirement. The saine logic appears

fo apply to elaims ssserted viertiously aguinat the emiployers of physicians and nurses.
(70} The Court notes thata passible exception to this principle might existif

sach an employer were slleped to he fiable on grounds that are leguily independent of

anj| any negligence committed by the murse or physician cmplayed by them, Forexample,

, 28 a0 erployer may be liable for negligent hiving, training, or sapervision of doctors or
":WMF.'YW
PN %
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within this Order,

j darkened and et short by the carelessness of medical professionals who should have

{affidavit or he dismissed. This-Court iswellawire that the siatute of Hmitations period

for filing a new complaing agiinst the Delendant fuay have already expired, This Court

nurses, bt that questivn is riol before this Cowd and therefore need not be addressed

surdttan staia F¥edioe

(71} As s final atter, the Court wishes to state that, by this result, it is
expressty ot condoning the actions or behavior of any of the nurses or physicians
ideified in the discovery respanses, Il the Plaigtifts’ alicgations are true, then the

decedent suffered bath terribly and unjustly. and the last days of his life were trapically

done much. much more w refieve his suffering, There is no way to know, bot it is
possible that Mr. Perhat might still be glive wday but for what is ulfeged to have
oeetrred in this case.

(74} Nenetbeless, the Legislature has made the fundamental policy decision that

judicial complainis asserting medical malpractice must be accompanied by an expert

i bound to apply the law even when the result is distastefil to.the Court.
17 - . . s emes
(73} Theretore, the Court concludes that the allegations of the Plaintiffs
W . . iy v . i N
Iy Compiaint fall seithinthe scope of NRS 41A.017 and 41 A.071. Since no sxpert atfidavit
1% _ . .
accompunied the Complaint as requited by NRS 414071, the Complaint must be
ol
dismissed withont prejudice.
it )
” (74} The Defendant’s Motion is therelore GRANTED and the Complaint is
a hereby DISMISSED without prejudice againgt re-filing with the support of an expert
» affidavit as required by NRS 414 071,
2 DATED: Decamber 19,2011 '
I{._ e T
% ’V{Z‘Q'M » e )W
» ;.Egi?kwfr_-. TAG
) INYRICT COURT JUDGE
JEROKIE CAT) ‘38
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JULIO GARCIA, M.D,, FA.CS.; AND No. 58686
JULIO GARCIA, M.D,, LTD., A NEVADA -
CORPORATION,
Petitioners, : F I
Vs,

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT L E D
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN NOV 2 2 201
AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK; AND

THE HONORABLE RON ISRAEL, CLEAK OF SUPRENE COURT
DISTRICT JUDGE, sv R
Respondents,

and

YESENIA “JESSIE” ALVAREZ,
Real Party in Interest.

ORDER GRANTING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS

This original petition for a writ of mandamus challenges a
district court order denying petitioners’ motion for summary judgment and
granting real party in interest’s countermotion to reinstate previously
dismissed claims.

Real party in interest, Yesenia Alvarez, was employed as an
aesthetician in the office of petitioner Dr. Julio Garcia, a plastic surgeon.
As part of Alvarez's compensation she received two free liposuction
procedures from Dr. Garcia on August 28, 2002, and July 2, 2003. Alvarez
alleges that during the second of these procedures, Dr. Garcia injected her
breasts with saline without her consent. Dr. Garcia admits that he
injected Alvarez's breasts with saline, but contends that the injections

took place during the first procedure.!

In her original and first amended complaints, Alvarez alleged that
the saline injections occurred during the first procedure, on August 28,
2002, but she alleges in her second amended complaint that the injections
took place during the second procedure, on July 2, 2003.

07‘533'14
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Alvarez admits that she became aware of the saline injections
immediately upon waking after the procedure, and was aware at least
within days after the procedure that Dr. Garcia had shown her breasts to
other employees while she was still under sedation. Alvarez testified at
deposition on January 4, 2005, in a previous, unrelated action between the
parties, that as of that date she had knowledge of all of her causes of
action against Dr. Garcia related to the injections. Alvarez filed her
complaint in this case on January 4, 2007, more than three and a half

years after she alleges the injections took place and two years after her

deposition in the unrelated action.

Alvarez alleged 15 causes of action against Dr. Garcia: medical
malpractice/negligence, medical malpractice/negligence per se, negligence-
res ispa loquitur, breach of contract, contractual and tortious breach of
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, civil assault, civil battery,
negligent/intentional infliction of emotional distress, fraudulent
concealment, unreasonable intrusion upon seclusion of plaintiff,
unreasonable publicity given to private facts, negligent misrepresentation,
fraudulent concealment, breach of fiduciary duty, and declaratory relief.
On May 17, 2007, the district court dismissed all of Alvarez’s causes of
action other than her two breach of contract and the declaratory relief
causes of action. On January 18, 2011, Dr. Garcia filed a motion for
summary judgment on Alvarez’s remaining causes of action, arguing that
her breach of contract claims were really tort claims that were time-

barred. Alvarez opposed the motion and filed a countermotion for

summary judgment regarding the same causes of action as well as a

countermotion to reinstate all of her previously dismissed causes of action.
The district court denied both the motion and countermotion for summary
judgment, but granted Alvarez’s motion to reinstate her previously
dismissed causes of action. Dr. Garcia challenges the denial of his motion
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for summary judgment and the grant of Alvarez's countermotion to
reinstate previously dismissed claims in his petition.

A writ of mandamus is available to compel the performance of
an act that the law requires or to control an arbitrary or capricious
exercise of discretion. International Game Tech. v. Dist. Ct., 124 Nev. 193,
197, 179 P.3d 556, 558 (2008). A writ of mandamus is an extraordinary
remedy, and whether a petition for extraordinary relief will be considered
is solely within this court’s discretion. See Smith v. District Court, 107
Nev. 674, 677, 818 P.2d 849, 851 (1991). The right to appeal following a
final judgment generally constitutes an adequate legal remedy, precluding
writ relief. International Game Tech., 124 Nev. at 197, 179 P.3d at 558.

When a case is in the early stages of litigation, however, and judicial
economy and administration are taken into consideration, an appeal is not
always an adequate remedy, making writ relief appropriate. Id. at 198,
179 P.3d at 559. Although we generally will not exercise our discretion to
consider mandamus petitions that challenge district court orders denying
summary judgment, an exception to this general rule exists when
judgment in petitioners’ favor is clearly required by statute. Smith v.
District Court, 113 Nev. 1343, 1344-45, 950 P.2d 280, 281 (1997). Here,
having considered the writ petition, answer, and reply, as well as the
supporting documents, we conclude that our intervention by way of
mandamus is warranted and we grant the petition.
Alvarez’s motion to reinstate previously dismissed claims

Our review of the petition, answer, and supporting documents,
including the hearing transcript, shows that the district court erred in
granting Alvarez’s motion to reinstate her previously dismissed claims, as
neither the hearing transcript nor the district court order provided any
legal basis to reinstate the claims. Alvarez asserted in her countermotion

that the statute of limitations for her claims were tolled by her cause of
SupreME COURT
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action for fraudulent concealment. A fraudulent concealment defense,
however, requires a showing both that Dr. Garecia used fraudulent means
to keep Alvarez unaware of her cause of action and that Alvarez was, in
fact, ignorant of the existence of her cause of action. W v. Santa
Barbara Chamber of Commerce, Inc., 705 F.2d 1515, 1521 (Sth Cir. 1983).
The record here shows that Alvarez was aware of Dr. Garcia’s actions
upon waking from her surgery; therefore, the fraudulent concealment
doctrine is not applicable to toll the statute of limitations for any of her
claims. Id,

Dr. Garcia’s motion for summary judgment

The district court also was required to grant Garcia’s motion
for summary judgment. Alvarez alleged claims for breach of contract and
breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; however, the
basis for her claims are the saline injections that are also the basis for her
tort claims. Alvarez argues that the informed consent form that she
signed, but that Dr. Garcia did not sign, was a contract for her liposuction
procedure. Dr. Garcia asserts that Alvarez’s contract actions are in fact
tort claims and the tort statute of limitation should be applied to them.

In determining whether an action is on a contract or in tort,
this court looks at the nature of the grievancé to determine the character
of the action, not the form of the pleadings. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. v.
Wharton, 88 Nev. 183, 186, 495 P.3d 359, 361 (1972). “It is settled that an
action against a doctor arising out of his negligent treatment of a patient
is an action sounding in tort and not one based upon a contract.” Christ v.
Lipsitz, 160 Cal. Rptr. 498, 501 (Ct. App. 1979) (quoting Bellah v.
Greenson, 146 Cal. Rptr. 535, 542 (Ct. App. 1978)). Accordingly, Alvarez’s
breach of contract claims sound in tort, and are subject to a two-year
statute of limitation. NRS 11.190(4)(e). Since Alvarez was aware of Dr.

Docket 77810 Document 20196%?4624
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Garcia’s actions upon waking from her procedure in 2003, her claims,
which were not brought until 2007, are time-barred.

As Alvarez has no remaining causes of action that were
brought timely, her declaratory relief claim must be dismissed. Builders
Asg'n v. City of Reno, 105 Nev. 368, 369, 776 P.2d 1234, 1234 (1989)
(holding that “[t]he Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act does not establish

a new cause of action or grant jurisdiction to the court when it would not
otherwise exist”). Accordingly, we

ORDER the petition GRANTED AND DIRECT THE CLERK
OF THIS COURT TO ISSUE A WRIT OF MANDAMUS instructing the
district court to vacate its order granting Alvarez’s countermotion to

reinstate previously dismissed claims and to grant petitioners’ motion for

( . ca
—2—2?%——— J. / \&M Lty
Dougla Hardesty

cc:  Hon. Ron Israel, District Judge
Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith, LLP/Las Vegas
Bowen Law Offices

Eighth District Court Clerk ./

summary judgment.?

2In light of this decision, we vacate the stay imposed by our
September 15, 2011, order.
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Electronically Filed
9/21/2018 1:39 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
MOT Cﬁa.u‘ ﬁ,._....,

MicHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 362-7800

Facsimile: (702) 362-9472

E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com
MELANIE L. BossIE, EsQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Telephone:  (602) 553-4552

Facsimile: (602) 553-4557

E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com
BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700
Tampa, FL, 33609

Telephone: (813) 873-0026

Facsimile: (813) 286-8820

Email: bennie@wilkesmchugh.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* % %
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA CASE NO. A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA DEPT NO. XVII
LATRENTA, individually,
Consolidated with:
Plaintiffs, CASE NO. A-17-754013-C
VS.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR PRIMA
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE FACIE CLAIM FOR PUNITIVE
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH DAMAGES

LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO,
Administrator; CARL WAGNER,
Administrator; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually,

Plaintiffs.

2976160 (9770-1) Page 1 of 33
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VS.

SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.; ANNABELLE
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC.
aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.;
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA,
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF
NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF
NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51-100,

Defendant.

PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR PRIMA FACIE CLAIM FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES

Plaintiffs Estate of Mary Curtis, deceased; Laura Latrenta, as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Mary Curtis; and Laura Latrenta, individually (“Plaintiffs”), by and through their
attorneys at the law firms of Kolesar & Leatham and Wilkes & McHugh, P.A., hereby move for
an order that the jury will be permitted to consider awarding punitive damages. This motion is
brought under Rule 56(c) and is supported by the following memorandum of points and
authorities, the appendix of exhibits filed herewith, and any argument presented at the time of
hearing.

DATED this 21% day of September, 2018.

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

By /s/ Melanie L. Bossie, Esq.

MicHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

MELANIE L. BossIg, EsQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & McHUGH, P.A.

One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700
Tampa, FL, 33609

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

111
111
111

2976160 (9770-1) Page 2 of 33

APP127




© o0 ~N o o A~ O w N

e i o
o M W N L O

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Tel: (702) 362-7800 / Fax: (702) 362-9472

=
D

400 S. Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

N N DN DN D N NN DD DN PP
Lo N o o b~ wWw N B O © 0o N

NOTICE OF MOTION

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing Motion on for

hearing on the 24th day of October , 2018, in Department X VI of the above-entitled

Court at the hour o

£In Chambers ., o as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard.

DATED this 21% day of September, 2018.

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

By /s/ Melanie L. Bossie, Esq.
MicHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000878
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
MELANIE L. BossIg, EsQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260
BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCcHUGH, P.A.
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700
Tampa, FL, 33609
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

ISSUE.

If a plaintiff adduces sufficient evidence that a defendant had knowledge of the probable

harmful consequences of a wrongful act yet failed to act to avoid those consequences then the issue

of punitive damages is for the jury. Laura herein adduces sufficient evidence (1) that Defendants

knew that LCCPV had insufficient staff; knew that that insufficiency was compromising resident

care; knew that a nurse had erroneously given Mary a potentially fatal dose of morphine; and knew

that Mary needed to be closely monitored for signs of morphine overdose; and (2) that Defendants

nevertheless ignored her, leaving her to decline unnoticed and to be found unresponsive by her

daughter, by which time it was too late to salvage her life. She died of morphine intoxication a few

days later. Is the issue of punitive damages for the jury?

STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Mary’s Condition on Entering LCCPV

1. Mary Curtis had been living alone in an apartment; she could dress, bathe, cook,

2976160 (9770-1) Page 3 of 33
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clean, and do laundry without difficulty, and used a cane for ambulation around the apartment. Ex.
1, Photo; Ex. 2, OT Plan of Tx.

2. Mary entered Life Care Center of Paradise Valley on 2 March 2016 following
hospitalization after a fall at her apartment. Ex. 3, Prog. Notes LCC-133; Ex. 4, Disch. Summ.;
Ex. 5, Floor Plan.

3. She was alert with clear speech and regular respiration. EX. 6, Nursing Assess.
LCC-113.
4. She required extensive assistance with her activities of daily living, including bed

mobility, transfers, locomotion, and toilet use. Ex. 7, MDS Sect. G LCC-86.

5. Her balance during transitions and walking was not steady and she could stabilize
only with staff assistance. Ex. 7, MDS Sect. G LCC-87.

6. She had no condition or disease such as would have resulted in a life expectancy of
under six months. Ex. 7, MDS Sect. J LCC-92.

7. On 3 March Mary was friendly and *“concerned about leaving our facility, wanting
to go back home.” Ex. 8, Chatman Dep. 17:3-10.

Mary’s First Days at LCCPV

8. Mary on 3 March was found lying on the floor in the bathroom, and reported that
she had got out of bed to use the bathroom, lost her balance, fell, and hit her head on the wall. Ex.
9, LCC Fall Incident Rpt-00001; Ex. 3, Prog. Notes LCC-133.

9. Her blood pressure after her fall was 165/75. Ex. 9, LCC Fall Incident Rpt-00002.

10.  Actions taken post-fall were to continue falling star intervention, tab alarm, bed in
lowest position, and non-skid socks. Id. at -00003.

11. Mary’s gait was unsteady; she was incontinent; her toileting program was prompted
voiding. 1d. at -00004.

12.  Alert charting was initiated; interventions in place upon Mary’s fall were tab alarm
and fall risk bracelet; thereafter were to be in place tab alarm and bed in lowest position. Id. at -
00005.

13. Mary had fallen within the last 30 days; a bed alarm had been in place. Id. at -

2976160 (9770-1) Page 4 of 33
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00004.

14.  She had a right leg bruise of 5 x 7 cm and a left leg bruise of 15 x 7 cm. Ex. 10,
Non-Pressure Skin Condition R. LCC-138, -142.

15. She should not have been left unattended in the bathroom. Ex. 11, Ramos Dep.
46:7-18.

16. LCCPV created an interim care plan on 3 March for Mary’s being “[a]t risk for
physical injury from falls”; her fall risk score was 22; the sole intervention identified was to
educate resident/family (on what was left unidentified). Ex. 12, Interim Care Plan LCC-126.

17.  On 4 March Mary was alert and verbally responsive with no ill effects from the fall
recorded. Ex. 3, Prog. Notes LCC-133.

18. Mary fell on 6 March. Ex. 13, LCC Dawson Stmt-00001.

19.  There was not but should have been an incident report for Mary’s second fall; that
fall should have been documented in the clinical record. Ex. 8, Chatman Dep. 16:6-17:2; Ex. 14,
Werago Dep. 18:22-19:16.

20. DON Tessie Hecht told LPN Ershiela Dawson that Mary’s second fall was not
recorded because it was just on the word of the roommate. Ex. 15, Dawson Dep. 87:1-6.

21, LCCPV failed to complete the MDS section concerning Mary’s falls. Ex. 7, MDS
Sect. J LCC-93.

Mary’s Last Days at L CCPV

22, LPN Ersheila Dawson was assigned to Mary only on 7 March and knew neither her
nor her care needs. Ex. 15, Dawson Dep. 10:6-12.

23.  Nurse Dawson, who had been called in that morning because LCCPV was short a
nurse, felt a bit behind the eight-ball, as normally the shift would have begun at 7:00 a.m. but she
did not arrive until 8:00 or 9:00 a.m.—the normal time for the morning medication pass, which
requires significant preparatory work. Id. at 10:18-24; 11:20-12:22; 14:19-23.

24, She testified that “[t]hat morning was very chaotic . . . . | was urged to take care of
these three persons immediately. | started in order and then [ADON] Thelma [Olea] came back to

me and reiterated that | needed to get these three people done.” Id. at 42:13-17.
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25. Nurse Dawson testified that she had no opportunity to review Mary’s clinical record
before providing her medication. Id. at 37:12-25.

26.  She testified that she did check the medication administration record but that her
cart was out of order, and that “the meds that were in the narc box were out of order also, because
I had taken meds from two different nurses and they weren’t going to match. . . . So | put it in
order the best way that | knew how.” Id. at 48:18-23; 49:19-24.

217. She then, according to her testimony, “got reprimanded again to take care of these
three people. And so at that point, | want to get these three people taken care of, so that that can
get back into the flow of regular med pass.” Id. at 50:21-23.

28. At approximately 10:00 a.m. Nurse Dawson popped out two pills, crushed them,
put them in applesauce, and gave them to Mary. Ex. 16, LCC Med Incident Rpt-00001; Ex. 17,
Dawson Emp File-00104.

29.  She then went to room 312A and began looking for the medications for that room’s
resident, at which point she realized that she had given 312A’s morphine to Mary. Ex. 17, Dawson
Emp File-00104.

30. Nurse Dawson then realized that Mary had been given the wrong medication; that
it was morphine; that it was a significant dose (120 milligrams); and that without action that dose
could be fatal. Ex. 15, Dawson Dep. 59:16-60:10.

31. Nurse Dawson “said that ‘I did not read the name in the medication package, did
not double check the MAR, and was my first time to be in 300 hall and did not know the patients.””
Ex. 17, Dawson Emp File-00104.

32. Nurse Dawson testified that she “really just messed this up. It was unbelievable. |
was very concerned. | was overwhelmed that | may have had harmed somebody. So, yeah, | was
pretty upset too.” Ex. 15, Dawson Dep. 65:7-11.

33.  According to Nurse Dawson’s employee file documentation, at this point she
reported her error to ADON Olea, who told her to call the physician, who (not the physician Dr.
Samir Saxena but Nurse Practitioner Annabelle Socaoco) ordered that Narcan be administered.

Ex. 17, Dawson Emp File-00104.
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34. Nurse Dawson testified that she asked Nurse Socaoco whether she should prepare
to send Mary out because of the high dose of morphine and was told no; that because she did not
know Mary’s baseline or how morphine would affect Mary her “thought process would have been
to send her out”; and that she expected that Mary would be sent to the hospital: “With that much
morphine, yeah, I . . . thought that we would send her out.” Id. at 78:4-18; 137:11-22.

35. Nurse Dawson testified that she reported as follows to Nurse Socaoco: “Hey, | just
fucked up, and | just gave this lady 120 milligrams of morphine. What am | going to do?” Id. at
115:22-116:8.

36. DON Hecht, with whom Nurse Dawson spoke before leaving for the day, told her
that “She’ll be fine” and that “It happens.” Id. at 84:20-22; 86:8-17.

37. Nurse Dawson informed ADON Olea of Mary’s narcotic overdose at around noon;
ADON Olea did not know how much or when it was given, nor did she know what Mary’s baseline
was. Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 52:12-16; 53:3-13.

38.  ADON Olea became upset when she was told that Mary had been given the wrong
medication, one reason for which is that she was just made aware of it shortly before noon. Id. at
47:8-20; Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 106:3-6.

39.  ADON Olea could see that Mary was nauseated. Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 53:19.

40.  ADON Olea did not know that the medication was morphine (only that it was a
narcotic), when it was given to Mary, how much was given, or whether it was short- or long-acting
(although that would make a difference in how a resident is affected). Id. at 54:17-55:2; 57:5-17.

41.  ADON Olea testified that Nurse Dawson did not tell her that Mary’s blood pressure
after the incident was 170/78. Id. at 66:1-6.

42.  ADON Olea did not take Mary’s vitals when she checked on her, nor was she aware
of Mary’s ongoing high blood pressures, or that she was nauseated and vomiting. Id. at 66:13-25.

43.  The adverse reaction noted for Mary post-morphine was increased blood pressure
and lethargy. Id. at 74:16-75:2.

44.  ADON Olea asked herself how in the world 120 milligrams of morphine could have
been given to Mary. Id. at 49:10-22.
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45.  When RN Cecilia Sansome came on shift at noon, ADON Olea informed her about
Mary’s situation; Nurse Sansome asked if the physician had been notified and was told no; ADON
Olea then asked her to call and get an order. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 18:3-7; 45:25-46:9.

46. Nurse Sansome was asking herself how in the world this could have happened,
especially with all the procedures in place to prevent it. Id. at 54:19-55:1.

47.  ADON Olea did not assess Mary before Nurse Sansome arrived. Id. at 59:7-12.

48. At 1:00 p.m. Nurse Socaoco ordered that Mary receive 0.4 mg of Narcan once with
repetition allowed in three minutes; also, staff was to monitor Mary’s vital signs every four hours
and to call the nurse practitioner with any changes. Ex. 20, Tel. Orders LLC-52.

49, Nurse Socaoco became aware of Mary’s overdose when Nurse Sansome called her
around noon: she does not recall Nurse Dawson’s speaking to her at 10:30 a.m. regarding Mary’s
situation and believes given the situation’s gravity that if Nurse Dawson had done so she would
recall it. Ex. 21, Socaoco Dep. 34:24-35:1; 36:8-20.

50. Nurse Sansome gave Mary Narcan at 1:29 p.m. and (as Mary was still groggy)
again at 1:32 p.m., then assumed her regular duties as admitting nurse. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep.
63:13-15; 64:8-10; 106:7-15.

51. Nurse Sansome was not made aware that the drug was morphine, how much of it
was given, whether it was extended release, or whether it had been crushed; neither did she know
that Mary was vomiting. Id. at 62:11-63:8; 67:2-9.

52. When Mary’s daughter Laura Latrenta arrived at around noon, a nurse told her,
“You’re not going to be smiling when we tell you what happened”; the nurse told her that Mary
had been given the wrong medication and that “you’re going to have your mother back in six
hours”; Laura stayed with her mother until approximately 2:30 p.m. Ex. 22, Latrenta Dep. 50:1-
13; 109:5-16.

53.  Staff was to continue to monitor Mary overnight, with vital signs taken every fifteen
minutes for one hour and then every four hours; Mary’s blood pressure had risen that afternoon,
measuring 177/46. Ex. 23, Post Acute Prog. Note LCC-61.

54. Mary was alert and verbally responsive with confusion at 5:00 p.m. on 7 March;
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vital signs monitoring was to continue. Ex. 3, Prog. Notes LCC-132.

55.  Occupational therapy was withheld on 7 March per nursing and was withheld on 8
March because of a change in Mary’s medical status. Ex. 24, OT Daily Tx. Note.

56. Physical therapy on 8 March withheld Mary’s therapy owing to her change in
status; PT had been unable to arouse her that day despite multiple attempts; nursing was notified.
Ex. 25, PT Daily Tx. Note.

57. Laura returned to LCCPV on 8 March at around 11:00 a.m. and found her mother
unresponsive; Mary’s roommate told Laura that “your mom has been out of it. No one has come
to check her all day.” Ex. 22, Latrenta Dep. 70:22-71:9.

58.  Laura then took out her phone and videoed her mother in her unresponsive state
and herself trying to wake her. Id. at 71:14-25.

59. Mary’s mouth was open; her tongue was sticking out; her eyes were rolling in the
back of her head. I1d. at 71:25-72:8.

60.  Laura hurried to the nurses’ station and told them that there was something wrong
with her mother; the attendant replied that there was nobody on the floor but that she would get
someone; Laura then ran back to her mother and, seeing someone walk by, told her that she needed
to come into her mother’s room; she responded, “In a minute.” Id. at 72:22-73:5.

61. Laura then began screaming that someone needed to come in now; this produced
the desired staff response. Id. at 73:5-11.

Mary’s Last Days

62.  According to a nursing note of 11:47 a.m., at 11:00 a.m. on 8 March Laura called
DON Hecht into Mary’s room, where she found Mary with oxygen saturation showing 84%,
desaturating 77%. EX. 3, Prog. Notes LCC-132.

63. EMS was called at 11:19 a.m. and arrived to find Mary “[u]nconscious but wakes
to verbal stimuli, nonverbal and does not follow commands”; she was neither alert nor oriented;
her Glasgow Coma Scale total was 11; she had “decreased respiratory effort and rate”; Laura
informed EMS that she “attempted to have facility staff assess patient but no staff would come to

room for appx 5-10 min.” Ex. 26, EMS Report.
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64. Mary was transferred non-responsive out of LCCPV with an order reading
“Transfer 911 — respiratory distress.” Ex. 29, Transfer Form LCC-3; Ex. 20, Tel. Orders LCC-53.

65. At 11:30 a.m. on 8 March LCCPV recorded that Mary had decreased level of
consciousness, decreased mobility, and labored or rapid breathing; she was full code. Ex. 27,
SBAR Commc’n Form LCC-54, -55.

66. DON Hecht does not know for how long Mary had been unarousable before she
called 911. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 91:17-22.

67. Mary’s presentation was completely different on 6 March from her presentation on
8 March. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 90:2-91:16.

68.  Mary was admitted to Sunrise Hospital with altered mental status and was
“[o]verdosed with morphine.” EX. 30, Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr. H&P.

69.  She was started on a Narcan drip and IV fluid, but became more unresponsive and
her creatinine increased to 3.9; she also developed respiratory failure owing to altered mental status
and COPD exacerbation. Ex. 31, Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr. Disch. Summ.

70. On 9 March Mary was on BIPAP and was somnolent, opening her eyes only to
painful stimuli. Ex. 32, Neuro. Consult. 1 of 7.

71. She was lethargic, sedated, and in no acute distress; she did not follow commands;
her altered mental status was “[d]ifficult to evaluate due to decreased level of consciousness.” Id.
at3of 7.

72. Mary’s physician talked to Laura “regarding gravity of situation and that in order
to reverse situation there would need to be heroic efforts including likely intubation and
mechanical ventilation, dialysis and multiple IV medications”; she “[d]iscussed decreased
likelihood of patient being extubated given advanced age and history of COPD as well as no
guarantee that patient would survive and likely low quality of life if she did survive.” 1d. at 6 of 7.

73. Mary “had not wanted heroic life efforts including life support and CPR.” Id.

74. Mary was discharged from Sunrise Hospital on 11 March; her discharge diagnoses
included altered mental status due to overdose, opiate overdose, and acute respiratory failure with

hypercapnia secondary to narcotic overdose. Ex. 31, Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr. Disch. Summ.
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75.  Mary died on 11 March at Nathan Adelson Hospice. Ex. 33, Death Cert.
76.  Her sole immediate cause of death was morphine intoxication. Id.
77.  She was to have an autopsy; her case was referred to the coroner. Id.

The Autopsy Report

78.  The coroner opined that Mary “died as a result of morphine intoxication with the
other significant conditions of atherosclerotic and hypertensive cardiovascular disease, and
dementia.” Ex. 34, Autopsy Report.

79.  According to the coroner, “there was reportedly one nurse charged with dispensing
medications to forty patients. Due to an error, the decedent received an oral dose of 120 mg of
morphine, which had been ordered for another patient. The decedent’s regular medication orders
did not include morphine. The decedent became excessively sedated, and a physician was called
to examine the decedent; and that afternoon the physician administered Narcan and Clonidine,
with follow-up physician order for close observation and monitoring every 15 minutes for one
hour, and every 4 hours thereafter.” 1d.

80.  According to the coroner, Mary “reportedly remained somnolent.” Id.

81.  According to the coroner, “[tJhe hospital admission urine toxicology screen was
positive for opiates. The decedent’s neurological condition did not improve, and following
discussion with the family she was made Category 3. She was comatose, with agonal breathing.”
Id.

82.  According to the coroner, “[tJoxicological examination of blood obtained on
admission to the acute care hospital, following transfer from the skilled nursing facility, showed
morphine 20 ng/ml.” Id.

83.  According to the forensic toxicologist, “[i]n 15 cases where cause of death was
attributed to opiate toxicity (heroin, morphine or both), free morphine concentrations were 0-3700
ng/mL (mean = 420 +/- 940)”; positive findings were morphine — free, 20 ng/mL. Ex. 35, Tox.
Report.

Additional LCCPV Documentation on Mary’s Morphine Overdose

84. Nurse Dawson recorded at approximately 4:00 p.m. on 7 March that an incident
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report had been given to the DON and that the ADON was notified of the medication error; that
Narcan was given twice three minutes apart; that Mary had elevated blood pressure; and that Mary
had had some nausea and vomiting. Ex. 3, Prog. Notes LCC-132.

85. Life Care’s incident report records that the medication error was a Level 1 incident
that had happened at 10:00 a.m.; that Mary’s blood pressure immediately thereafter was 170/78;
that Nurse Socaoco had been notified at 10:30 a.m. and new orders had been received; that family
had been notified in person at 11:00 a.m.; that Nurse Sansome had provided the first aid; that the
LPN had been educated; and that Mary was stable and improving. Ex. 16, LCC Med Incident Rpt-
00001, -00002.

86. Life Care’s incident report records that Mary had an adverse reaction: increased
blood pressure and lethargy. Ex. 16, LCC Med Incident Rpt-00003.

87. Nurse Dawson recorded in her handwritten statement that she had given Mary two
tablets of morphine (120 milligrams); that the ADON was made aware; that Mary’s vitals were
checked every 15 to 20 minutes; and that a family member was bedside, had been made aware of
the error, was not upset, and said that as long as Mary was awake then she was okay. Ex. 13, LCC
Dawson Stmt-00001.

88. On 11 March Nurse Dawson was educated on the medication administration policy.
Ex. 17, Dawson Emp File-00104.

The Quality of LCCPV’s Monitoring

89.  Although clinical records and incident reports must be accurate, truthful, and
complete, Mary’s clinical record is not: for example, there is no note for 5 March, and staff’s
failure to record assessments in Mary’s clinical record on 7 March is especially concerning as
Mary had just been given 120 milligrams of morphine. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 74:2-75:19.

90. CNAs know that if they take vital signs they must document them in the clinical
record. Ex. 36, Reyes Dep. 17:11-18.

91. CNAs who observe a change in a resident’s condition have the duty and obligation
to record it and to give the record to the nurse. Id. at 18:3-19:1.

92. If a nurse had done an assessment but had not so recorded in the record that would
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indicate that she lacked the time to do her complete job. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 113:8-18.

93. Mary’s blood pressure was last recorded on her neurological assessment flowsheet
on 5 March. Ex. 37, Neuro. Assess. Flow Sheet LLC-116, -117.

94, Mary’s vital signs were last recorded on her vital sign flowsheet on 6 March. EX.
38, Vital Sign Flow Sheet LLC-178.

95.  The gap in Mary’s nursing notes between 5:00 p.m. on 7 March and 11:00 a.m. on
8 March concerns DON Hecht, as the standard of care required notes, especially after an event
such as Mary’s. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 57:2-16.

96.  ADON Olea does not know if each nurse and CNA assigned to Mary was apprised
of her condition and of what to look for. Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 125:6-12.

97. Mariver Delloro, a CNA assigned to Mary, does not recall having been instructed
to closely monitor a resident who had potentially overdosed on morphine; to her knowledge, she
never had such a resident. Ex. 39, Delloro Dep. 20:10-19; 22:19-23:4.

98.  Had CNA Delloro been instructed to take a resident’s vitals on the night shift, she
would have entered her results on the vital sign flow sheet. Id. at 21:24-22:3.

99. LPN Debra Johnson does not recall monitoring Mary on the night of 7 March. Ex.
40, Johnson Dep. 43:10-12.

100. LPN Regina Ramos does not recall an event where Nurse Dawson gave 120
milligrams of morphine to the wrong resident. Ex. 11, Ramos Dep. 20:19-22.

101. CNA Isabella Reyes, who was assigned to Mary on the morning of 8 March, was
never informed while working at LCCPV of any resident’s ever being given morphine erroneously.
Ex. 36, Reyes Dep. 21:2-9.

102.  If CNA Reyes had been monitoring Mary’s vital signs, she would have documented
in the flow sheet, but there are no vital signs recorded for Mary on 8 March. Id. at 25:18-24.

103. CNA Reyes received no training regarding signs and symptoms of a morphine
overdose. Id. at 35:14-23.

104. CNA Reyes has at Life Care never been told that a resident was wrongly given

morphine nor what to look for in that circumstance. Id. at 35:24-36:8.
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105. CNA Cherry Uy, another CNA assigned to Mary after her overdose, was never
informed that Mary had been given morphine intended for another resident, nor was she told of
the need to closely monitor and supervise her owing to a morphine overdose. Ex. 41, Uy Dep.
19:14-20:3.

106. If CNA Uy had been monitoring Mary’s vital signs she would have so documented
on the flowsheet. I1d. at 22:5-15.

107. CNA Meseret Werago, whose assignment included Mary’s room, does not know
what to look for to see if someone may be suffering from an overdose of morphine. Ex. 14, Werago
Dep. 16:25-17:4; 25:15-18.

108. If nursing staff is closely monitoring Mary then it should be staff that recognizes a
change in Mary and not her daughter. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 109:9-17.

109. That Laura had to find Mary in the condition reflected in the video upsets Nurse
Sansome; “there should be documentation, close monitoring when they found out.” Id. at 109:19-
110:12.

The Regional Director’s Visitations

110. Performance areas covered during the regional director of clinical services’ visit of
January 2016 included medication management and nursing labor review; issues included nurses
not signing out medications. Ex. 42, Facility Visit Report (Jan. 18, 2016).

111. Performance areas covered during the regional director of clinical services’ visit of
February 2016 included medication management, quality of life, and bounce-backs to hospitals;
issues included that LCCPV “has been talking with physician’s and inservicing staff in an effort
to decreased bounce back rate” and that “[t]he Dietician needs to be spoken to about writing notes
that incriminate the facility.” Ex. 43, Facility Visit Report (Feb. 25, 2016).

112.  Performance areas covered during the regional director of clinical services’ visit of
8 March 2016 included medication management; issues included “[m]edication error noted.
Facility to follow-up, education.” Ex. 44, Facility Visit Report (Mar. 8, 2016).

113. Of patients who had recently had a change in condition, sixty percent had

documentation to support that the nurse was notified of the change; twenty percent had
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documentation in nurse’s notes to reassess for condition changes and response to
interventions/treatments; none had evidence to support that all components of INTERACT 3 were
in place. Ex. 45, Change of Condition.’

The State’s Surveys of LCCPV

114. The State cited LCCPV for failing to ensure that a narcotic pain medication was
administered following the prescribed schedule for one resident and for failing to prevent a narcotic
pain medication from being given to the wrong resident, i.e., Mary. EX. 46, Survey 7-8 (Apr. 21,
2016).

115.  Corrective actions to be accomplished by LCCPV included education “on med pass
administration policy and procedure” and for “[m]ed pass observations [to] be conducted weekly
x4, monthly x2/ until 100% threshold is met.” Id. at 7.

116. As to the resident whose medication schedule was not observed, “[t]he LPN
acknowledged she did not read the medication order prior to the administration.” 1d. at 8-9.

117.  The State found that Mary “was given Morphine Sulfate that was not ordered for
the resident”; that Mary’s condition “before the incident was alert and confused”; and that her
“physician was notified immediately and an order for Narcan (a narcotic antagonist) 0.4 milligrams
was ordered to be given intramuscularly with orders ‘may’ repeat in 3 minutes twice.” 1d. at 9-10.

118. The morphine-administering nurse said that “during the morning medication pass
she was told by a [CNA] [that Mary] was in pain. About the same time Resident #21 indicated to
the nurse she was in pain.” Id. at 10.

119. “The nurse stated the tablets were crushed and given in applesauce. Afterward when
the nurse tried to administer Resident #21’s medication the nurse realized she had mistakenly given
Resident #21’s Morphine Sulfate to [Mary].” Id.

120. “The nurse indicated she had only worked on other units before and the Medication

Administration Record . . . did not have pictures of Residents #20 [i.e., Mary] and #21.” Id.

! Life Care’s regional director of nursing testified that LCCPV’s overall score of 67 percent on this audit equated to

getting a D in school. Ex. 52, Blackmore Dep. 59:15-60:6.
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121. Mary became nauseated and her blood pressure increased; Clonidine was ordered:;
“[t]he nurse reported she went home that afternoon and the resident was “fine” at the time of the
departure.” 1d.

122. The DON reported that the offending nurse “was working in the 300 and 400 unit”;
that “usually two nurses worked on these units, but the census was higher than usual, so three
nurses were assigned to about 16 residents each”; and that “the day after the medication error,
[Mary] became unresponsive, a Code Blue was called and the resident was immediately transferred
to the Emergency Room at an acute care hospital.” Id. at 11.

123.  Mary’s nurse documented that at 3:59 p.m. on 7 March “hourly vital signs and
hydration were offered.” Id.

124.  The DON at 11:47 a.m. on 8 March “documented the resident’s blood saturation
dropped to 77% (normal is above 90%) and a Code Blue was called.” Id.

125. LCCPV’s policies required that a nurse administering medication “identify a
resident by comparing the name on the arm band with the name on the MAR and the photo of the
resident. If there is no photo or armband, to verify the resident’s identity with staff that knows the
resident. The policy further stated medications should only be crushed after checking with the
pharmacist or supervisor in case they are time released.” Id. at 12.

126. The State also cited LCCPV for its medication error rate of 7.14%. Id.

127. The State in its survey of 13 March 2015 cited LCCPV for failing to implement fall
prevention strategies for two residents and for failing to ensure care plans were updated in
accordance with fall policies for four residents. Ex. 47, Survey 22 (Mar. 13, 2015).

128. The State in its survey of 13 March 2015 recorded that “the facility had a
medication error rate of 10%.” Id. at 30.

Staff’s Knowledge

129. DON Hecht expected that her nursing staff would comply with LCCPV’s nursing
policy and procedures, which were in line with the standard of care in nursing. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep.
15:4-12.

130.  According to DON Hecht, the standard of care means that “the nurses will provide
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everything from medication administration, evaluation, change of condition, communicate to the
doctor whatever the change of conditions are in a timely manner,” and “[t]hat the patient will not
fall, that the patient will not have any other injuries while they are in the facility.” Id. at 15:16—
16:3.

131. Every nurse coming out of nursing school should know what the five rights of
medication administration are. Id. at 20:16-19.

132. Nurse Dawson knew the five rights of medication: the right patient, the right
medication, the right dose, the right route, and the right time. Ex. 15, Dawson Dep. 26:8-20.

133. There are at least three opportunities to ensure that the right medication is given to
the right resident: matching the orders, matching the MAR, and (if it is a controlled narcotic)
matching by reading the label. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 34:1-9.

134.  Itis well known in nursing that giving the wrong medication to the wrong resident
could harm or kill her. Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 34:25-35:5; Ex. 15, Dawson Dep. 25:25-26:7.

135. A heightened awareness should prevail when providing a resident controlled
narcotics. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 23:24-24:2.

136. Itis well known in nursing that a significant dose of morphine given to someone—
especially an elderly person—unaccustomed to morphine can be potentially dangerous or fatal. Id.
at 24:21-25:10.

137.  Nurses are trained that a morphine overdose is potentially fatal, and everyone in
nursing knows that 120 milligrams of morphine given to a resident for whom it is not meant is
potentially harmful or fatal. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 45:10-13; Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 59:17-60:1.

138. It is standard knowledge in nursing that extended release morphine should not be
crushed without consulting the provider. Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 76:17-21.

139. Morphine is an opioid and a controlled narcotic, meaning a heightened
responsibility for nursing staff to observe the five rights of medication; morphine administered
inappropriately or to the wrong person could be harmful or fatal; there is an extra step with
controlled narcotics, i.e., reading the label thrice and comparing it to the controlled narcotic log

and to the order; if the steps of the standard of care or rights of medication administration are
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complied with there should be no excuse to give morphine to a resident for whom it is not intended.
Id. at 45:1-46:1.

140. What opiate was given, how much, when, and whether it was extended release or
short-acting should have been relayed to Nurse Socaoco, as those data were necessary for Mary’s
appropriate care and treatment. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 68:6-25.

141. DON Hecht would not want to place an LPN into a chaotic situation because that
is when problems happen, nor would she want to put an LPN in a situation where she was starting
a med pass at 8:00 or 8:30 instead of 6:30 or 7:00 as that is when dangerous situations happen;
moreover, if a managing nurse is aware that a nurse is already behind schedule then DON Hecht
would hope that the managing nurse would help set up the cart accurately. Id. at 27:9-13; 76:2—
21.

142. If a facility through its staff members knows, as LCCPV did, that this is a
potentially fatal event for Mary, then it can call 911 itself. Id. at 63:13-18.

143.  An acute care hospital is better equipped to closely monitor one who has overdosed
on morphine: a hospital has a lower ratio of nurses to patients, more monitoring devices, and
physicians present. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 82:20-83:16.

Staff’s Conclusions

144.  Life Care Centers of America has the duty and responsibility to provide enough
time for nursing staff both to comply with the standard of care and to go through the checks of the
rights of medication administration in order to ensure that a resident not be given an inappropriate
medication. Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 30:18-31:4.

145.  Life Care Centers of America has the duty and responsibility to ensure that LCCPV
provides one-on-one staff for a period of time for a resident requiring such supervision. Id. at
31:22-32:4.

146.  What happened to Mary exceeds everyday carelessness. Id. at 99:21-25.

147. It was reckless to Mary’s health and wellbeing that the appropriate controlled
narcotics were not lined up to be appropriately administered to her. Ex. 15, Dawson Dep. 94:8-

12.
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148.  Nursing staff’s knowing that Mary could not be aroused and doing nothing about it
would constitute conscious disregard of her health and wellbeing. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 82:13-83:4.

149. A resident’s receiving a significant dose of morphine not meant for her is
inexcusable. Id. at 29:4-9.

150. That the five rights of medication were not observed in Mary’s situation is
inexcusable and if better systems were in place and the medication administration rights were
being adhered to this never would have happened. Id. at 94:25-95:4; 95:11-23; Ex. 18, Olea Dep.
134:12-25; Sansome Dep. 76:21-77:2.

151.  Thatthis was Nurse Dawson’s first time on the unit was no excuse for not verifying
the right patient and the right medication. Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 80:10-19.

152.  Thatthere is no note recorded for Mary from 5:00 p.m. until Laura summoned DON
Hecht the next day at 11:00 a.m. concerns DON Hecht and is below the standard of care for
monitoring after a significant event like Mary’s. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 77:7-20.

153.  There was no RN supervisor at night and so it would have been prudent to send
Mary to the hospital for close monitoring by an RN and a physician. Id. at 85:1-11.

154.  That there is no note for 5 March, no note regarding Mary’s fall and injury on 6
March, no clinical assessment in the record post-morphine overdose, and no assessment in the
record on 8 March of Mary’s being unarousable, is clearly a pattern of violation of the standard of
care in nursing in monitoring and assessing Mary. Id. at 87:11-23.

155.  LCCPV’s deficiency for unnecessary drugs being provided to Mary was warranted.
Id. at 96:16-97:11.

156.  That there is no indication in the nursing notes that Mary, who was given an
excessive dose of morphine and was to have been closely monitored, was unresponsive prior to
her daughter’s stopping the DON to alert her to her mother’s unresponsiveness is unacceptable.
Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 98:4-12.

Life Care’s Focus on Bounce-Backs

157.  Life Care closely monitors bounce-backs and resident length of stay at LCCPV. Ex.
18, Olea Dep. 117:9-12; Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 81:16-22.
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158. LCCPV was monitoring 30-day readmissions closely because it would not want the
hospital—its biggest referral source—to be penalized. Ex. 48, Saxena Dep. 34:6-14.

159.  Life Care corporate educated DON Hecht and LCCPV staff on the need to decrease
the bounce-back rate to hospitals (i.e., ensuring that a resident discharged from the hospital to
LCCPV not return to acute care within thirty days). Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 32:2-8.

160. DON Hecht was educated that bounce-backs can lead to financial penalties to
hospitals, thereby endangering resident referrals from such hospitals. 1d. at 33:6-20.

161. Management instructed nurses via in-services that LCCPV preferred to maintain
residents there rather than transferring them to the hospital. Ex. 11, Ramos Dep. 72:5-10.

162. Management instructed nursing that re-hospitalization within the bounce-back
period of 30 days was to be avoided. Id. at 75:2-6.

Life Care’s Pressure on Census

163.  Significant census growth was emphasized from the top of Life Care’s corporate
structure. Ex. 49, Harris Dep. 30:11-15.
164. Life Care corporate wanted LCCPV to increase its census. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep.
34:23-35:1.
165. LCCPV’s census increased from 78 on 17 January to 92 on 8 March. Id. at 34:7—
16.
Life Care’s Control of LCCPV’s Labor and Budget

166. Life Care Centers of America expected LCCPV to operate within its corporate-
established budget. Ex. 50, Wagner Dep. 12:22-13:16; 15:23-16:1.

167. LCCPV has from corporate a certain PPD within which it must operate. Ex. 18,
Olea Dep. 126:4-10.

168. DON Hecht had been in compliance with the corporate expectation of staying under
the labor PPD. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 48:7-10.

169. DON Hecht at times had concerns that she was constrained by the corporate PPD
for nursing labor but had no say on LCCPV’s nursing PPD budget. Id. at 54:15-22.
111
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LCCPV'’s Known Understaffing and Compromised Care

170. DON Hecht recalled being made aware that nurses and CNAs were sharing their
concerns about the need for more help to provide resident care; recalled that Nurse Sansome
sometimes reported to management that nurses were not following the nursing standard of care;
and recalled that acuity was high and that more help was needed to meet residents’ needs. Ex. 28,
Hecht Dep. 52:18-53:17.

171. DON Hecht testified that although she heard concerns at nurses’ meetings that staff
had too many residents to care for her hands were tied to an extent because she had to operate
LCCPV within the nursing labor established by corporate. Id. at 54:2-14.

172.  DON Hecht testified that she had been having issues with staff turnover and that
managing nurses had been pulled to the floor frequently to fill vacant nursing spots, so any
managing nurse had the ability to step in, provide medications, and do assessments. Id. at 48:11—
25.

173.  Nurses and CNAs at times told ADON Olea that additional CNASs or nurses were
needed. Ex. 18, Olea Dep. 125:20-25.

174. Nurse Sansome would observe that nurses were not following the standard of care
and would bring it to management’s attention because of her concerns that residents’ health and
wellbeing would be affected. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 15:3-21.

175. Even before 7 March Nurse Sansome had seen employees not meeting the standard
of care and would warn management that something bad could happen. Id. at 70:21-71:18.

176.  Nurses or CNAs would sometimes come to Nurse Sansome with their concerns that
more staff members were needed, which concerns she would pass on to management; for example,
CNAs or nurses would tell her that the acuity of care was so high that they needed more help to
meet residents’ needs. Id. at 78:13-79:6.

177.  CNA Uy regularly worked the 300 unit on the night shift and was responsible for
up to 25 residents, which was “a lot” and “[tJoo many.” Ex. 41, Uy Dep. 10:15-11:4.

178.  She discussed with her supervisor that she had too many residents, and CNAs

discussed among themselves the difficulties of having 25 residents. Id. at 11:5-8; 12:7-12.
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179.  The excessive number of residents to be cared for is one of the reasons that CNA
Uy left LCCPV. Id. at 13:3-16.

180. Some CNAs would say at CNA meetings that they needed more help. 1d. at 13:25-
14:15.

181. At CNA meetings complaints or concerns about the CNA shortage were raised, a
shortage that “[o]f course” would affect resident care. Id. at 16:6-12.

182. CNAs requested that fewer residents be assigned to them so that they would be able
to provide more care to their residents. Ex. 14, Werago Dep. 29:4-24.

LCCPV'’s Known Ongoing Medication Error Issues

183. LCCPV had a pattern of medication administration problems and was aware of its
ongoing problem with patients not receiving the right medication. Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 37:25-38:15.

184. LCCPV had an ongoing issue with patients not receiving the right medication
between 2014 and 2015. Id. at 38:21-39:2.

185. It was cited by the State for a medication error rate of ten percent. Id. at 39:8-14.

186. Its medication error rate as it continued into January, February, and March 2016
concerned DON Hecht. Id. at 39:17-24.

187. DON Hecht testified that there was an ongoing problem with nursing staff
providing the wrong medication to residents, that there were quite a few medication errors, and
that that was very concerning to her as managing nurse. Id. at 44:10-25.

188. ADON Olea recalls that before Mary’s being overdosed LCCPV’s medication error
rate was over five percent and was “one of the challenges we have that is being addressed, an
ongoing concern that we are addressing, and we addressed, continuous education.” Ex. 18, Olea
Dep. 104:21-105:14.

189.  Appropriate medication administration was an ongoing challenge at LCCPV before
Mary’s overdose. Id. at 106:19-24; Ex. 28, Hecht Dep. 51:16-24.

190. Medication error reports go to the regional nurse and to the DON. Ex. 18, Olea Dep.
123:9-15.

191. Nurse Sansome at times saw wrong medications being given to residents and would
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pass that on to the administration. Ex. 19, Sansome Dep. 68:23-69:2.
LCCPV'’s Medical Director’s Opinions

192.  Morphine given or used inappropriately is known to lead to serious harm or death.
Ex. 48, Saxena Dep. 62:6-10.

193. 120 milligrams of morphine is a significant amount to a 120-pound opiate-naive
octogenarian, and is in fact a significant dose in itself. Id. at 66:20-67:10.

194. Mary’s dying of morphine intoxication after receiving 120 milligrams of morphine
not meant for her would not surprise Dr. Saxena. Id. at 108:21-109:4.

195. Crushing extended-release morphine causes uncontrolled morphine delivery that
may lead to overdose and death. Id. at 67:11-18.

196. A nurse administering extended-release morphine is expected to know not to crush
it. 1d. at 67:24-68:3.

197. Although life-threatening or fatal respiratory depression can occur at any time
during extended-release morphine’s use, the risk is greater during the initiation of therapy or
following a dosage increase. Id. at 68:7-13.

198. Life-threatening respiratory depression is more likely to occur in elderly, cachetic,
or debilitated patients as they may have altered pharmacokinetics or altered clearance compared
to younger, healthier individuals. Id. at 68:14-20.

199. Narcan is a short-acting medication, and 0.4 milligrams is the starting dose. Id. at
68:25-69:17.

200.  For Nurse Dawson not to read the name on the medication and compare and double-
check it with the medication administration record would be unacceptable. Id. at 93:25-94:11.

201. Foranurse not to ensure the right person and the right medication is reckless, which
recklessness is heightened when dealing with potentially life-threatening morphine. Id. at 96:2—
22.

202. If Nurse Socaoco became aware that a patient of Dr. Saxena’s was given 120
milligrams of unprescribed morphine then she should call him if that is beyond the scope of her

practice. Id. at 98:6-11.
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203. LCCPV’sbeing issued a deficiency for failing to prevent a narcotic pain medication
from being administered to Mary would be warranted. Id. at 110:8-17.

204. Dr. Saxena testified that had he known that Mary, an opiate-naive older adult, had
been given 120 milligrams of morphine, he would have transferred her to the hospital—a setting
with around-the-clock physicians and the equipment to appropriately monitor her; he does not
know why she was not sent to the hospital. Id. at 123:17-124:17.

205. Staff’s failure to ensure that they were giving the right medication to the right
patient was inexcusable. Id. at 125:19-126:3.

What Nurse Socaoco Did Not Know

206.  Nurse Socaoco is “not well versed” concerning dosage and the difference between
short- and long-acting; whether crushing pain medication is appropriate is also outside her
knowledge base. Ex. 21, Socaoco Dep. 38:7-39:3.

207.  Nurse Socaoco knew only that Mary had been given a narcotic: she did not know
what medication, how much, whether short- or long-acting, or whether crushed; her knowledge
before providing orders for Mary was “just the narcotic and oxycodone.” Id. at 39:22-41:1; 47:12—
15.

208.  She was not told that Mary was having increased blood pressure. Id. at 41:23-25.

209.  She knows that 0.4 milligrams of Narcan is a minimal dosage to be given initially
to a patient, but does not know Narcan’s lifespan, i.e., she does not know if the Narcan given will
be effective three, four, or five hours later. 1d. at 51:15-52:3; 52:24-53:15.

210. She testified that this was an unusual circumstance for her as a new nurse
practitioner. Id. at 74:25-75:3.

What Life Care’s CEO Did Know

211. On 16 December 2015 a letter addressed to Life Care CEO Forrest Preston and Life
Care president Beecher Hunter was received by the President’s Office. Ex. 51, Preston/Hunter
Letter 1 (Dec. 8, 2015).

212. It was written anonymously “because of fears of the repercussions or retaliation”;

alleged “many critical issues,” of which many were “still occurring with staff and patients at Life
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Care Paradise Valley Las Vegas”; raised “the poor leadership and the cover up of many incidents
by Tessie Hecht, RN/DON”; and requested that Messrs. Preston and Hunter “investigate and take
the appropriate actions to ensure the safety of our patients.” Id.

213. Itinformed them that “one of our previous patients had an incident that was never
reported”; that a resident “suffered a fall in the presence of his handicapped CNA,” who was a
family member of DON Hecht; that “[t]he CNA tried to lift the patient off the floor by himself and
did not call anyone to alert or assist him as per our protocol, nor did he report the incident until he
knew he was seen by another non-medical staff member”; that “Crystal the on duty RN and Tessie
Hecht were notified”; that DON Hecht “did not do anything throughout the day and tried covering
the fall to prevent an incident report even though nurses brought to her attention many times that
[resident] ‘looked grayish’ and was not doing well”; that “staff members continued to see that
[resident’s] health was deteriorating and [he] was finally sent to the emergency room where he
subsequently expired”; that DON Hecht “has been covering up many incidents such as having staff
file false documents or write false statements”; and that DON Hecht “has known for a long time
that Crystal has made many errors such as giving wrong doses or wrong medications to patients
and always covers it up for her.” Id.

214. It urged them “to also look into the following patients care where Tessie has
covered up many mistakes,” id. at 1-2; requested that they “[p]lease investigate patient [name]
where the same situation occurred”; and alleged that “[s]taff members noticed [resident] was not
looking good and expressed their concerns to Tessie,” whose “orders were to do nothing unless
she was gravely ill to prevent a bounce back to the hospital”; that “[e]ventually [resident] worsened
hours later and was sent to the hospital where again patient expired”; that “Crystal gave [a current]
patient wrong medications and admitted to doing so”; and that “Tessie was informed but once
more no action was taken.” Id. at 2.

215. It advised that “[t]hese are some of the many issues that occur on a daily basis at
our facility”; warned that “[o]ur director of nursing is endangering our patients lives and will
continue to do so unless action is taken”; and advised that if the letter did not result in changes

then the writer “will be forced to report to the pertinent authorities and agencies and risk my future
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employment with your company in order to prevent anymore abuse and deaths of people we are
in trusted to protect, our patients.” Id.
I11. LEGAL ARGUMENT.

“[T]he court has the responsibility to determine whether, as a matter of law, the plaintiff
has offered sufficient evidence of oppression, fraud, or malice to support a punitive damages
instruction.” Hester v. Vision Airlines, Inc., 687 F.3d 1162, 1172 (9th Cir. 2012). But “[o]nce the
district court makes a threshold determination that a defendant’s conduct is subject to this form of
civil punishment, the decision to award punitive damages rests entirely within the jury’s
discretion.” Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. v. Thitchener, 124 Nev. 725, 740 (2008).

Punitive damages are available “where it is proven by clear and convincing evidence that
the defendant has been guilty of oppression, fraud or malice, express or implied.” NRS 42.005(1).
Oppression is “despicable conduct that subjects a person to cruel and unjust hardship with
conscious disregard of the rights of the person,” NRS 42.001(4), while implied malice is
“despicable conduct which is engaged in with a conscious disregard for the rights or safety of
others.” NRS 42.001(3). So the statute “defines implied malice as a distinct basis for punitive
damages in Nevada and establishes a common mental element for implied malice and oppression
based on conscious disregard.” Thitchener, 124 Nev. at 729. This conscious disregard is “the
knowledge of the probable harmful consequences of a wrongful act and a willful and deliberate
failure to act to avoid those consequences.” NRS 42.001(1).

The Thitchener court affirmed a punitive damages award against Countrywide, which had
misidentified and foreclosed on plaintiffs’ condo and had disposed of their personal belongings.
124 Nev. at 729-30. The district court had submitted the issue of punitive damages to the jury
“based on evidence that Countrywide ignored numerous warning signs that likely would have led
it to discover its error in misidentifying [plaintiffs’] condominium unit”; the jury “awarded
punitive damages on alternative theories of implied malice and oppression.” Id. at 740.

Countrywide argued that plaintiffs had “failed to prove that it consciously disregarded their
rights because there was no direct evidence that it actually knew that it was proceeding against the

wrong condominium unit.” Id. Indeed, it presented the case “as a convergence of undetected
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mistakes and therefore contend[ed] that there was insufficient evidence that it acted with ‘an actual
knowledge, equivalent to the intent to cause harm.’” Id. at 744 n.55. But “intent to cause harm . .
. is the mental element of express malice and plays no role in analyzing a defendant’s conscious
disregard for purposes of implied malice or oppression.” Id. And plaintiffs had “presented evidence
of multiple ignored warning signs suggesting that Countrywide knew of a potential mix-up, as well
as evidence indicating that Countrywide continued to proceed with the foreclosure despite
knowing of the probable harmful consequences of doing so.” Id. at 744.

For example, Countrywide’s foreclosure specialist had reviewed the appraisal report and
understood that plaintiffs owned the property but “did not consider this to be problematic in
preparing the property for resale”; she “was similarly indifferent regarding the broker price
opinion, which she also admittedly ignored”; and “[a]lthough the preliminary title report was
available for this property, [she] did not review it, leaving that task to a subordinate.” Id. This was
“sufficient evidence to infer that Countrywide knew that it may have been proceeding against the
wrong unit.” 1d. And its foreclosure specialist “presumably understood that proceeding in the face
of these warning signs involved an imminent, as opposed to merely a theoretical, risk of harm to
this particular unit’s lawful owner.” Id. So “the jury reasonably could have inferred that
Countrywide’s casual attempts at verification indicated a willful and deliberate failure on its part
to avoid that harm,” and thus “could have logically concluded that Countrywide consciously
disregarded [plaintiffs’] rights.” Id. at 744-45. Submitting plaintiffs’ punitive damages claim to
the jury was therefore proper. Id. at 745.

Similarly, our supreme court affirmed a punitive damages award of almost $58 million
against a drug manufacturer in Wyeth v. Rowatt, 126 Nev. 446 (2010). Plaintiffs had been
diagnosed with breast cancer after taking Wyeth’s drugs, id. at 451, i.e., they “all developed a
debilitating disease, breast cancer, as a result of Wyeth’s actions, or lack thereof.” 1d. at 471. Wyeth
“presented evidence that its drug label warned women and physicians that there was a risk of breast
cancer, [but] these warnings were inadequate because they were misleading.” 1d. at 468. Indeed,
Wyeth had “financed and manipulated scientific studies and sponsored medical articles to

downplay the risk of cancer while promoting certain unproven benefits.” Id. Still, there was
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“evidence that Wyeth provided a breast cancer warning, although arguably inadequate, and that it
sponsored some limited testing.” 1d. at 470. Nevertheless, “[b]ased on the warning’s language and
Wyeth’s actions . . . a jury could reasonably determine that while Wyeth warned of breast cancer,
it also tried to hide any potential harmful consequences of its products,” so “substantial evidence
supports the jury’s conclusion that Wyeth acted with malice when it had knowledge of the probable
harmful consequences of its wrongful acts and willfully and deliberately failed to act to avoid those
consequences such that punitive damages were warranted.” 1d. at 474.2

Life Care Centers of America knew that LCCPV had serious medication issues, SOF 110,
including that its 2015 medication error rate was ten percent, SOF { 128, and that its ongoing
problems with residents not receiving the right medications antedated Mary’s overdose, SOF 1
183-91; knew that cover-ups were happening at LCCPV, including false documentation and
cover-ups of medication errors, SOF {{ 213-14; knew that residents were dying because of Life
Care’s desire to avoid bounce-backs, SOF { 214, i.e., for the sake of Life Care’s profit margin,
SOF 11 158, 160; and knew that the lives of LCCPV’s residents remained at risk. SOF { 215. Yet
despite this knowledge Life Care Centers of America continued to pressure LCCPV to retain
residents fit for hospitalization, SOF 11 159, 161-62; and continued to pressure LCCPV to increase
its census, SOF 1{ 163-64, resulting in an increase from 78 residents in January to 92 by 8 March,
SOF { 165; while continuing to force LCCPV to operate within its corporate-imposed budget and
corporate-capped labor, SOF 1 166-68, thereby tying the DON’s hands even though she knew
that residents were suffering because of LCCPV’s lack of staff. SOF | 169-71. And so the
probable harmful consequences of these wrongful acts occurred: yet another resident, in this case
Mary, needlessly suffered and died because of LCCPV’s Life Care-mandated lack of staff. This is

sufficient evidence of Life Care Centers of America’s conscious disregard for punitive damages

N NN
o N o

2 See also Austin v. C & L Trucking, Inc., 610 F. Supp. 465, 472 (D. Nev. 1985) (“Malice in fact may be inferred from a
conscious disregard of an accepted safety procedure by the defendant.”); Evans v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 116 Nev.
598 (2000) (affirming $6 million punitive damages award against brokerage firm that had enabled financial exploitation
of widow who was “dependent upon nursing assistance for all of the activities of daily living”); Clark v. Lubritz, 113
Nev. 1089 (1997) (holding that partners’ decision not to tell other partner that they had reduced his year-end distribution
constituted clear and convincing evidence of malice).
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to reach the jury.

LCCPV and its staff knew that LCCPV was short of nurses and that Nurse Dawson, who
was being rushed by the ADON and did not know her residents of 7 March, SOF { 22-24, 27,
was set up for failure, SOF  141; knew that Nurse Dawson gave Mary a potentially fatal dose of
morphine, SOF {1 30, 136-37; knew that Mary was thereafter nauseated, SOF { 39, with increased
blood pressure and lethargy, SOF { 43; knew that they were ignorant of basic facts such as what
narcotic was given, when, how much, or whether it was extended release, SOF { 40; knew that
Nurse Socaoco needed that information for Mary’s appropriate care and treatment, SOF { 140;
knew the importance of Mary’s clinical record, SOF { 89; knew that Mary needed to be monitored
overnight, SOF 1 53; knew that a hospital was better equipped to monitor Mary than was LCCPV,
SOF 1 143; knew that they could call 911, SOF { 142; knew that Mary did not receive OT on 8
March because of a change in her medical status, SOF { 55; and knew that Mary did not receive
PT on 8 March because of her change in status and that PT could not rouse her that day despite
multiple attempts. SOF { 56.

Yet despite this knowledge LCCPV and its staff failed to monitor Mary’s blood pressure,
SOF 1 93, or vitals, SOF { 94; failed to assess Mary after 5:00 p.m. on 7 March, SOF {1 89, 95, or
on 8 March before Laura arrived and insisted on staff’s attention upon finding Mary unresponsive
and being told by her roommate that “[n]Jo one has come to check her all day,” SOF { 57, which
attention even then was rendered—after Laura hunted down a staff member—uwith no particular
sense of urgency, SOF 1 60, 63; failed to even tell CNAs to monitor Mary, much less why and
how, SOF 1 97-107; and failed to simply pick up the phone and call 911 in order to secure aid
for their unconscious and helpless but still profitable resident until Laura’s presence made their
doing so unavoidable. SOF 1 62-64. And so the probable harmful consequences of these wrongful
acts occurred: Mary, having been overdosed on morphine and thereafter ignored, died of morphine
intoxication. As LCCPV’s DON observed, “It happens.” SOF { 36. This is sufficient evidence of

LCCPV and its staff’s conscious disregard for punitive damages to reach the jury.?

3 As to Nurse Dawson specifically, she knew how to ensure that the right resident would receive the right medication,
i.e., the five rights of medication, SOF {1 131-33; knew the need for heightened vigilance with controlled narcotics, SOF
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Nurse Socaoco knew that Mary had been overdosed, SOF | 49; knew that she did not know
necessary details of the overdose such as what the narcotic was, how much was given, whether it
was extended release, or whether it had been crushed, SOF 1 51, 207; knew that she was “not
well versed” in narcotics matters, including dosage, the difference between short- and long-acting,
and whether crushing them is appropriate (although even LCCPV’s nurses knew not to crush such
medications, {1 125, 138), SOF { 206; knew that she was ignorant of Narcan’s lifespan and of its
efficacy hours after it was given, SOF { 209; knew that she should call Dr. Saxena if presented
with a situation beyond the scope of her practice, SOF { 202; and knew that Mary’s situation was
beyond the scope of her practice as a new nurse practitioner. SOF | 210. Yet despite this
knowledge she simply prescribed Narcan and called it a day. And so the probable harmful
consequences of these wrongful acts occurred: the Narcan’s effectiveness waned; Mary declined:;
Mary died. This is sufficient evidence of Nurse Socaoco’s conscious disregard for punitive
damages to reach the jury.

Thitchener counsels the same result. As in Thitchener, Defendants here may wish to present
this case as a convergence of undetected mistakes in order to claim insufficient evidence of actual
knowledge. But as in Thitchener that wish will go ungranted, for actual knowledge plays no role
in analyzing a defendant’s conscious disregard for implied malice and oppression purposes (and
in any event Defendants did have actual knowledge that LCCPV’s lack of staff was harming
residents and of LCCPV’s widespread and persistent medication errors). And as in Thitchener
plaintiffs could point to evidence of multiple warning signs ignored by Countrywide before it
foreclosed on their condo (for example, its foreclosure specialist was “indifferent regarding the
broker price opinion, which she . . . admittedly ignored,” 124 Nev. at 744), so too here Laura’s
record is rich in evidence that Defendants ignored the warning signs of the compromised care that
residents were receiving because of the lack of staff, of the dangerously chaotic situation

conductive to the medication errors for which LCCPV is known in which Nurse Dawson had been

119 135, 139; and knew not to crush medications unless she had first consulted the provider, SOF {1 125, 138; yet despite
this knowledge she, as she said, “fucked up.” SOF { 35. LCCPV did get around to educating her on its medication

administration policy a few days after the fuck-up. SOF 1 88.
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placed, and of Mary’s decline—indeed, they declined even to record her vital signs or blood
pressure or to assess her at all until her daughter’s presence foreclosed their further neglect of
Mary. This is sufficient evidence to infer that Defendants knew that Mary could have been
suffering from morphine-induced harm ultimately arising from LCCPV’s understaffing and
breakdown in medication administration. And as in Thitchener Countrywide’s foreclosure
specialist “presumably understood that proceeding in the face of these warning signs involved an
imminent, as opposed to merely a theoretical, risk of harm,” id., so too here Defendants understood
that continued inattention to LCCPV’s understaffing, to its medication blunders, and to Mary’s
condition despite her morphine overdose involved an imminent risk of harm or death to Mary. The
jury is therefore entitled to conclude that Defendants’ casual to nonexistent attempts to verify
Mary’s wellbeing after they themselves placed her at risk of harm or death by morphine overdose
indicated a willful and deliberate failure on their part to avoid Mary’s harm or death, and so may
conclude that they consciously disregarded Mary’s rights. Thitchener therefore requires submitting
Laura’s punitive damages claim to the jury.

Wyeth is likewise. As in Wyeth plaintiffs had suffered a debilitating disease as a result of
Wyeth’s actions or lack thereof, so too here Mary suffered harm and death as a result of
Defendants’ actions or lack thereof. And as Wyeth financed and manipulated scientific studies to
downplay the risk of harm from their drug, so too here Defendants have for the sake of profit
maximization manipulated their census by clinging to potential “bounce-back” residents and have
engaged in cover-ups of the injuries and deaths that LCCPV’s residents have suffered—in
particular here Nurse Dawson’s employee file and Life Care’s incident report loudly clash with
other evidence regarding the timeline of the events of 7 March (for example, as to when Nurse
Socaoco and the ADON were notified). Indeed, Wyeth’s actions were less culpable than
Defendants’ here: Wyeth “provided a breast cancer warning, although arguably inadequate, and .
. . sponsored some limited testing,” 126 Nev. at 470, thus showing some slight concern for its
customers, while Defendants here—although extremely zealous to claim and retain residents—
made no effort to address the warning signs that Nurse Dawson had been placed in an untenable

position or to apprise themselves of Mary’s condition (even failing to tell LCCPV’s night staff that
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she was to be monitored or what to look for) before Laura’s forceful presence made acknowledging
Mary’s existence and condition inescapable. So as in Wyeth defendant’s warning and actions
constituted substantial evidence supporting the jury’s conclusion that Wyeth acted with malice, so
too here Defendants’ failures to address the warning signs of error-inducing chaos on the morning
of 7 March or to warn staff to monitor Mary and their failure to take any action to salvage her life
until forced to do so (by which time it was too late to save her) would support a jury’s conclusion
that they acted with malice. Wyeth therefore requires submitting Laura’s punitive damages claim
to the jury.

In sum, Laura has adduced sufficient evidence of Defendants’ conscious disregard for the
rights and safety of her mother, who shortly before entering LCCPV was at home and shortly after
leaving LCCPV was in the ground, for the jury to weigh punitive damages on theories of implied
malice and oppression. An order that the jury will be permitted to do so is therefore now justified.
IV.  CONCLUSION.

Laura requests that the Court order that the jury will be permitted to consider awarding
punitive damages.

DATED this 21% day of September, 2018.

KOLESAR & LEATHAM
By /s/ Melanie L. Bossie, Esq.
MicHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000878
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
MELANIE L. Bossig, EsQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260
BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & McHuUGH, P.A.

One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700
Tampa, FL, 33609

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that | am an employee of Kolesar & Leatham, and that on the 21% day of
September, 2018, | caused to be served a true and correct copy of foregoing PLAINTIFFS’
MOTION FOR PRIMA FACIE CLAIM FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES in the following
manner:

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE) Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced
document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of Electronic
Filing automatically generated by that Court’s facilities to those parties listed on the Court’s
Master Service List.

/sl Kristina R. Cole

An Employee of KOLESAR & LEATHAM
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Electronically Filed
9/21/2018 1:42 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
APEN Cﬁa.u‘ ﬁ,._....,

MicHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 362-7800

Facsimile: (702) 362-9472

E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com
MELANIE L. BossIE, EsQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

Telephone:  (602) 553-4552

Facsimile: (602) 553-4557

E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com
BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.

One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700
Tampa, FL, 33609

Telephone: (813) 873-0026

Facsimile: (813) 286-8820

Email: bennie@wilkesmchugh.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* % %
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA CASE NO. A-17-750520-C
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA DEPT NO. XVII
LATRENTA, individually,
Consolidated with:
Plaintiffs, CASE NO. A-17-754013-C
VS.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER APPENDIX OF EXHIBITS TO
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR PRIMA
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH FACIE CLAIM FOR PUNITIVE
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED DAMAGES

PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO,
Administrator; CARL WAGNER,
Administrator; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually,

Plaintiffs.
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VS.

SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.; ANNABELLE
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC.
aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.;
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA,
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF
NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF
NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51-100,

Defendant.

APPENDIX TO PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR PRIMA FACIE CLAIM FOR

PUNITIVE DAMAGES

Exhibits Document Description Page No(s).
1. Photograph 1-2
2. OT Plan of Treatment 3-4
3. Progress Notes 5-7
4, Discharge Summary 8-9
5. Floor Plan 10-11
6. Nursing Assessment 12-14
7. MDS 15-19

Deposition of Loretta Chatman 20-23
9. LCC Fall Incident Report 24-29
10. Non-Pressure Skin Condition Record 30-32
11. Deposition of Regina Ramos 33-37
12. Interim Care Plan 38-39
13. Dawson Statement 40-41
14. Deposition of Meseret Werago 42-49
15. Deposition of Ersheila D. Dawson 50-59
16. LCC Medical Incident Report 60-63
17. Dawson Employee File 64-65
18. Deposition of Thelma B. Olea 66-85
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APPENDIX TO PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR PRIMA FACIE CLAIM FOR
PUNITIVE DAMAGES

Exhibits Document Description Page No(s).
19. Deposition of Cecilia Sansome 86-102
20. Telephone Orders 103-105
21. Deposition of Annabelle Socaoco, N.P. 106-112
22. Deposition of Laura Latrenta 113-118
23. Post Acute Treatment Note 119-120
24. OT Daily Treatment Note 121-122
25. PT Daily Treatment Note 123-124
26. EMS Report 125-128
27. SBAR Communication Form 129-131
28. Deposition of Tessie Hecht 132-154
29. Transfer Form 155-156
30. Sunrise Hospital and Medical Center History and Physical 157-159
31. Sunrise Hospital and Medical Center Discharge Summary 160-161
32. Neurological Consultation Note 162-169
33. Death Certificate 170-171
34. Autopsy Report 172-174
35. Toxicology Report 175-178
36. Deposition of Isabella Reyes 179-182
37. Neurological Assessment Flow Sheet 183-185
38. Vital Sign Flow Sheet 186-187
39. Deposition of Mariver Delloro 188-192
40. Deposition of Debra Johnson 193-195
41. Deposition of Cherry Uy 196-201
42. Regional Director of Clinical Services Facility Visit 202-203
Report (Jan. 18, 2016)
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APPENDIX TO PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR PRIMA FACIE CLAIM FOR
PUNITIVE DAMAGES

Exhibits Document Description Page No(s).
43. Regional Director of Clinical Services Facility Visit 204-205
Report (Feb. 25, 2016)
44, Regional Director of Clinical Services Facility Visit 206-207
Report (Mar. 8, 2016)
45, Change of Condition 208-210
46. Survey (Apr. 21, 2016) 211-224
47. Survey (Mar. 13, 2015) 225-236
48. Deposition of Samir Saxena, M.D. 237-240
49, Deposition of Machelle Lynette Harris 241-243
50. Deposition of Carl Wagner 244-249
51. Preston/Hunter Letter (Dec. 8, 2015) 250-252
52. Deposition of Connie Blackmore 253-256
DATED this 21% day of September, 2018.
KOLESAR & LEATHAM
By /s/ Melanie L. Bossie, Esq.

MicCHAEL D. DAVIDSON, EsQ.

Nevada Bar No. 000878

400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

MELANIE L. BossIE, EsQ. - Pro Hac Vice

WILKES & McHUGH, P.A.

15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300

Scottsdale, Arizona 85260

BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice

WILKES & McHUGH, P.A.

One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700

Tampa, FL, 33609

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that | am an employee of Kolesar & Leatham, and that on the 21% day of
September, 2018, | caused to be served a true and correct copy of foregoing APPENDIX OF
EXHIBITS TO PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR PRIMA FACIE CLAIM FOR PUNITIVE
DAMAGES in the following manner:

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE) Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced
document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of Electronic
Filing automatically generated by that Court’s facilities to those parties listed on the Court’s
Master Service List.

/sl Kristina R. Cole

An Employee of KOLESAR & LEATHAM
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Lneldeed Dty Aggivo
Report Authar ! Regina 8 Ramps
Facility : Paradige Valloy (Kv)

Last Name

Flrst Naros

Gender

Asslgned Room Number
Type of Incident Allagad
Level of Incident

ELECTRONICALLY
17512018 4:11

PM

Preiiminary

Prallminary Information

Cutside Care

Was outside care needed to fraat and/or diagnose thig injury?

Did incldent Oceur Inslde or Outside the Facility?

Unit where Insident/Accidant accurrad
Wing where Incident/Accident oceurrad
Floor wherg Accident/Incldant octurred

Full Description of Incidant/Aceident

Incident

Incident Location

Inside Locatjon

Occurrence?

Withass

SERVED

Page 1 of

Dats/Timy 3312016 2:00.0p PM
Incidant Iy ; 1242264

Curlis

Famafo
313A
Fall
Leval

No

Inside

Skiflad Nursing
East
First

Called by staff | batient om thys veriter came ASAP in
pationt « Found patiang laying on the foor on jeft
side posttion in the bathroom, When askad what
happened patiant Stated"l got oyt from bed to use tne
bathroom Jogt ™My balance then | feil, PL 98itf ahe hit hey
head on the wall but not to much.Body a58058mant wag
done. NO noted lump o1 bump on haag al thiz

ta all extremities, No injuries noteg

Was incldent whinessed?

Printed : Thu Mar 17 14:39:50 EDT 2016

hitps://idaapp/f AN ncidentReport,aspx Incidentld=1 242261

No

Page1of 5

o 172016
LCC FALL INGIDENT RPT-00001

Case Number: A-17-750520-C
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Report Author: Regina S Ramos
Facllify : Paradiss Valley (NV)

Person who discovered Incident - Last Name
Person who discovered Incident - First Nama
Parson who discoverad Incident - Title

Discovery

Page 2 of 5

DatefTime ; 3/3/2018 2:00:00 PN
incldent 1D < 1242261

Carlson
Jan
Rasident at tha facl

Resldent Condition Befare

Rasident's Mental Funclion bafore Incident/Accident
Was Resident non-compliant with care or transfers?
What is the Resident’s functional mobllity?

Alart/confused
Yes
Transfars - Naed Asslatance

Resident Activity
Activity at the time of the Incident? Chack all that apply. Golng to tha bathroom

Assistive Dovices
What Resldent Assistive Devies was in use at the fime of the incident? Other

Restraints
Were any Restrainis In use at the time of the Incident? Mo
Resldent Conditton
Resident’s Mantat Function after Insldent/Acoldent Alert/Confuaed
Vital §lgns

What was the Resident’s temperature immediately after the Incldent? 98
What was the Resldent’s Pulse iImmediately afier the incldent? 73
What was the Reskients Resplratory Rata? 22
What was tha Resldent's Blood Pressure immaediately afer the 18575
Incident?
Describa the Resldent's Intenslly of Pain after the incident, (using the 0.3
pain scale)

Physiclan/NP [nfo
Physician Notifled/NP - Last Name Samilr
Physictan Notified/NF « Firs{ Nama Soxene
Date/TIma of Physkclan/NP Notification Mar 3 2016 2,00PM
Briaf Summary of Physiclan's/NS°s Response or Orders

no new orders
Reprasentativa Info

Family/Lega! Representative Notifled - Last Name Curlls
Printad : Thu Mar 17 14:32:50 EDT 2018 Page 2 0f b

hitps:/fidaapp/IDA/IncidentReport.aspxUncidentld=1242261

LCC FALL INCIDENT RP%!(%(%%%]G

26
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Report Author : Regina § Ramos
Fagility : Paradise Vallsy (NV)

Family/Legal Representative Notified - First Nams
Famify Relationship to Rasident

Date/Time Family /Representative Nofified
Method of Notification

Was any other Family Member notified?

First Ald
Was first ald administered at the facility?
Actions

What Immediate actions were taken to provide safety for the resident
and/or others?

Supervigor Info
Superylsor Last Narme
Bupervisor First Name
Supervisor Tille
Investigation

Qceurrence Detall

Specific Location (check all that apply)
‘Was an assosiate involved or providing cace at time of the incident?

Data Entry

Person Entering kia Data - Last Names
Pearson Entering lda Data - Firet Name
Person Entering Ida Data - Tille

Pagec 3ol 5

DatefMime ; 373/2016 2:00:00 PM
incident 1D : 1242261

Laura

Daughter

Mar 3 2016 7:45PM
Spoke with somenne
No

No

continue falling star intervention. Tab -atarm ,put bed in
towest position.Non-skid socks.

Olea
Thelma

-ADON

Resident's Bathroom
Mo

Ramos
Ragina
LPN

Curvant Status of Resident

How is Resident now?
Diagnoses
Primary Diagnosis
Medication Usage

Ware any one of the following medications In ues at tha time of the
incident?
List any drugs and date staried within the last 14 days.

Observation

Hypartantion

No Medication

all mads, upon adrmission

Printed : Tha Mar 17 14:39:50 EDT 2016

hitps://idaapp/IDA/IncidentReport.aspx?Incidentld=1242261

Pagedol 5

3/17/2016
LCC FALL INCIDENT RPT-00003

27
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Report Author : Reglna 8 Ramos
Facliity : Paradlse Valley (NV)

Resident's Mobllity Status? Check gl thal apply
Is the Resident Inconthent? (If yes, what type of toileling program)

What type of toilating program Is tn placa?

What If any, of the following barriers potentially contributed to the

Incident?Check all that apply

Was the floor wet? (If yes, with what substanca?}

Fall Category As Defined By CMS
Was fail Attended/Unattendad?

What position was the Resident in when you found them?

{e.g. Resident found flat on back)

Did the: Resident have accass to a call ight when he/she fell?

Was call fight on at time of incldent?

When was the Jast Fall Rlek Assasament done?
What was the Fall Risk Assessmaent score?
What falf reduction measures were In place at time of inckient?

Has residen! fallen previously?

Resident has faften in past? (Number of days)

Is findling this Resident on the floor an expected behavior?

Was & head njury suspected?

1s the resldent a candidate for hip protectors?
if resident is not a candidate for hip protectors, reasons why. (Choose

all that apply.)

Weore hip protactors on al the time of the fall?
if refused, reasons for refusal, (Chack all that apply)

if refused, was waiver slgned?

Tolleting Program

Resldent Fall Detall

Previous Fall History

Date/Timae @ 3/3/2016 2:00:00 PM
fncident i : 1242261

Unsieady Gait
Yes, without Urgency

Prompted voiding

No Barrlers Noted
No

Found on floor with or wio In}
Unatiended

laying on the floor left slde position
No

Noa

After last incident

22

Bed alarm

Yes

0~ 80 days

Yes
No

No
Other
No

Pra
Irag

g4 ofs

Printed : Thu Mar 17 14:39:50 £EDT 2016

hitps://idaapp/IDA/IncidentReport.aspx?Incidentld=1242261]

Page 4 of &

LCC FALL INCIDENT RPT—JJ

3/

Jhs
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&

Page S of &

Report Authar ; Regina § Ramoa DatefThme : 3/3/2016 2:00:00 PW
Faclllty : Paradlse Yalley (NV) Incident ID : 1242281

Was there a loss In Consciousness? No

Ware neuro-checks completed per protocal? Yes

Care PlaryChart

Date care plan reviewed and updated J3raie
Date alert charting initiated 3/312016
What intarventions were In place at the time of the Incldept?
Tab-alarm .fall risk bracelet

What Intarventions are In place now?
{ab-alarm, put bed on lowest position.

® 2001 - 2011 Life Care Centers of Amerlea, Inc. IDA is a sewvice mark of Life Care Centers of America, Ino. All rights ressrved. IDA ls
confidentlal and subject te attorney work product privilags,

Printed : Thu Mar 17 14:39:50 EDT 2018 Page 5cf §

a1 ’ v By s1ide e d )
hitps://idaapp/IDA/IncidentReport.aspx?Incidentld=124226] T —— 13_/&86%2]6
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY,

Estate of MARY CURTIS,
deceased; LAURA LATRENTA,
as Personal Representative
the Estate of MARY CURTIS;
and LAURA LATRENTA,
individually,

of

Plaintiffs,

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE
CENTERS OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS
f/k/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF
PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS
VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; et al.,

Defendants.

DEPOSITION OF ERSHEILA D. DAWSON
THURSDAY, MARCH 1, 2018
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA
REPORTED BY:
KENDALL D. HEATH
NEV. CCR NO. 475
CALIF. CSR NO. 11861
JOB NO. : 2811353
PAGES 1 - 143
Page 1
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NEVADA

Case No.
A-17-750520-C

Veritext Legal Solutions
877-955-3855
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Q If you could just describe for me just your
vague recollection of Mary, what do you remember?

A I know she was up in age, I think 90-plus
yvears of age, and she came to Life Care I believe
because failure to be able to care for herself.

Q Now, I believe you were only assigned to Mary
on one occasion?

A One day.

Q So I take it you were not familiar with Mary
and her care needs; 1is that fair?

A For a day, I can't -- you can't say yes, SO
it would be a no.

Q Now, it's my understanding that you were not
normally assigned to the 3- or 400 units at Life Care
Centers of Paradise Valley; am I correct?

A No, I was usually on the 1- or the 200
hall.

Q On the one day that you were assigned to
Mary, who was on the 300 unit, how did it come to be
that you got assigned to that unit from management at
Life Care?

A Wow. I believe I got called into work. They
were short a nurse, and I got called in. They were
short a nurse, and I got called in.

Q Do you know why they did not call in a nurse

Page 10

Veritext Legal Solutions
877-955-3855
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A Absolutely.

Q And the five -- now seven rights of
medication, is the standard of care in nursing in
providing a medication administration to a resident;
am I correct?

A Yes.

Q I also take it, it takes time to go through
the different steps of the seven rights of medication
administration in order to ensure the right medication
is given to the right resident?

A Yes.

Q In I believe the five rights -- strike that.

Back in 2016, it was the seven rights of
medication administration; am I correct?

A Yes.

Q The seven rights of medication administration
is a standard of care that's in place to ensure that
the right medication is given to the right resident?

A Yes.

Q And in the seven rights of medication is also
in place in order to ensure the health and the
well-being of the residents receiving the medication;
am I correct?

A Yes.

Q Because it is well-known in nursing that if a

Page 25
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wrong medication is given to the wrong patient, and
depending on what that medication is, it can be
life-threatening and sometimes fatal --

MS. BROOKHYSER: Foundation.

BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q -- agreed?
A That's true.
Q And as a licensed practical nurse, you had

knowledge of each of those five rights of
medication?

A Yes.

Q So I just want to talk a little bit about
them, if you don't mind.

Now, I take it that these seven rights of
medication administration to residents are in place to
have basically the checks and balances that you have
the right patient, the right medication, the right
dose, the right route, and the right reason; am I
correct?

A The right time, vyes.

Q And we'll go through each of them, but each
step of ensuring that you've got the right medication
with the right patient is a checks and balances to
ensure that the health and safety and the well-being

of the resident is being adhered to; am I correct?

Page 26
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10

11

12

13

14

16

17 |

18

19

20

21

22

23

came out, we immediately called the PCP that was on
for Mary, and the first two or three phone calls, they
didn't pick up. We had their cell phone, they didn't
pick up. But I kept calling until she picked up.

And I -- she was like, It must be something,.
We were very loose in association, so it wasn't like a
stern phone call. I immediately told her what I --
what I had done, and she immediately gave me an order.
I gave the order to the unit secretary. The unit
secretary drew up the order and it was administered.
It wasn't even 20 minutes that elapsed that we swang
into action to make sure that the effects of the
morphine wouldn't be detrimental.

Q Let me go through some of -- you just covered:

a lot of information.

So I take it, you realized that the wrong

medication was given to Mary?

A Correct.

Q And then did you determine that it was
morphine?

A Yes.

Q And then did you determine that it was a

significant dose of morphine, being 120 milligrams?
A Correct.

Q And clearly, 120 milligrams is a significant
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dose of morphine?

A Absolutely.

Q And I believe you realized that Mary should
not have gotten morphine?

A Yes.

Q And since 120 milligrams of morphine is a
significant dose of morphine, there was this conscious
awareness that, Hey, we need to do something about it

because it could be life-threatening or fatal?

A Correct.

Q Now, after you realize this, you go and you
go find --

A After I realized it, I called the attending.

0 Okay .

A I didn't get an answer. I put the phone
down. I went and got -- knocked on the door for the
director of nursing, but they were in a meeting. But

I told Ms. Thelma, I said, I really got to talk to
you.

Q Okay.

A So she stepped out and I told her. She did
come down with me, we did go in. Mary was no reaction
to the morphine as of yet. That was notable. Took
her vital signs. She was within normal range of her

vital signs, and so we start calling the attending
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was coming into town that day. That was the urgency
about getting her medicated, so she wouldn't be in
kind of a complaintive state. So she was pretty --
pretty upset. I was upset.

Q Did you also say to yourself, How in the

world could this have happened?

A No, I felt like I really just messed up. I
really just messed this up. It was unbelievable. I
was very concerned. I was overwhelmed that I may have

had harmed somebody. So, yeah, I was pretty upset
too.

Q Now, did Thelma know what had taken place
prior to you talking with Victoria? ;
A Yeah, because we -- we went to the phone
together. She was in her office calling, I was on the

station calling. And then when we got the pick-up,
the unit secretary, I believe her name is Cecile, she
wrote down the order as I called it out. And she went

and pulled the Narcan and she administered it.

0 And is Cecile, I believe it's Cecilia
Samson -- Samson?

A I don't know the last name.

Q Cecilia 1s an RN; am I correct?

A Correct.

Q And I know you may not be able to give me
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Q I believe earlier you had also talked to the
director of nursing regarding your concerns of why the
fall the day before was not in the record?

A I asked that. I said -- and it was because
no one had seen it. It wasn't witnessed. It was just
the word of the roommate.

Q I take it, though, if someone experiences a
fall and it's reported that the resident had fallen,
it should indicate within the clinical records or an
incident report pertaining to the interview of what
happened?

A I -- my thought, she said just vaguely, like
they were going to call the nighttime nurse and
question her about it, but it was just the word of the

roommate, no one had seen it.

Q Okay.
A And Mary herself didn't ever say she fell.
Q Did you specifically talk to Mary about the

fall and the injury that she experienced the night

before?
A No. I asked her if she was in pain.
Q Just want to ask you a couple of questions,

if you don't mind.
Now, I believe you -- the note that I believe

you're authoring at the end of the day is regarding
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When that was one of her daughter's and the
two housekeepers that came in to visit her that day,
had also noted that she hadn't been eating very much,
that she was probably dehydrated. The housekeepers
were trying to push fluids too, and that she had
fallen a lot of times inside of her apartment.

BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q You do agree, though, that it 1s reckless to
Mary's health and well-being that the appropriate
controlled narcotics were not lined up to be
appropriately administered to her?

A I do.

MS. BROOKHYSER: Incomplete hypothetical;
foundation; speculation; and calls for a legal
conclusion.

BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q Did management ever inform you that the cause
of death by the coroner for Mary was acute morphine
intoxication?

A They did not. I was never told that.

Q Were you made aware that Life Care of
Paradise Valley, by the State of Nevada, was cited for
the deficiency pertailning to the unnecessary
medication of the morphine being given to Mary?

A I was never told that they were cited.

Page 94

Veritext Legal Solutions
877-955-3855

59

APP179




EXHIBIT 22



Laura Latrenta ~ November 29, 2017

Page 1

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased;
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Al I walked in to the facility. And whenever 1 see

my mother, I try to put on a happy face. TI'm sure

was unhappy being there. And I came in, and 1 went, Hi,

Mom.
And somebody said to me, You're not going
be smiling when we tell you what happened.
Q. Okay.
A. 1 look at her, and 1 said, What are you ta

about? She says, Don't worry. Now, I don't know i

phrase came before or after this next sentence, but she
said, Don't worry, you're going Lo have your mother back

in six hours. I think first she said, She was given the

wrong medication.

T said -- and then she didn't offer anythi
after that. So I said, What medication? She said,
Morphine. Nothing after that. Morphine, I repeate
These things I know exactly. How much morphine? B
that time, my heart is racing.

And she says, Don't worry., You will have
mother back in six hours. And I believe she said,
120 milligrams. I know enough about morphine to kn
that that is a terrible dose.

At that point, the nurse started to cry.
say, I'm so sorry. I've never done this. And ther

was a lot of chaos. And during this whole time, my

she

to

lking

£ this

ng

d.

y

your
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e
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what six hours was. But I felt I would be able to go
home because frankly, what would I be doing to help her
staying? So I went home to bed.

Q. When you went home, was she awake?

A. I don't recall if she was drowsy or like —-- I
know she wasn't like, Bye, Mom. Bye, Laura. It wasn't
that. That was no more.

Q. But you can't remember 1f she was awake or
asleep at that point?

A. I can't remember.

Q. Did you have any other conversations that day
with any other Life Care Center personnel that we have
not talked about?

A. I don't recall, but I might have said something
to people walking in to checking her, How i1s she doing?
What's going on? 1 might have had comments and question
like that.

Q. Sure. But no other conversations stand out in
your mind?

A. No sitdown conversations about my mother. Othe
than, Oh, she's going to be fine.

Q. Okay. So when was the next time that you came
back to Life Care Center?

A. The next day.

Q. Okay. Do you recall about what time you came?

S

r
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A. T want to say like 11, 11:15.

Q. And you went straight to your mom's room?

A. Oh, yeah.

Q. And tell me how she looked when you got there.

A. She wasn't responsive. And there is this lady,
Jen, who was this person who has been there for -- I
don't know anything about her, but she was, like, her
bedmate. And she said, You know, your mom has been out
of 1t. No one has come to check her all day.

Q. When you say bedmate, you're talking about
another resident?

A. There were two beds in the room. Yeah. Yeah.
She was in the other bed. And I went, Mom, Mom.

Q. So you were touching her?

A. Yeah. And she wasn't responsive. And I don't
know why I did this, but I took my phone out, and I
videoed her not being responsive. Because I was used to
seeing Ileana's videos of the bruises on her leg and how
she was doing. Because Ileana always sent me videos of
my mother in the grocery store or picltures of my mother.

Q. Sure.

A. So she actually taught me that. Back and forth
we would send videos and pictures.

I took my phone out, and I videoed me trying

to wake her. I went, Mom, Mom. Her mouth was open,
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A. Are you asking me if another doctor told me that
he did something wrong?

Q. That Saxena did something wrong?

A. No.

Q. There's a note in the Life Care Paradise Valley
chart March 7, 2016 at 3:59 p.m. indicating that they
notified you of the fact that morphine had been
administered to your mother.

Do you remember learning that around that
time?

A. No. I learned that when I walked in the door.

Q. Okay. Do you know what time of day that was?

A. T walked in about 12.

Q. Okay. And then were you basically in the room
from 12 on that day?

A. T was in the room until maybe 2:30.

Q. Okay.

A. I went home to get Lthe pasta, the macaroni, and
1T came back about 90 minutes later, to the best of my
recollection.

0. In the note, they indicate that your mother had
some nausea and vomiting, less than 1 ounce. Did you see
anything more than “Jjust 1 ounce of vomit?

A. I can't recall what was in the garbage can. But

they made me hold it.
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their loved one would be meeting the nursing standard of

care 1in providing that care. True?
A Yes.
0 Now I would take it, as a management nurse did

you also have an expectation that the nursing staff would
comply with the nursing policy and procedures that were
in place at the facility?

A Yes.

Q And just from your recollection pertaining to
the nursing department policy and procedures, were they

in line with the standard of care in nursing®?

A Yes.

o) And I take it you know what I mean by "the
standard of care in nursing." Am I correct?

A Yes.

Q And if you could, in your words, just tell me

what your understanding of what standard of care in

nursing means.

A That the patient will receive the care that
is -- guality of care which has, as according to their
diagnosis when they came -- they come to the facility,

the quality of care, and the nurses will provide
everything from medication administration, evaluation,
change of condition, communicate to the doctor whatever

the change of conditions are in a timely manner.
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A Yes.
Q Going on to making sure we've got the right
medication, within that right there's multiple checks and

balances, especially when you're dealing with controlled

narcotics. Am I correct?
A Yes.
Q And let me just go through some of those checks

and balances.

One, when you pull a controlled narcotic out of
the locked unit, you need to look at the controlled
narcotic log, make sure you've got the right medication
for the right resident, and then subtract that controlled
narcotic from the log.

A Yes.
Q That's the first checks and balances.

Then you would like to compare it to the
medication administration record to make sure you've got
the right medication and order. Am I correct?

A Yes.
Q So again, there's even more checks and balances

ensuring the right medication's going to the right

patient.
A Yes.
0 Now I take it that there i1s or should be a

heightened awareness when you're providing controlled
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narcotics to a resident.
A Yes.
Q That's why there's the extra steps of looking
at what the medication is, comparing it to the controlled
narcotic log, comparing it to the MAR, because you don't
want to give a controlled narcotic to a resident that
it's not meant for.
A Yes.
0 And as 1s well known in nursing, if you give a
resident a significant dose of controlled narcotics that
wasn't meant for that resident, it could potentially be
not only dangerous for them. It could potentially be
fatal.

MS. BROOKHYSER: Foundation. Calls for
speculation.

BY MS. BOSSIE:

o] Am I correct?

A I don't know. It can. It can be. It cannot
be, you know. Depends on what 1is the situation of the
resident.

0 It is well known in nursing if you give a

significant dose of morphine to someone who's not used to
morphine, especially in the elderly, that it can
potentially be dangerous for them or potentially be

fatal.
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A Yes.
Q Now, did that come from corporate to you all at

the facility, that you all would need to decrease the
bounce back rate to hospitals, which would mean a
resident who 1s discharged from the hospital to the
nursing home, that they don't bounce back or return to
acute within that 30-day window?
A We were educated in that. Yes.
Q And I take it coming from corporate, there was
an expectation to reduce the bounce back rate for the
return to hospital.

MS. BROOKHYSER: Foundation.

THE WITNESS: Yes and no.
BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q And I'll get to some of the reports later. But
from what I was reviewing -- well, strike that.

Did you receive the reports on the bounce back

or return to acute?

A I don't know what report.

Q But you know the bounce back to hospitals were
tracked.

A Tracked. Yes.

Q And there was an expectation to lower the

bounce back to hospitals.

A Yes.
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percent compliance." Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q So again, up until February 25th, the facility

is still having issues pertaining to medication

wanted the facility to increase the census at the

Paradise Valley facility.

management .
A Yeah. According to this.
Q Golng for a moment to March 8th of 2016.
A Yes.
Q Now, here do you see where the census 1is up
to 927
A Yes.
Q I'm just going back and comparing it for a
moment .
Back on January 18th, do you see where the
census was 787
A Yes.
0 And then going into February 25th, the census
had increased to 857
A Yes.
Q And then going into March 8th of 2016, the
census has now increased to 92. Am I correct?
A Yes.
0 Now, 1t's also my understanding that corporate
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A Yes.
Q And again, as of March 8th, medication

management is an issue.

A Yegs.

0 and that's where we see a medication error has
now, in fact, happened.

A Yes.

Q I just want to next go back, and let me just --
give me two seconds to locate it.

This is just the one document I haven't made
copies of, but we'll just kind of go through it together,
and I'll put the Bates stamp numbers on the record.

MS. BROOKHYSER: Perfect. That works.

BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q Let me just ask a general gquestion.

First of all, I take it if a medication error
is being -- not "being made" -- that's probably -- strike
that.

If a medication error happens at the facility,
there was an expectation that the nursing staff would
complete an‘incident report on it.

A Yes.
Q And would you, as the director of nursing,
receive that incident report to review?

A Yes.
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incident report in which Ativan was given without an
order, and let me just show that to you.
A I see it on here.
Q And obviously a psychotropic medication should
not be given to a resident without the order to do so.
A Yes.
Q And again, the facility would be on notice
through the incident reports of these medication errors
that we're covering. Am I correct?
A Yes.

MS. BROOKHYSER: [Foundation.
BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q Just going to August 1st of 2014 where the
nurse gave Xanax three tablets at 10:00 p.m. on July 31st

of '14 and on August 1st of 2014 at 6:00 a.m. instead of

methadone 10 milligrams three tablets. Do you see that?
A I see 1t. Yes.
0 So, again, the facility is on notice that there

is the issue of providing the wrong medication to
patients.
A I see that --
MS. BROOKHYSER: Foundation.
THE WITNESS: -- from the report.
BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q Tt's starting to appear to be that there is a
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pattern of medication administration problems at the
facility. Am I correct?

MS. BROOKHYSER: Speculation.

THE WITNESS: Yeah.
BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q Going to August 3rd of 2015, the wrong
medication given to patient. The patient's room number
was 108, but patient received 116 resident's medication.
A I see that from the report.
Q And again, the facility being aware that
there's an ongoing problem with patients not receiving
the right medication. Am I correct?

MS. BROOKHYSER: Foundation. Calls for
speculation.

THE WITNESS: Yes.
BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q Going to August 9th of 2015, RN charge nurse,
while providing pain IVP, noted that the stock on hand is
not the same as the pain IVP on the label.
A Yes, I see it.
Q Again, we've covered 2014, and then to 2015,
that there is an ongoing issue with the medication
administration, and specifically patients not receiving
the right medication. Am I correct?

MS. BROOKHYSER: Foundation. Calls for
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was nursing labor review.
A Yes. Yes.
Q And then down below on the nursing labor
review, i1t indicates "Connie discussed staffing with the
director of nursing,”" whom I take is you.
A Yes.
Q "She has been staying under PPD."
So, I take it you were in compliance with the
corporate expectation of staying under the labor PPD.
A Yes.
) Then, "She has had some challenges with nurses

as they have had a higher than normal turnover since the

previous ED resigned." Do you see that?
A I see that.
Q Does that help refresh your recollection that

you were having some issues with the turnover of staff?
A Yes.

Q Now it goes on, "Unit managers, night
supervisor, SDC and ADON have been pulled to the floor
frequently to f£ill vacant nursing spots."

A I see that.

Q So, clearly any of the managing nurses have the
ability to step in and provide medications and do
assessments.

A Yes.
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I correct?

A Yes.

Q And then Christy is forwarding it to you and
Carl so you would be aware of it. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And Christy even indicates "We are trying to be

more vigilant with the medications as this is a high
priority for our patients -- and understandably so,

specially when it pertains to pain medications."

A Yes.
Q The pile is dwindling. Give me just two
seconds .

Now, I believe we talked about earlier that
Thelma Olea was your assistant director of nursing?
A Yes.
Q And she has testified in this matter that there
was an ongoing challenge regarding appropriate medication
administration prior to the events that happened to Mary

Curtis. Obviously, I take it --

A Yes.

Q -- you agree with that --

A I see it.

0 -- gtatement, based on what we'wve covered.
A Yes.

0 Give me two seconds.
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Thelma also had testified in this matter that
at times, both nurses and CNAs would come to her and
share their concerns that they needed additional CNAs and
nurses. Do you remember that being passed on to you?

A I can't remember, but there might be sometimes,
yveah, that it's being said to me that they need more
help.

Q Now, we do know it takes people being employees
to adequately and appropriately supervise residents, but

also to give them adequate and appropriate and timely

care.
A Yes.
0 And we have talked about that there was an

ongoing issue with the turnover of staff --

A Yes.

Q -- at the Paradise Valley facility.

A Yes.

Q And I take it you can't give me specifics, but

you do remember being made aware that nurses and CNAs
were sharing their concerns for the need for more help to
provide resident care.

MS. BROOKHYSER: Misstates her testimony.

THE WITNESS: Yes. And some patients not every

day. Not all the time. Some occasions. Yes.

/7
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BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q Do you remember Cecilia Sansome?

A Yes.

Q And she was a registered nurse. Am I correct?
A Yes.

) And she's testified in this matter that she

would observe nurses not following the standard of care

in nursing, and that she was a vocal nurse, and that she

reported it to management. Do you remember that?
A Yeah. Sometimes.
Q And Cecilia Sanscome also testified that the

acuity of care was high for the facility, and that they
needed more help to meet the residents' needs.
A Yes. Acuity is high.
Q Do you remember Cecilia also bringing that to
your attention?
A I remember on some occasions. Yes.
Q And I believe -- do you remember Cherry Yu,
Y-U? She was a CNA.

MS. BROOKHYSER: U-Y. That's how you spell the
last name.

MS. BOSSIE: First name Cherry.

THE WITNESS: Cherry.
BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q Mm-hmm. C-H-E-R-R-Y.
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I kind of reviewed and read really, yeah, closely.

Q Were you concerned in any manner that there was
a gap from 5 o'clock all the way to the next note, which
was done by yourself at approximately 11 o'clock on the
8th?

A I did not see a documentation of the night
shift, the 11:00 to 7:00, and the 7:00 to before 11:00
o'clock.

0 And I take it since you are a managing nurse
and you were made aware of what happened to Mary, that

you found it very concerning that there were no notes by

those shifts. True?
A Yes.
0 Because as we know, the standard of care, there

should be, especially after an event like this.

A Yes.

Q Now, I want to go to go March 7th, which was
the day that the morphine was given to Mary when it was
not meant for her. Do you have an independent
recollection of, that day, being made aware of that?

A After reviewing the record, I remember the
assistant director of nursing, together with the staff,

came to me and told me about it.

Q Do you remember approximately when that was?
A I know it was before lunch. I can't even
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THE WITNESS: I don't know. I don't know what
happened. I'm trying to recollect, but it's really hard.
I can't remember. I don't know what was relayed to
Annabelle, you know.

BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q Well, what should be relayed to Annabelle is
all of the items I've just talked about.
A I --
MS. BROOKHYSER: Same objection.
MR. VITATOE: Join.

BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q What specifically was given. What opiate.
True?

A Yes.

Q How much opiate was given.

A Yes.

Q When 1t was given.

A Yes.

Q Whether it was extended release or short
acting.

A Yes.

Q Because through your experience as a registered

nurse, you would need all of that data to appropriately
care and treat for Mary.

A Yes.
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BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q Now, I would take it to be in compliance with
the regulations governing clinical records, that clinical
records and incident reports would need to be accurate,
truthful, and complete.

A Yes.

Q Well, one we're starting down that we know
Mary's clinical record is not complete because, first of
all, there's no note for March 5th. Am I correct?

A Mm-hmm. Yes.

Q There's no note in her clinical record to
specifically what was given to her, at what time, at what

dose, and whether it was extended release or short

acting.
A Yes.,
Q That should be all contained in the clinical

record so 1t can be a communication tool to the oncoming
nurses and then the nurse the next day.
A Yes.
Q Now, just going back for a moment to the
nurses' progress notes which is marked as 7 for the
record.

Now, for March 7th during the day shift,
there's only one note by Ms. Dawson. Am I correct? That

was entered at 3:59 p.m.
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A Yes.

0 If you, yourself, had done an agsessment of
Mary, this is where you would document the assessment.
A I would document in this.

0 And this is where Thelma, i1f she's doing an

assegssment of Mary, this is where she would be

documenting.

A Yes.

Q And the same with Cecilia.

A Yes.

Q And I take it that you don't see any entry

notes from Thelma or Cecilia?

A I don't see any.

Q Is that concerning to you as a managing nurse,
that if you have your assistant director of nursing who
is assessing along with Cecilia, that they're not putting
their assessments in the clinical record so it could be
passed on to the next shift and then the shift after?

A Yes.

0 Now, 1t's especially concerning given the fact
that Mary had just been given 120 milligrams of morphine.
A Yes.

0 Ershiela Dawson had indicated that that morning
was a chaotic morning. Do you remember it being a

chaotic morning?
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note at 8:00,

0 She

0 And

on with Mary,

A Yes.

0 And

MS.
THE
BY MS. BOSSIE:
0 And
MS .

BY MS. BOSSIE:

but she actually just saw Mary at b5

o'clock. Do you see?

A 8:06 p.m.

wrote it, but she basically testified that

she saw Mary just at 5 o'clock.

A I see that.

then we don't have any note on Mary Curtis

from 5 o'clock in the afternoon until you're called by
the daughter the next day at 11:00.

A I don't see any notes. Yes.

Q I take it as we've talked about earlier, where

everyone has notice and actual knowledge of what's going

and there's no note for over 15 to 16 hours

on her, is that concerning to you?

that's below the standard of care in

nursing in monitoring after a significant event like this

taking place for Mary.

BROOKHYSER: Foundation.

WITNESS: Yes.

that's when bad things happen.

BROOKHYSER: Incomplete hypothetical.

0 Strike that.
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nursing staff member is involved after being told that
Mary was unarousable, you would take it to meet the

standard of care that nursing would have done something

about it --

A Yes.

Q -- at that time.

A Yes.

Q Not leave it to waliting till the daughter comes

to the facility, walks into the room, and then sees her
mom being unresponsive, and having to go out and flag
down a nursing staff.
A Yes.
Q And 1n essence, 1f the nursing staff is aware
that she's unable to be aroused, and they have not done
anything about it, so they're aware and conscious of this
information and not doing anything about it is, in
essence, a conscious disregard to the health and well
being of Mary Curtis, 1is 1t not?

MS. BROOKHYSER: Foundation. Incomplete
hypothetical. Calls for a legal conclusion.

THE WITNESS: Can be.
BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q Not only can be. It was.
A Well --

MS. BROOKHYSER: Same objections.
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BY MS. BOSSIE:
0 It was, was it not?

MS. BROOKHYSER: Same objections.

THE WITNESS: It -- it 1is.
BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q Do you know which nurse was assigned to Mary
that morning when you were grabbed?
A I can't remember.
Q Now, going back for one moment on the night
before, obviously if the facility makes the decision to
keep Mary at the facility, I would take it that you would
want an RN being assigned to Mary to be able to do

assessments of her based on what just happened to her.

A I would. Yes.

Q Now, let me just show you for a moment which
I've marked as Exhibit 5, and I believe -- first of all,
we know Ershiela is just a licensed practical nurse. Am

I correct?

A Yes.

Q Regina 1s just a licensed practical nurse.
A Yes.

0 Same with Bernadette.

A Yes.

Q And same with Deborah.

A Deborah? Yes.
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BY MS. BOSSIE:
Q Let me show you a video of Mary the night
before she was provided the overdose of morphine.
(Video played.)
THE WITNESS: Oh, she was talking.

BY MS. BOSSIE:

Q And seeing Mary --
A That was before the --
0 The overdose.
A Ch, okay. That was before. She's awake.
Alert.
Q Conversant?
A Sounds like. Yes.
0 Wanting to get out of there. True?
A I heard that. Yes.
Q We're talking completely different than the
video --
A Than the video before. Yes. I can see the
difference.
0 Because going the night before Mary was
overdosed on morphine -- I mean, she was alert and
oriented. Able to converse. Wanting to go home. Her
friend, caregiver, said "You've got to wait till
tomorrow" till her daughter got there. Correct?
MS. BROOKHYSER: Compound.
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THE WITNESS: I don't know. I don't know who
was that lady.

MS. BOSSIE: It was compound. I agree. Let me
bottom line it.
Q The person you see in the video on the night of
March 6 of 2016 is completely different than the Mary

that you saw at 11 o'clock on March 8th of 2016.

A So, this is March 6th.

Q Correct.

A And that's -- okay. Yes.

Q And the previous video was March 8th.
A Yes. I saw that.

Q So, clearly how she presented in the video on
March 8th and to you on March 8th is completely different
than how she i1s on March 6th.
A Yes.
Q And it was to the point that you called a code
blue and 911 for Mary.
A Yes.
Q Do you know how long Mary had been
non-arousable?
A I don't know.
MS. BOSSIE: Let's just take a bathroom break.
MS. BROOKHYSER: Sure.

(Off the record from 12:49 p.m. to 12:54 p.m.)
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DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
DIVISION OF PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH
VITAL STATISTICS .
CERTIFICATE OF DEATH [ 2016006866
STATE FILE NUMBER
2 DATE OF DEATH (Mo/Day/Year) 33 COUNTY OF DEATH

CASE FILE NO. 3883679

TYeg of ta DECEASED-NAME (FIRST,MIDDLE LAST, SUFFIX)

PRINT IN -
PERMANENT  IMary Therese i g CURTIS March 11, 2016 Clark
BLAGK INK 3. CIEY, TOWN. OR LOCATION OF BEATH J2¢ HOSPIAL OROTHER INSTDUTION -Mameilt ot edhor oo steeat an 2o I Hasp or lml wrdicates GONQPEai [Hm 4 SEX
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. : 9
AHDISPOSITION Entornbment Paln Valley View Cemetery Las Vegas Nevada 89123 HiN
({\a 203, FUNERAL DIRECTOR - SIGNATURE (Or Parson Acting as Sush) 20h. FUNERAL DIRECTOR| 20 MAME AND ADDRESS OF FACILITY
O CELENA DILULLO LIGENSE NUMBER Palm Mortuary-Eastern
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g4 ,.Z 21a To the best of my knowledge, death occurred at the time, dale and place and due | .., 22a On the basis of examinalion and/or investigation, in my opinion death occrred
,“E ©&  tothe cause(s) stated.(Signature & Title) © 4 atthe time, date and proeon and due to the cause(s) slated. (Signature & Tille
B 39 3 (sig )
a S TIMOTHY DUTRA M.D. SIGNATURE AUTHENTICATED
a CERTIFIER | 2% 21b DATE SIGNED (Mo/Day/Yr) 21¢ HOUR OF DEATH > DATE SIGNED (Mo/Day/Yr) 22¢ HOUR OF DEATH
; ; S April 15, 2016 1458
g &
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24a REGISTRAR (Signalure) 24b DATE RECEIVED BY REGISTRAR 24c DEATH DUE TO COMMUNICABLE DISEASE
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DEC 16 205
Dear Mr Preston & Mr Hunter;

| PRESIJENT'S OFFICE |

[ am writing this letter anonymously to you because of iears of the repercussions
or retaliation that may arise against me and my fellow co workers.
There has been many critical issues and many of these issues are siill occurring
with staff and patients at Life Care Paradise Valley Las Vegas.
[ want to bring light into the real operations at our facility and the poor leadership
and the cover up of many incidents by Tessie Hecht, RN/DON.
| pray that you will investigate and take the appropriate actions to ensure the
safely of our patients and save Life Care and it's reputation.

' I one of our previous patients had an incident that was never

;, £ suffeved a fall in the presence of his handicapped CNA. 1t is well
known to us that this CNA is a family member of our director of nursing Tessie

Hecht. ' .

The CNA tried to lift the patient off the floor by himself and did not call anyone to

alert or assist him as per our protocol, nor did he report the incident until he knew

he was seen by another non medical staff member,

Crystal the on duty RN and Tessie Hecht were notified.

Tessle Hecht did not do anything through out the day and tried covering the fall to

prevent an incident report even though nurses brought to her attention mary

times that f§ i | looked grayish” and was not doing well.

hours of the day, staff members continued io see that iy

1ealth was detetiorating and was finally sent to the emergéncy room

where he subsequently explred.

Tessis HeCht has been covering up many incidents such as having staff file false

documents or write false statements in order for her not 10 be discovered.

Tessle Hecht has known for & long time that Crystal has made many errors such as

giving wrong doses or wrong medications to patients and atways covers it up for

het.

| urge you 1o also look into the following patients care where Tessie has covered
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up many mistakes in order to protect the employess of her same ethnicity who
speaks in the same native language in front of other staif, families, patients and
doctors so we can't understand what is occurring or being sald.

Please investigiate patient [EREEEEEE . hore the same situation occurred.
Staff members noticed Mts [EEEEEvas not looking good and expressed their
concerns to Tessle our DON sarly one day. Tessie's ordears were to do nothing

less she was gravely il to prevent a bounce back to the hospital. Eventually Mrs
worsened hours later and was sent to the hospital where again patient

expired.

wurrently a patient at our facility, Crystal gave the patient wrong
medications and admitted to doing s0. Tessie was informed but once more no

action was taken by our director of nursing.
These are some of the many issues that occur on a daily basis at our facility.
Our director of nursing is endangering our patients lives and will continue to to do

$0 uniess action s taken.

I will be at my outmost attention to see if my letter has any impact on our facility. If
not, | will be forced 1o report to the pertinent authorities and agencles and risk my
future employrment with your company in order to prevent anymore abuse and

deaths of people we are in trusted to protect, our patients.

Sincerely,

Aloyal employee

WAGNER EMAE202190

APP213





